

DOAJ DIRECTORY OF SILLA EBSCO CONSCIENCE GARUDA BASE PKPINDEX HINDEX





Departemen Gizi Kesehatan Fakultas Kesehatan Masyarakat Universitas Airlangga RGIZI PANGA ALAGONICA Indonesia



Accredited by SINTA Indonesia (SINTA 2) SK DITJEN RISBANG KEMENRISTEKDIKTI RI NO 3/E/KTP/2019 (National Nutrition Journal)

p-ISSN 1693-7228 Vol. 19 No. 1 Page 1 – 78 Special Edition 2024

p-ISSN 1693 7228 e-ISSN 2540 8410

Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal)

Volume 19 Number 1 SP, June 2024

EDITORIAL TEAM

Chief Editor	: Dr. Annis Catur Adi, Ir., M.Si
Editorial Board	 Assoc. Prof. Hazreen Bin Abdul Majid, Bsc. Dietetic., M.Nut.Dietetic., Ph.D (University of Malaya, Malaysia) Assoc. Prof. C.A. Kalpana, M.Sc., Bed., M.Phil., PhD (Avinashilingam Institute for Home Science and Higher Education for Women, India) Assoc. Prof. Wantanee Kriengsinyos, Ph.D., RD (Mahidol University, Thailand) Prof. Dian Handayani, S.KM., M.Kes., Ph.D (Universitas Brawijaya, Indonesia) Loh Su Peng, PhD (Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia) Dr. Beben Benyamin, PhD (University of South Australia) Sueppong Gowachirapant, Ph.D (Mahidol University, Thailand) Assoc. Prof. Masaharu Kagawa, B.Sc., (Hons), Ph.D. (Kagawa Nutrition University, Japan) Assoc. Prof. Kristen Hurley (John Hopkins University, USA) Assoc. Prof. Hsiu Ling Chen (National Chengkung University, Taiwan) Febi Dwirahmadi, Ph.D. (Griffith University, Australia) Argita Dyah Salindri, S.KM., M.PH., Ph.D. (Stanford University School of Medicine, USA) Prof. Dr. Dodik Briawan, Ir., MCN (Institut Pertanian Bogor, Indonesia) Prof. Dr. Luthfiyah Nurlaela, M.Pd (Universitas Negeri Surabaya, Indonesia) Dr. Toto Sudargo (Universitas Gadjah Mada, Indonesia) Dr. Tri Dewanti Widyaningsih, Ir., M.Kes (Universitas Brawijaya, Indonesia)
Managing Editors	: Qonita Rachmah, S.Gz., M.Sc(Nutr&Diet) Dominikus Raditya Atmaka, S.Gz., MPH Anisa Lailatul Fitria, S.Gz., M.Sc Azizah Ajeng Pratiwi, S.Gz, M.Gizi
Administrative Assistant	t : Nandia Firsty Dhorta, S.Gz Inas Shabrina Nabilah, S.Hum
Reviewers	 Wahyu Kurnia Yusrin Putra, SKM., MKM. (Universitas Indonesia) Nila Reswari Haryana S.Gz, M.Si. (Universitas Negeri Medan) Azizah Ajeng Pratiwi, S.Gz, M.Gizi (Universitas Airlangga) Dominikus Raditya Atmaka, S.Gz., MPH (Universitas Airlangga) Anisa Lailatul Fitria, S.Gz., M.Sc (Universitas Airlangga) Tiara Tivany Simangunsong, S.Gz, MPH (Universitas Airlangga)
Cover Designer	: Agnessia Nanda Arimbi, S.Pd

Mailing Address	: Redaksi Media Gizi Indonesia
	Departemen Gizi Kesehatan
	Fakultas Kesehatan Masyarakat, Universitas Airlangga
	Kampus C Unair, Jl.Mulyorejo Surabaya 60115
	Telp : (031) 5964808/Fax: (031) 5964809

Media Gizi Indonesia (MGI) that has been published since 2004 is a scientific journal that provides articles regarding the results of research and the development of nutrition including community nutrition, clinical nutrition, institutional nutrition, food service management, food technology, current issues on food and nutrition. This journal is published once every 4 months: January, May, and September.

SUBSCRIPTION PRICE – does not include postage

IDR. 200.000,- for each copy

INTRODUCTION TO THE EDITOR

Media Gizi Indonesia (MGI) is a scientific journal published regularly every 4 months that provides articles regarding the research and the development of nutrition knowledge including community nutrition, clinical nutrition, institutional nutrition, food service management, food technology, and current issues on food and nutrition. Media Gizi Indonesia provides a variety of scientific articles in the scope of Nutrition and Health.

The recent volume is special issue in collaboration with the 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health 2023 (B-Icon), which consisted of original research and meta-analysis in the field of nutrition throughout the lifecycle, which focuses on child nutrition, pregnancy, food product development, and degenerative disease prevention. To date, child and adolescent nutrition has raised concerns since it manifests to a better quality of life during adulthood. The concern focused on the health impacts of preventable intergenerational nutrition issues in the earlier periods. For that, MGI presents relevant research related to anemia, stunting, children's growth, and dietary intervention to the selected population. Besides presenting studies related to child and adolescent nutrition, the current edition of MGI also shows research in food product development to provide better food products to alleviate nutritional problems. Furthermore, original research on the prevention of degenerative diseases in community setting.

We do hope MGI scientific journals can leverage the development of a writing culture and communicative scientific studies as well as attract readers and writers to participate in MGI for future issues. Media Gizi Indonesia will maintain its role in providing current, relevant, and topical issues in food and nutrition. Hopefully, the works displayed by MGI can provide benefits and enrich the readers' knowledge.

Editorial Team

Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal)

Table of Contents

THE RELATIONSHIP OF FATTY ACID CONSUMPTION WITH TOTAL CHOLESTEROL LEVEL IN CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE PATIENTS Elsa Nurhayani, Kusdalinah, Kamsiah	1–7
THE EFFECT OF PROVIDING NUTRITIONAL COUNSELING ON THE LEVEL OF KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES, AND COMPLIANCE WITH FE TABLETS CONSUMPTION FOR PREGNANT WOMEN WITH ANEMIA IN THE GROGOL COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTER AREA	
Aprilia Suryaningrum, Firmansyah, Luluk Ria Rakhma, Elida Soviana	8–19
ENHANCING ADOLESCENT GIRLS ANEMIA PREVENTION KNOWLEDGE AND ATTITUDES THROUGH NUTRITIONAL CONSULTATIONS Jumiyati, Atika Hendryani, Rinda Nur Hidayati, Tetes Wahyu W	20–28
MACRONUTRIENT INTAKE AND OBESITY IN ADOLESCENTS: A META-ANALYSIS STUDY	20-28
Nur Ainun, Demsa Simbolon	29–35
THE EFFECT OF SOY MILK WITH BOILED MORINGA LEAVES ON BLOOD SUGAR LEVELS IN TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS PATIENTS: STUDY IN BENGKULU, INDONESIA Boy Zedra Ananda Pratama Putra, Tonny Cortis Maigoda, Desri Suryani	36–44
ENERGY AND SUGAR CONTENT OF READY-TO-DRINK TEA AND COFFEE MARKETED IN SOUTH TANGERANG, INDONESIA Yustiyani	45–51
THE INFLUENCE OF NUTRITION MANAGEMENT EDUCATION ON MOTHERS KNOWLEDGE AND ATTITUDES IN FULFILLING NUTRITION FOR OBESE PREGNANT WOMEN	52–57
Juanda Syafitasari, Poppy Siska Putri, Entan Afriannisyah	32-37
ANALYSIS OF FOOD SECURITY, SOCIAL HEALTH, ENVIRONMENTAL AND HOUSEHOLD FOOD SECURITY ON STUNTING INCIDENCE OF CHILDREN AGED 12-59 MONTHS IN COASTAL HOUSEHOLDS IN BENGKULU PROVINCE	
Emy Yuliantini, Ketut Sukiyono, Bambang Sulistyo, M. Zulkarnain Yuliarso, Dinda Martiana	58–67
DIFFERENCES IN MACRONUTRIENT AND MICRONUTRIENT INTAKE OF STUNTED TODDLERS IN RURAL AND URBAN AREAS OF BENGKULU PROVINCE Desri Suryani, Kusdalinah, Bintang Agustina Pratiwi, Yandrizal	68–75
THE EFFECT OF STORYTELLING METHOD THROUGH FAIRY TALE BOOK MEDIA ON CHILDREN'S KNOWLEDGE AND ATTITUDES ABOUT FRUIT AND VEGETABLE CONSUMPTION	
Tiara Yulie Alfina, Dino Sumaryono, Ismiati	76–78

THE RELATIONSHIP OF FATTY ACID CONSUMPTION WITH TOTAL CHOLESTEROL LEVEL IN CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE PATIENTS

Elsa Nurhayani¹, Kusdalinah^{1*}, Kamsiah¹

¹Department of Nutrition, Poltekkes Kemenkes Bengkulu, Indonesia *E-mail: kusdalinah_11@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

Coronary artery disease is one of the significant causes of death and is still a health problem for developed and developing countries. Increased cholesterol in the blood is caused by heredity and high-fat consumption. The effect of dietary fat on artery disease is related to the impact of fatty acid components and cholesterol on blood cholesterol. This study aims to determine the relationship between consumption of Saturated Fatty Acids (SFA), Monounsaturated Fatty Acids (MUFA), and Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (PUFA) with total cholesterol levels in patients with coronary artery disease. The research design used was descriptive-analytic in clinical nutrition with a cross-sectional approach. The population in this study were 405 patients with coronary artery disease at the artery clinic of RSUD Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu. The sample was 32 patients collected using a purposive sampling technique. Using the Chi-Square test, data analysis was used to determine the relationship between the consumption of SFA, MUFA, and PUFA with total cholesterol levels in patients with coronary artery disease. The study's results found a significant relationship between MUFA and PUFA consumption with total cholesterol level in coronary artery disease patients, namely that SFA consumption was inadequate (p-value = 0.043, OR = 0.407), inadequate MUFA consumption (p-value = 0.710), and inadequate of PUFA consumption (p-value = 0.465). The conclusion is that saturated fatty acids are related to total cholesterol in coronary artery disease while conversely to monounsaturated fatty acids and polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Keywords: coronary artery disease, total cholesterol, SFA, MUFA, PUFA

INTRODUCTION

Coronary Artery Disease (CAD) is a disease that causes many deaths and is still a health problem for developed and developing countries (Susilo, 2015). This death often occurs with a sudden artery attack and without any previous symptoms (Santosa & Baharuddin, 2020). Coronary artery disease is a type of artery disease caused by plaque in the artery arteries (Purnama, 2020). This condition is caused by narrowing or plaque blockage in the coronary arteries, otherwise known as coronary artery atherosclerosis. One of the components that make up this plaque is cholesterol crystals. Therefore, one of the risks of atherosclerosis is high blood cholesterol levels (Sianturi and Evi, 2019). Several risk factors cause coronary artery disease. Some of them are smoking, unhealthy eating lifestyle, lack of physical activity, high blood pressure, diabetes and dyslipidemia. However, other factors have an influence, such as genetic and environmental factors (Santosa & Baharuddin, 2020).

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that CAD is the leading cause of death worldwide, with 17 million deaths per year in 2008 and will increase to 23.4 million deaths in 2030, with more than 80% occurring in countries developing (Setyaji et al., 2016). According to Riskesdas 2013, the prevalence of coronary artery disease based on a doctor's diagnosis in Indonesia is 0.5%, and based on doctor diagnosis or symptoms is 1.5% (Litbangkes, 2013). Based on data on the prevalence of artery disease diagnosed by Indonesian doctors is 1.5% and 1.3% based on doctor diagnosis in residents of all ages, according to Bengkulu Province (Litbangkes, 2018). The data explanation shows that the prevalence of artery sufferers is the same as it was from 2013 to 2018. According to data from RSUD Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu, 1080 patients were undergoing outpatient care at the cardiac polyclinic in 2021.

The prevalence of CAD based on interviews with those whom a doctor has diagnosed and those diagnosed by a doctor or symptoms increases with age, the highest in the 65-74 year age group, namely 0.2% and 3.6% and decreases in the age group \geq 75 years. The prevalence of CAD that a doctor or symptoms have ever diagnosed is higher in women (0.5% -1.5%). The prevalence of CAD is higher in people who do not attend school and do not work. Based on CAD that a doctor has diagnosed, the prevalence is higher in urban areas, but based on the doctor's diagnosis and symptoms, it is higher in rural areas and at the lowest ownership index (Litbangkes, 2013).

Hereditary factors and high-fat consumption cause increased cholesterol in the blood. The effect of dietary fat on artery disease is related to the impact of fatty acid components and cholesterol on blood cholesterol, especially LDL cholesterol. Increased saturated fat and cholesterol consumption can increase low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol concentration. Bad fats such as saturated fat can be converted into cholesterol, thereby increasing blood cholesterol levels, especially LDL, by reducing its breakdown or catabolism (Yuliantini et al., 2015).

The research by Rukmasari & Sumarni, (2018) concluded that the consumption of nutrients in coronary artery disease patients varies greatly. Cholesterol consumption and fat consumption in this study were above the recommended requirement. Excessive consumption of fat has a huge effect on blood cholesterol. Fat in the diet works together with cholesterol to reduce the activity of LDL receptors in the liver. This will cause a reduction in the disposal of LDL in the blood so that total cholesterol and LDL in the blood rise. Increased cholesterol in the diet causes an increase in plasma cholesterol concentration and is associated with the risk of cardiovascular disease.

Consumption of fat, incredibly saturated fat, will increase plasma cholesterol levels. It is estimated that for every 1% addition of saturated fatty acids from total energy, blood cholesterol will increase by 1.9 mg/dL. Consuming large amounts of saturated fat in the human body will increase total blood cholesterol (Hairuddin et al., 2019). Monounsaturated fats generally benefit blood cholesterol levels, mainly when used as a substitute for saturated fatty acids. Monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) are more effective in lowering blood cholesterol levels than polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) (Sartika, 2008).

Consumption of polyunsaturated fats in patients with CAD can increase bad cholesterol (LDL), as seen from the chemical structure of polyunsaturated fats, which are easily oxidized and trigger a change in fatty acid isomers from cis to the transform. Polyunsaturated fatty acids in trans form also increase LDL cholesterol levels and reduce HDL cholesterol levels (Bertalina, 2015).

The results of research conducted by Zahroh & Bertalina, (2014) show that continuous consumption of polyunsaturated fats will be a problem related to the benefits of polyunsaturated fatty acids, which can reduce blood cholesterol levels. However, the study found that 37.5% of patients who consumed good polyunsaturated fatty acids experienced high blood cholesterol levels. This is because patient daily cholesterol consumption is ≥ 200 mg, causing blood cholesterol levels to increase. Based on the above background, the researchers are eager to know the relationship between the consumption of saturated fatty acids, monounsaturated fatty acids, and polyunsaturated fatty acids and total cholesterol levels in patients with CAD at the artery clinic of RSUD Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu.

METHODS

This research used a cross-sectional approach by examining the dynamics and risk factors and their impacts through direct observation and data collection. The population in this study were 405 patients with coronary artery disease at the artery clinic of RSUD Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu. The sample was 32 patients using a purposive sampling technique. Several criteria, namely the inclusion criteria consisted of residing in Bengkulu, men and women aged 25-65 years, having been diagnosed by a doctor as suffering from coronary artery disease, willing to be interviewed about food consumption, weight and height measurements, taking statin medication, able to communicate well, having lipid profile examination results for total cholesterol levels, and exclusion criteria during the research process for patients having complications such as Acute renal failure dan chronic kidney disease, patients who were not willing to be interviewed and were not willing to be sampled. SFA, MUFA and PUFA consumption data were collected using the Semi Quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (SQ-FFQ) consumption survey. Consumption data was obtained using interview techniques by enumerator to patients accompanied by their families regarding their consumption habits of SFA, MUFA and PUFA fats for the last one-month. Non-random sampling was used using the purposive sampling technique—the Chi-Square test analysis data. The Research ethics were issued by the Bengkulu Ministry of Health Polytechnic Ethics Commission with No. KEPK. BKL/204/05/2023.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Based on Table 1, it is known that the description of consumption of saturated fatty

Table 1. Overview of Consumption of SFA, MUFA,and PUFA with Total Cholesterol Levelsin CAD Patients at the Artery Polyclinic ofRSUD Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu

Consumption of Fat	n (%)	
Saturated Fatty Acids (SFA)	Inadequate	27 (84.4)
Saturated Patty Actus (SPA)	adequate	5 (15.6)
Monounsaturated Fatty	Inadequate	21 (65.6)
Acids (MUFA)	adequate	11 (34.4)
Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids	Inadequate	20 (62.5)
(PUFA)	adequate	12 (37.5)

acids (SFA) in patients with coronary artery disease shows that almost all of them (84.4%) are inadequate, consumption of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) in patients with coronary artery disease shows that the majority (65.6%) are inadequate, the consumption of saturated fatty acids (PUFA) in coronary artery disease patients shows that most (62.5%) are inadequate.

At Table 2, statistical test results obtained p-value = 0.043 (<0.05; OR = 0.407), meaning there is a significant relationship between consumption of SFA and total cholesterol level in patients with coronary artery disease at the artery clinic of RSUD. Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu, the analysis results showed that most of the consumption of SFA was inadequate, with abnormal total cholesterol levels of 59.2%, and none of the consumption of SFA was adequate for abnormal total cholesterol levels.

Based on Table 3. The statistical test results obtained P-value = 0.710 (<0.05; OR = 0.758), meaning there is no significant relationship between consumption of MUFA and total cholesterol levels in patients with coronary artery disease at the artery clinic. RSUD.Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu, the analysis results showed that almost half of the inadequate MUFA consumption experienced abnormal total cholesterol levels of 47.6% and the majority of consumption of MUFA, which both experienced abnormal total cholesterol levels of 54.5%.

 Table 2.
 The relationship between SFA, MUFA, and PUFA consumption with total cholesterol level in CAD patients at the Artery Polyclinic RSUD. Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu

			Total					
Fatty acid	Ab	Abnormal		Normal		Fotal	P-value	OR 95%
Fatty actu	n	%	n	%	n	%	_	
SFA consumption								
inadequate	16	59.2	11	40.7	27	100	0.043*	
adequate	0	0.0	5	100.0	5	100	0.043*	0 407 (0 250 0 (42)
Total	16	50.0	16	50.0	32	100		0.407 (0.259-0.642)
MUFA consumption								
inadequate	10	47.6	11	52.3	21	100	0.710*	
adequate	6	54.5	5	45.4	11	100	0.710**	0 759 (0 175 2 274)
Total	16	50.0	16	50.0	32	100		0.758 (0.175-3.274)
PUFA consumption								
inadequate	9	45.0	11	55.0	20	100	0.465*	
adequate	7	58.3	5	41.6	12	100	0.403*	594 (0 129 2 492)
Total	16	50.0	16	50.0	32	100		584 (0.138-2.483)

*Chi-Square test.

 Table 3. The relationship between the consumption of SFA and total cholesterol level in CAD patients at the Artery Polyclinic RSUD. Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu

	To	tal Cholest	erol (mg	/dL)	Total			
Consumption of Saturated fatty acids	Abnormal		Normal		- Total		p-value	OR
	n	%	n	%	n	%	_	
Inadequate	16	59.2	11	40.7	27	100	0.042	0.407
Adequate	0	0.0	5	100.0	5	100	- 0.043	0.407

 Table 4. The relationship between consuming MUFA and total cholesterol level in CAD patients at the Artery Polyclinic RSUD. Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu

	То	tal Cholest	erol (mg	Tatal				
Consumption of MUFA	abnormal		normal		- Total		p-value	OR
	n	%	n	%	n	%	_	
Inadequate	10	47.6	11	52.4	21	100	0.710	0.759
Adequate	6	54.5	5	45.5	11	100	- 0.710	0.758

Table 5.	The relationship between the consumption of PUFA and total cholesterol level in CAD patients at the Artery
	Polyclinic RSUD. Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu

	Т	otal Cholest	erol (mg/o	iL)	Total			
Consumption of Polyunsaturated – fatty acids (PUFA) –	Abnormal		Normal		- Total		p-value	OR
latty actus (1 UFA)	n	%	n	%	n	%		
Inadequate	9	45.0	11	55.0	20	100	0.465	0.594
Adequate	7	58.4	5	41.6	12	100	- 0.465	0.584

At Table 4 the statistical test results obtained p-value = 0.465 (<0.05; OR = 0.584) meaning that there is no significant relationship between consumption of PUFA and total cholesterol levels in patients with coronary artery disease at the artery clinic of RSUD. Dr. M. Yunus Bengkulu's analysis showed that almost a portion of those consuming bad PUFA experienced abnormal total cholesterol levels of 45%, and most of those consuming adequate PUFA experienced Abnormal total cholesterol levels of 58.3%.

The Relationship of Consumption of SFA with Total Cholesterol Levels in CAD Patients

Based on the results of this study, it was found that there was a significant relationship between the consumption of SFA and total cholesterol levels in patients with coronary artery disease at the artery clinic at RSUD Dr M. Yunus Bengkulu Year 2023. Most patients who consume bad SFA have abnormal total cholesterol levels, and none consume good SFA with abnormal total cholesterol levels.

The results of interviews found that the source of food high in SFA, which is often consumed with a frequency of $\geq 1x$ a day (every meal), is palm oil. This aligns with research by Sayon-Orea et al. (2015) that the consumption of palm oil significantly influences CVD risk. Interview results showed that respondents often consumed foods that contained a lot of fat, such as coconut milk and fried dishes. Consumption of fried foods has a direct link to a higher risk of CVD, as oil has different health effects depending on the form in which it is eaten (used for sauces, cooking, or frying). The frying process can affect the quality and amount of fat consumed. This oil uptake has been shown to differ depending on the frying time (Sayon-Orea et al., 2015).

Food items stuffed with SFA that respondents rarely consume are coconut milk, young coconut meat, shrimp and rapeseed. Shellfish (Lokan) also contain bioactive compounds, including prostaglandins, fatty acid derivatives, alkaloids, and other compounds. These substances have certain types of activity. Based on Hasyimi, there is another type of shellfish, namely *Anadaragranosa*, which has a reasonably high cholesterol content of around 177.295 mg/100 gr. This amount can still be said to be suitable for consumption if it refers to the provisions of WHO and NCEP (National Cholesterol Education Program), but it is possible that it could increase total cholesterol levels in shellfish after processing, which affects body cholesterol.

High consumption of saturated fatty acids significantly increases LDL cholesterol levels and reduces HDL levels. This automatically increases total blood cholesterol (which is a combination of LDL and HDL cholesterol) and reduces the ratio between LDL and HDL (Bertalina, 2015). Most adults need to reduce saturated fatty acids to reduce CVD risk. The recommended implementation strategy to achieve this reduction is to shift food choices from those high in saturated fatty acids to those high in monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids. Reducing SFA and replacing it with vegetable oils rich in PUFA, especially soybean oil, reduces CAD by 29% (Sacks et al., 2017). This is the same as research from Mozaffarian (2016) that increasing the consumption of PUFArich vegetable oils is an evidence-based strategy to reduce the risk of CAD and, as a substitute for saturated animal fats, reduces the incidence of CAD.

The National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) reports that dietary energy derived from SFA is likely associated with CAD mortality and emphasizes that reducing SFA intake is essential for CAD prevention. NICE claims that 30,000 lives could be saved each year by replacing SFA with PUFA. Reducing SFA intake and replacing it with PUFA. Reducing SFA intake and replacing it with PUFA is more beneficial for preventing CVD. These findings provide evidence that consuming PUFA as a substitute for SFA minimizes the incidence of CAD and suggests that a shift towards greater consumption of PUFA compared to SFA will significantly reduce CAD rates (Valk, 2022).

The Relationship between MUFA Consumption and Total Cholesterol Levels in CAD Patients

Based on the results of this study, it was found that there was no significant relationship between the consumption of MUFA and total cholesterol levels in patients with coronary artery disease at the artery clinic at RSUD Dr M. Yunus Bengkulu Year 2023. Almost a portion of those consuming MUFA that are not good experience abnormal total cholesterol levels, and the majority of those consuming MUFA that are good experience abnormal total cholesterol levels. This is seen in MUFA consumption habits and the portions consumed.

The results of interviews with 32 respondents found that canola oil, peanuts, and avocado are food sources of MUFA that are rarely consumed. Meanwhile, olive oil is never consumed. According to Doloksaribu (2016), food ingredients found in monounsaturated fats are oleic acid and its sources, as well as liquid animal and vegetable fats, mainly olive oil and avocado. Research by Sayon-Orea et al. (2015) proves this, as they state that consumption of olive oil, vegetable oil, and mustard oil does not increase the risk of CVD. This aligns with Ryan et al. (2013) research that a diet high in MUFA can reduce LDL oxidation and increase HDL.

The results of direct interviews with respondents during the research revealed that most respondents never consumed oil sources from plants. In this study, only two people consumed canola oil with a consumption frequency of 1-3x a day because the price was unaffordable, so causing the consumption of MUFA in the majority of respondents to fall into the wrong category (Lidiyawati & Kartini, 2014).

The Relationship between PUFA Consumption and Total Cholesterol Levels in CAD Patients

Based on the results of this study, there was no significant relationship between the consumption of PUFA and total cholesterol levels in patients with coronary artery disease at the artery clinic at Dr RSUD. M. Yunus Bengkulu in 2023. Almost half of those consuming bad PUFA experience abnormal total cholesterol levels, and most of those consuming good PUFA experience abnormal total cholesterol levels.

Through the results of direct interviews with 32 respondents during the research, it was discovered that the food sources for PUFA, which are often consumed with a food frequency of $\ge 1x$

Nurhayani et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 1–7 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.1–7

a day (every meal), are tofu and tuna. This research is in line with Handayani, et al., (2021) which states that reducing total cholesterol levels and increasing HDL levels is based on the influence of omega-3 fatty acids PUFA obtained when consuming fish.

They are consuming unhealthy foods, such as excessive consumption of fat and cholesterol, while low levels of PUFA can cause an increase in cholesterol levels in the blood and the risk of coronary artery disease (Rukmasari & Sumarni, 2018). This is in line with the results of research by Sacks, Lichtenstein, et al (2017), increasing PUFA intake can reduce cholesterol levels in the blood. The lack of PUFA may be due to the patient's need for knowledge regarding the food ingredients that should be consumed. So, patients need to be referred to a nutrition consultation clinic to understand eating arrangements so that consumption of PUFA is as required; with appropriate consumption, it can reduce cholesterol levels (Zahroh & Bertalina, 2014).

CONCLUSION

Based on the research results and discussion regarding the description of respondents' food consumption, almost all of their consumption of SFA is not good; most of their consumption of MUFA and PUFA is not good. Meanwhile, a significant relationship existed between the consumption of SFA. Still, conversely, there was no significant relationship between the consumption of MUFA and PUFA and total cholesterol levels in patients with coronary artery disease.

REFERENCES

- Bertalina.(2015). The relationship between saturated, polyunsaturated fatty acids and fibre with the LDL/HDL ratio in coronary heart patients at the heart clinic at RSUD Dr Hi. Abdul moeloek.. world health journal.DOI: https://doi. org/10.33024/jdk.v4i4.448
- Doloksaribu, B. (2016). Theory & Application of Nutrition Science. Jakarta : EGC.
- Handayani, DR & Rakhmat, II (2021). Characteristics, Nutritional Status, and Lipid Profile of Dyslipidemia Patients with

Mediterranean Diet. AtlantisPress. 37, 10–15.

- Hashim. (2018). Epidemiological Research Methods. Jakarta : Trans Info Media.
- Hairuddin, NA, Febrianty, NA, Salam, A., & Manti Battung, S. (2019). Administration of Saturated and Unsaturated Fats on Cholesterol Levels and Body Weight. 1–10.
- Lidiyawati, & Kartini, A. (2014). The relationship between consumption of saturated fatty acids, unsaturated fatty acids and sodium with the incidence of hypertension in menopausal women in Bojongsalaman Village. Research Articles, 1–31. http://eprints.undip.ac.id/45228/.
- Litbangkes. (2013). Riskesdas 2013. Indonesian Ministry of Health, 127–129.
- https://labmandat.litbang.kemkes.go.id/images/ download/ report/RKD/2013/Laporan_ riskesdas 2013 final.pdf.
- Litbangkes. (2018). National Riskesdas Report 2018. Indonesian Ministry of Health, 144–146. http://repository.litbang.kemkes.go.id/3514.
- Mozaffarian D. (2016) Dietary and policy priorities for cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and obesity: a comprehensive review. Circulation.
- Volume 133, Issue 2; Pages 187-225. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018585
- Purnama, A. (2020). Education Can Improve the Quality of Life of Patients diagnosed with coronary artery disease. Indonesian Journal of Health, X(2), 66–71.
- https://stikeshb.ac.id/ojs/index.php/jurkessia/ article/view/251.
- Ryan, MC et al. (2013). The Mediterranean Diet Improves Hepatic Steatosis and Insulin Sensitivity in Individuals withNon-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Journal of Hepatology. 59, 138–143.
- Rukmasari, EA, & Sumarni, N. (2018). Consumption of Nutrition in Coronary artery disease Patients at the Cardiology Polyclinic, Dr. Slamet Garut. Proceedings of the National Seminar and Dissemination of Health Research, 1(1), 14–17.
- https://ejurnal.universitas-bth.ac.id/index.php/ P3M PSNDPK/article/view/337
- Sacks, FM, Lichtenstein, AH, Wu, JHY, Appel, LJ, Creager, MA, Kris-Etherton, PM, Miller, M., Rimm, EB, Rudel, LL, Robinson, JG, Stone, NJ, & Van Horn, LV (2017). Dietary fats and cardiovascular disease: A presidential advisory from the American Artery Association. Circulation, 136(3), e1–e23. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIR.00000000000510.

Nurhayani et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 1–7 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.1–7

- Sayon-Orea, C., Carlos, S., & Martínez-Gonzalez, M. A. (2015). Does cooking with vegetable oils increase the risk of chronic diseases?: A systematic review. British Journal of Nutrition, 113(S2), S36–S48. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0007114514002931.
- Sianturi, ET, and Evi, K. (2019). The Effect of Pectin on Reducing the Risk of Coronary Artery Disease. Majority, 8(1), 162–167.
- https://juke.kedokteran.unila.ac.id/index.php/ majority/article/view/2313.
- Setyaji, DY, Prabandari, YS, & Gunawan, IMA (2018). Physical Activity with Coronary artery disease in Indonesia. Indonesian Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 14(3), 115–121. https://doi. org/10.22146/ijcn.26502.
- Susilo, C. (2015). Identification of Age, Gender and Size of Myocardial Infarction in Coronary artery disease (CAD) in Iccu Rsd Dr. Soebandi Jember. The Indonesian Journal of Health Science, 6(1), 1–7.Santoso, S., & Ranti, AL (2013). Health and Nutrition. Jakarta : PT Rineka Cipta.

- Valk, R., Hammill, J., & Grip, J. (2022). Saturated fat: villain and bogeyman in the development of cardiovascular disease? European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 29(18), 2312–2321. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjpc/zwac194
- Yuliantini, E., Sari, AP, & Nur, E. (2015). Relationship between energy, fat and fiber consumption and the ratio of total cholesterol levels-HDL. Nutrition and Food Research, 38(2), 139–147. http://repository.poltekkesbengkulu. ac.id/9/1/223576-leksi-konsumsi-energy-fatdan-serat-d.pdf.
- Yenni, Tati Nurhayati, Nurjanah. (2012). The Effect of Boiling on the Fatty Acid and Cholesterol Content of Pokea Clams (Batissa violacea celebensis Marten 1897), JPHPI 2012, Volume 15 Number 3.
- Zahroh, L., & Bertalina. (2014). Energy Consumption, Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids, Cholesterol and BMI with Blood Cholesterol Levels in Outpatient Coronary Artery Patients. Journal of Health, 5(2), 113–120. https://doi.org/ http://dx.doi.org/10.26630/jk.v5i2.41

THE EFFECT OF PROVIDING NUTRITIONAL COUNSELING ON THE LEVEL OF KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES, AND COMPLIANCE WITH FE TABLETS CONSUMPTION FOR PREGNANT WOMEN WITH ANEMIA IN THE GROGOL COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTER AREA

Aprilia Suryaningrum¹, Firmansyah^{1*}, Luluk Ria Rakhma¹, Elida Soviana¹ ¹ Department of Nutritional Sciences, Universitas Muhammadiyah Surakarta, Indonesia ^{*}E-mail: fir790@ums.ac.id

ABSTRACT

Anemia contributes to maternal mortality during pregnancy, with a 2021 prevalence of 5.02% in Grogol. Noncompliance with Fe tablet consumption is a key factor. Nutritional counseling can effectively improve mothers' knowledge, attitudes, and compliance with Fe tablet intake. This study examines the impact of nutritional counseling on knowledge, attitudes, and compliance with Fe tablet consumption among anemic pregnant women at Grogol Community Health Center. Using a pre-experimental one-group pre-post-test design, 35 anemic pregnant women in their second and third trimesters were randomly sampled from clinic records. They received 15-20 minutes of counseling with leaflets. Knowledge and attitudes were assessed via interviews and questionnaires, while compliance was measured using the pill count formula. The Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test evaluated changes from baseline to postcounseling. Nutritional counseling increased knowledge (28.60%), attitudes (17.10%), and compliance (22.80%). Significant improvements were found in knowledge (p=0.001), attitude (p=0.001), and Fe tablet compliance (p=0.002). Nutritional counseling at the Grogol Community Health Center should be provided periodically to carry out promotive and preventive functions in the incidence of anemia in pregnant women.

Keywords: Anemic pregnant women, compliance, nutrition counseling, knowledge, attitude, fe tablets

INTRODUCTION

Nowadays, anemia during pregnancy is still a health problem which is a contributing factor to the high maternal mortality rate which is often referred to as "Potential Danger to Mother and Child". According to the World Health Organization (2017), the incidence of anemia in pregnant women in 2016 had a prevalence of around 40% globally, while in 2019 the global prevalence rate of anemia in pregnant women was around 36.5% (WHO, 2021). This shows that the incidence of anemia in pregnant women is still quite high worldwide. The results of Basic Health Research (Riskesdas) in 2018 showed that the 2018 prevalence rate of pregnant women with anemia in Indonesia was 48.9%. The rate experienced a quite high increase compared to that of 2013 with a prevalence of 37.1% (Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 2018). The prevalence of anemia in pregnant women in 2021 in the Grogol Community Health Center area was 5.02% (Grogol Community Health Center, 2021).

Anemia that occurs during pregnancy can increase the risk of maternal and child death, the emergence of infectious diseases, premature birth of the baby, and disruption of the growth and development process of the fetus, either when the baby is still in the womb or after it is born (Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 2021). One preventive measure to reduce the incidence of anemia in pregnant women that can be done is by administering red blood cell supplement tablets (TTD) during pregnancy in a minimum quantity of 90 TTD, where one tablet contains iron (ferrous fumarate which is equivalent to 60 mg of elemental iron) and 0.4 mg of folic acid (Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 2021).

The prevalence of administering 90 TTD in the Grogol Community Health Center area in 2021 is 92.23%. This prevalence has met the target when it is compared with the achievement in Sukoharjo Regency, namely > 90%. However, several villages such as Telukan Village with a percentage of 88.76%, Parangjoro 70.71%, Pondok 78.37%, Suryaningrum et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 8–19 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.8–19

Langenharjo 68.41%, and Gedangan with a percentage of 87.70% still have a prevalence below 90% (unfulfilled) (Grogol Health Center, 2021). This shows that the provision of 90 Fe tablets for pregnant women in the Grogol Community Health Center area has not been carried out optimally because those villages have not reached the 90% target.

Nutritional counseling can be an effective way to increase maternal knowledge which is expected to have a positive influence on awareness and compliance with the consumption of Fe tablets in pregnant women so that anemia during pregnancy can be prevented and treated before delivery. Djati, et al (2017) stated that the occurrence of twoway communication in counseling between the counselor and the client means that mothers have more opportunities to ask questions so that the information they need is more precise and meets their needs. In addition, mothers' motivation can be strengthened through counseling causing an increase in compliance with the consumption of Fe tablets during pregnancy. Besides, individuals' inner perceptions can be more convincing in providing an action plan through counseling. According to the health belief model theory proposed by Strecher & Rosenstock (1997), the presence of good or bad perceptions originating from knowledge, experience, or information can provide confidence so that individuals are aware to view something. Knowledge plays an important role in determining the level of consumption of Fe tablets because it can influence the attitude of pregnant women. If pregnant women's knowledge is lacking, it can cause individuals' less optimal health behavior to prevent anemia (Shofiana, et al, 2018). Accordingly, counseling can be a strategy for changing social behavior and communication by influencing actions that can be observed and measured to improve health status (Juma et al, 2015).

Purbowati's (2016) research result in the working area of the Kedaung Wetan Community Health Center, Tangerang City, shows that there is an increase in compliance with the consumption of Fe tablets after providing nutritional counseling in the treatment group after the nutritional counseling process with a percentage of 89.7%. Research conducted by Djati, et al (2017) in the Sumpiuh Community Health Center II area also shows that there is an influence of nutritional counseling on the consumption of Fe tablets with a percentage of 76.2% in the treatment group after the treatment in the form of nutritional counseling.

Based on the preliminary survey, researchers interviewed 10 anemic pregnant women. The results showed that 70% of the respondents stated that they did not regularly consume Fe tablets and in one week only consumed Fe tablets < 3 times/ week. Then, 50% of the respondents stated that the reason for not routinely consuming them was that they felt they had only consumed the vitamins given by the obstetrician and ignored the Fe tablets from the health center. This shows that one of the factors causing anemia is that pregnant women are not compliant with consuming Fe tablets during pregnancy.

This study aimed to determine the effect of nutritional counseling on the level of knowledge, attitudes, and compliance with the consumption of Fe tablets among pregnant women with anemia in the Grogol Community Health Center area.

METHODS

This study utilized pre-experimental with a group pretest and posttest design in which there was no control group. This research was carried out in the working area of the Grogol Community Health Center, Grogol District, Sukoharjo Regency on 16 December 2022 - 28 February 2023. The population in this study were all pregnant women registered in the Grogol Community Health Center area in 2022 with inclusion criteria including pregnant women with trimester anemia II and III, pregnant women who lived in the research area for approximately 6 months, pregnant women who did not work as a health worker, pregnant women who received Fe tablets from the community health center, the distance between the current pregnancy and the previous pregnancy was > 2 years. The exclusion criteria included pregnant women who did not complete all questionnaires and did the post-test. The sample used in this research was 35 respondents. Sampling was carried out using a simple random sampling technique.

The independent variable in this research is the provision of nutritional counseling, while the

dependent variable in this research is the level of knowledge, attitude, and level of compliance with the consumption of Fe tablets. Data collection in this study was carried out through interviews and pre-post test questionnaires consisting of 20 statements regarding anemia and the importance of consuming Fe tablets for the level of knowledge and 28 statements regarding consuming Fe tablets for attitudes. The level of compliance was taken using the calculation method using the pill count formula and the use of a checklist instrument in the KIA book containing a table of Fe tablet consumption schedules. The level of knowledge was scored using the Guttman scale. If the answer is correct, the score is 1. If it is incorrect, the score is 0. The total score obtained was divided by the number of questions, then multiplied by 100 to obtain a result in the form of a percent value. The knowledge category can be said to be good if the respondents can answer 15-20 statements correctly. It is considered sufficient if they answer 8-14 statements correctly, and considered poor if they answer 0-7 statements correctly. Attitude scoring was done using a Likert scale with five answer categories. The score of positive statements (favorable) with the answer "Strongly Agree" is 5, "Agree" is 4, "Undecided" is 3, "Disagree" is 2, and "Strongly Disagree" is 1. The score for negative statements (unfavorable) with the answers "Strongly Agree" is 1, "Agree" is 2, "Undecided" is 3, "Disagree" is 4, and "Strongly Disagree" is 5. Attitude can be said to be positive if the respondents' T > T mean. It can be considered as a negative attitude if the respondents' T < Tmean. Compliance level scoring was obtained using the pill count calculation formula, where the number of Fe tablets consumed was divided by the number of Fe tablets received, then multiplied by 100%. Consumption of Fe tablets can be said to be compliant if the percentage is 100% in one month, if <100% then it is said to be non-compliant.

The steps for conducting nutritional counseling are as follows: 1) Greeting and doing a self-introduction to the respondents; 2) explaining the purpose and benefits of nutritional counseling; 3) asking about the respondents' availability; 4) conveying the technical counseling which is carried out for 15-20 minutes; 5) explaining the material counseling using leaflets regarding the

meaning of anemia, characteristics of anemia, causes of anemia during pregnancy, the impact of anemia, steps to prevent anemia, the meaning of Fe tablets, the importance of consuming Fe tablets during pregnancy, the ways to consume Fe tablets, kinds of food consumption to limit and avoid during pregnancy; 6) conducting a question and answer session with respondents regarding the respondents' eating habits, respondent complaints (reasons for non-compliance), how the respondent consumes Fe tablets, and repeating questions regarding counseling material; 7) expressing gratitude for the respondents' availability in attending counseling sessions.

In this study, univariate analysis consisted of maternal age, gestational age, educational background, employment, maternal anemia status, knowledge, attitudes, and compliance of pregnant mothers in consuming Fe tablets in the form of a frequency and percentage distribution table for each variable in the SPSS program. Analysis of the influence and differences in levels of knowledge, attitudes, and compliance to consuming Fe tablets at the beginning and the end using the Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test. Analysis of the relationship between variables used the Spearman Correlation Test. This research has received approval from the Health Research Ethics Commission (KEPK) Faculty of Medicine, Muhammadiyah University of Surakarta with ethical clearance No. 4744/B.1/ KEPK-FKUMS/I/2023.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 1 shows a description of the characteristics of the respondents. Regarding maternal age, the majority of respondents experienced pregnancy in the early adulthood category, namely 26-35 years (48.60%), 22 respondents (62.90%) were in the second trimester of their pregnancy, and 13 respondents (37.10%) were in the third trimester of their pregnancy. The majority of respondents had their highest education at high school or vocational school level (74.30%), did not work or were housewives (68.60%), and had mild levels of anemia, namely Hb levels in the range of 10-10.9 g/dl (74.30%).

Table 2 shows that there were differences in the level of knowledge, attitudes, and compliance

Characteristic	n	%
Maternal age		
Late adolescents	12	34.30
Early adulthood	17	48.60
Late adulthood	6	17.10
Total	35	100.00
Gestational age		
Second trimester	22	62.90
Third trimester	13	37.10
Total	35	100.00
Educational background		
Elementary education (Elementary school [SD], Junior high school [SMP] graduate)	8	22.90
High school (Senior high school [SMA], Vocational high school [SMK])	26	74.30
Tertiary education (S1)	1	2.90
Total	35	100.00
Employment		
Housewives	24	68.60
Labor	3	8.60
Private employees	5	14.30
Self-employed	3	8.60
Total	35	100.00
Anemia status		
Mild anemia	26	74.30
Moderate anemia	7	20.00
Severe anemia	2	5.70
Total	35	100.00

 Table 1. Distribution of Characteristics of Pregnant

 Women with Anemia

Table 2.	Description of Level of Knowledge,
	Attitudes, and Compliance with Fe Tablet
	Consumption

		Nutri couns	Improvement		
Variables	B	efore	A	After	- levels
	n	%	n	%	- (%)
Level of Knowled	lge				
Good	19	54.30	29	82.90	
Sufficient	15	42.90	6	17.10	28 (0
Poor	1	2.90	0	0.00	28.60
Total	35	100	35	100	
Attitudes					
Positive	21	60.00	27	77.10	
Negative	14	40.00	8	22.90	17.10
Total	35	100	35	100	
Compliance					
Compliant	22	62.90	30	85.70	
Non-compliant	13	37.10	5	14.30	22.80
Total	35	100	35	100	

with the consumption of Fe tablets before and after the administration of nutritional counseling, with a significant percentage increase in the level of good knowledge of 28.60%; positive attitude of 17.10%; and compliance with Fe tablet consumption was 22.80%.

Table 3 indicates that the average results of correct answers chosen by respondents before the administration of nutritional counseling on indicators regarding anemia were <80%, while on indicators regarding consumption of Fe tablets >80%. After nutritional counseling administration, respondents experienced an increase in each indicator, where each indicator had an average of >80%.

Table 4 shows that before the nutritional counseling process, the average respondents' answers, if rounded, had a score of 4 on the indicator of the importance of consuming Fe tablets and the side effects of consuming Fe tablets. The average respondents' answers on the indicator of how to consume Fe tablets and compliance with consuming Fe tablets if rounded had a score of 3. After the nutritional counseling process, the average respondents' answers to each indicator, if rounded, had a score of 4.

Table 5 shows the results of the bivariate analysis describing that p < 0.05 at the level of knowledge (p = 0.001); attitude (p = 0.001); and compliance with Fe tablet consumption (0.002), where these results indicated that there was an influence of providing counseling on the level of knowledge, attitudes, and compliance with Fe tablet consumption.

Table 6 shows that 23 respondents (65.72%) who had a good level of knowledge tended to have a positive attitude, while 6 other respondents (17.14%) had a negative attitude. A total of 4 respondents (11.43%) who had a sufficient level of knowledge also had a positive attitude, while the other 2 respondents (5.71%) had a negative attitude. Based on the results of the correlation analysis, the result was p = 0.516, meaning that the level of knowledge had no relationship or connection with the mothers' attitudes because p > 0.05.

Table 7 portrays that 25 respondents (71.43%) who had a good level of knowledge tended to be compliant in consuming Fe tablets during pregnancy, while 4 other respondents (11.43%)

were not compliant in consuming Fe tablets. A total of 5 respondents (14.28%) who had a sufficient level of knowledge were also compliant in consuming Fe tablets, while 1 other respondent (2.86%) was not compliant in consuming Fe tablets. Based on the results of the correlation analysis, the result was p = 0.860, meaning that the level of knowledge had no relationship or connection with the level of compliance because p > 0.05.

Table 8 illustrates that 27 respondents (80.00%) who had a positive attitude tended to be compliant in consuming Fe tablets, 3 respondents (8.57%) who had a negative attitude were also compliant in consuming Fe tablets, and 5 other respondents (14.29%) were not compliant in consuming Fe tablets. Based on the results of the correlation analysis, the result was p = 0.001, meaning that the mothers' attitudes had a significant relationship or relationship with the mothers' level of compliance because p < 0.05.

Characteristics of Pregnant Women

Regarding maternal age, the majority of respondents experienced pregnancy in the early

adulthood category, namely 26-35 years (48.60%), where at this age a woman's reproductive organs can be said to be mature and physically and mentally ready to conceive (Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 2014). However, several respondents experienced pregnancies < 20 years, where if a woman is pregnant at < 20 years, the reproductive organs in her body are still in the period of development and maturation of the reproductive system, so at this age, they tend to still need more nutritional supplies compared to pregnant women aged > 20 years. Apart from that, several respondents also experienced pregnancies > 35 years, where at this age the body's immune system tends to decrease and start to enter a degenerative period so that there is a greater risk of experiencing health problems during pregnancy, one of which is anemia (Rahmaniah & Linda, 2019).

Based on the characteristics of gestational age, 22 respondents (62.90%) were in the second trimester of their pregnancy, and 13 respondents (37.10%) were in the third trimester of their pregnancy. During pregnancy, blood thinning reaches its maximum limit in the second and

			Levels of kn	owledge		_	
Indicators	Question	Befor	e	At	fter	Increase level	
mulcators	number	Mean Item (%)	Mean Total (%)	Mean Item (%)	Mean Total (%)	(%)	
Side effects of consuming	13	37.14		77.14			
Fe tablets	20	40.00	38.57	80.00	78.57	40.00	
Causes of anemia	6	45.71	62.95	80.00	87.40	24.55	
Lauses of anemia	16	80.00	62.85	94.28	87.40	24.55	
	7	80.00		85.71			
Ways of preventing anemia	12	48.57	64.28	85.71	85.71	21.43	
Definition of anemia	17	68.57	68.57	85.71	85.71	17.14	
Symptoms of anemia in	9	57.14		65.71			
pregnant women	14	51.42	54.28	77.14	71.42	17.14	
Impact of anemia during	10	91.42		91.42			
pregnancy	18	51.42	71.42	80.00	85.71	14.29	
The importance of	2	85.71		100.00			
consuming Fe tablets	3	88.57	87.14	100.00	100.00	12.86	
Ways of consuming Fe	4	77.14		94.28			
ablets	5	80.00	81.90	85.71	91.42	9.52	
	8	88.57	05.71	94.28	00.57	2.96	
Definition of Fe tablets			95.71		98.57	2.86	
	11	88.57	04.00	80.00	05.71	1 42	
Administration of Fe tablets	15	80.00	84.28	91.42	85.71	1.43	

Table 3. Percentage of Respondents' Correct Answers to the Questionnaire of Knowledge

Suryaningrum et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 8–19 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.8–19

	0		Attitu	des		
Indicators	Question – number –	Bef	ore	Af	`ter	
	number –	Mean Item	Mean Total	Mean Item	Mean Total	
	8	3.60		4.29		
	11	3.57	_	3.94	_	
Ways of consuming Fe	13	3.91	_	4.20	- 4.03	
tablets	18	2.43	3.42	3.74	- 4.03	
	15	3.71		4.00	_	
	22	3.31	_	4.03	_	
	4	3.94		4.43		
The importance of consuming Fe tablets	14	4.20	_	4.34	_	
	19	4.17	_	4.46	- 4.22	
	6	3.34	3.74	4.11	- 4.22	
	23	3.54		4.06		
	25	3.30	_	3.94	_	
	5	3.94		4.46		
	24	3.80	_	3.97	_	
Side effects of consuming Fe tablets	7	3.69	_	3.86	3.85	
retablets	12	3.14	3.60	3.57		
	21	3.43	_	3.74		
	1	3.77		4.29		
	16	3.63	_	3.94	_	
	20	2.17	_	3.80	_	
	26	3.60	_	4.14	_	
Compliance with Fe tablet consumption	2	3.71	_	4.00	3.90	
lonsumption	3	3.51	_	3.91		
	9	3.40	- 3.40	4.11	_	
	10	3.54	_	3.86	_	
	17	3.31	_	3.80	_	

Table 4.	Results of	f Respondents	'Answers to	the Quest	ionnaire of Attitudes
----------	------------	---------------	-------------	-----------	-----------------------

 Table 5. Differences in Levels of Knowledge, Attitudes, and Compliance with Fe Tablet Consumption before and after Nutrition Counseling

Variables	Minimum	Maximum	Mean ± SD	p-value
Level of knowledge				
Before (%)	5.00	19.00	14.31 ± 3.47	0.001*
After (%)	14.00	20.00	17.46 ± 1.82	
Level of Attitudes				
Before	15.76	64.10	50.00 ± 10.00	0.001*
After	31.87	65.69	50.00 ± 10.00	
Level of compliance				
Before (%)	10.00	100.00	75.92 ± 35.07	0.002*
After (%)	16.67	100.00	91.68 ± 21.86	

Notes: *Wilcoxon signed rank test

		Attitu	ıdes		т	otol	
Level of knowledge	Pos	Positive Negativ		gative	tive		
	n	%	n	%	n	%	- p-value
Good	23	65.72	6	17.14	29	82.86	
Sufficient	4	11.43	2	5.71	6	17.14	0.516*
Total	27	77.15	8	22.85	35	100.00	

Table 6. Attitudes of Pregnant Women with Anemia Based on Level of Knowledge After Nutrition Counseling

Description: *Spearman Correlation

 Table 7. Compliance Level of Pregnant Women with Anemia Based on Level of Knowledge After Nutrition Counseling

		Level	of Attitude				
Level of knowledge	Compliant		Non-Compliant		Total		p-value
	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Good	25	71.43	4	11.43	29	82.86	
Sufficient	5	14.28	1	2.86	6	17.14	0.860*
Total	30	85.71	5	14.29	35	100.00	

Description: *Spearman Correlation

 Table 8. Compliance Level of Pregnant Women with Anemia Based on Mothers' Attitude After Nutrition

 Counseling

		Level o	f complianc		Total			
Attitudes	Compliant		No	Non-Compliant		—		
	n	%	n	%	n	%		
Positive	27	80.00	0	0.00	27	80.00		
Negative	3	8.57	5	14.29	8	20.00	0.001*	
Total	30	85.71	5	14.29	35	100.00		

Description: *Spearman Correlation

third trimesters or 5-8 months. As the mothers' gestational age increases, the risk of suffering from anemia becomes higher if it is not balanced with a balanced diet and regular consumption of Fe tablets (Herawati & Rusmiati, 2018).

Based on the characteristics of maternal education, the majority of respondents in this study had their final education at the high school or vocational school level (74.30%). Education, most of which is high school, influences the mothers' understanding and analytical power in receiving information (Fitrianingsih, et al, 2019). The higher individuals' education level, the more open their mindset can be in accepting new information so that it can have an impact on positive behavior toward fulfilling nutrition during pregnancy (Herawati & Rusmiati, 2018).

Based on the characteristics of mothers' employment, the majority of respondents were

unemployed or housewives (68.60%). Employment is a factor related to economic status and income. Pregnant women who do not work are at risk of experiencing anemia because they tend to have low incomes so they are less able to buy food that contains enough iron, while pregnant women who work tend to have better incomes so they can improve their health status, such as by consuming nutritious food more often and visiting health facilities during pregnancy (Aminin & Dewi, 2020). Families with low incomes also tend to influence mothers to disobey the consumption of Fe tablets compared to families with higher incomes (Agegnehu et al., 2019).

Based on the characteristics of the anemia status of pregnant women, the majority of respondents experienced mild anemia, namely Hb levels in the range of 10-10.9 g/dl (74.30%). Anemia during pregnancy has several impacts,

such as increasing the risk of maternal and child death, the emergence of infectious diseases, premature birth, abortion (miscarriage), and can affect the growth and development of the fetus, both while it is still in the womb and after it is born (Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 2021).

Description of Knowledge, Attitudes, and Compliance of Pregnant Women

Differences exist in the level of knowledge, attitudes, and compliance with the consumption of Fe tablets between before and after nutritional counseling, with a significant percentage increase in the level of good knowledge of 28.60%; positive attitude of 17.10%; and compliance with Fe tablet consumption was 22.80%.

Based on the results of interviews before the nutritional counseling, 17.14% of respondents reasoned that they did not consume Fe tablets because they felt they had routinely consumed vitamins or supplements given by obstetricians and therefore they ignored the Fe tablets given by the community health center. This happened because respondents had the perception that the vitamins or supplements given by obstetricians were considered better than the Fe tablets given by the community health center. One capsule of the folamil genio type supplement consumed by several respondents contained 1 mg of folic acid; beta-carotene 10,000 IU; vitamin B1 3 mg; vitamin B2 3.4 mg; nicotinamide 20 mg; vitamin B6 2 mg; Ca pantothenate 7.5 mg; Ca carbonate 100 mg; vitamin B12 4 mcg; vitamin D3 400 IU; vitamin K1 50 mcg; biotin 30 mcg; copper gluconate 0.1 mg; Fe polymaltose complex (IPC) 30 mg; DHA from algae 40 mg; and 8 mg arachidonic acid, while the Fe tablets given by the community health center only contain iron (ferrous fumarate which is equivalent to 60 mg elemental iron) and 0.4 mg folic acid (Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 2021). Apart from that, 14.28% of respondents who worked said they did not regularly consume Fe tablets because they felt tired and sleepy at night so they forgot to take Fe tablets. Another 5.71% of respondents complained of side effects in the form of nausea when consuming Fe tablets, so they rarely consumed Fe tablets. Based on the results of interviews after the nutritional

counseling, 14.28% of respondents who were still disobedient said they experienced nausea that led to vomiting so respondents did not want to force themselves to consume the Fe tablets based on the dose recommended by health workers.

The availability of a checklist filled in on the Fe tablet consumption schedule in the KIA book for pregnant women can also help them to take Fe tablets so that it can help increase compliance. This is also supported by research conducted by Hadiyani and Yunidha (2019), showing that after observations were made in the form of providing a checklist sheet for the Fe tablet consumption schedule which had to be filled out every day, 71% of respondents became compliant in consuming Fe tablets.

The average results of correct answers chosen by respondents on the questionnaire of knowledge before the nutritional counseling on indicators regarding anemia were <80%, while on indicators regarding consumption of Fe tablets >80%. This indicated that the majority of respondents had received fairly good information about the importance of consuming Fe tablets during pregnancy, but still lacked information about anemia during pregnancy. After the nutritional counseling process, respondents experienced an increase in each indicator, where each indicator had an average of > 80%. This showed that through nutritional counseling, respondents could find out more information about anemia and the importance of consuming Fe tablets during pregnancy.

An increase in knowledge can also be influenced by educational factors. Most of the respondents had their final education at the high school or vocational school level. Education, most of which is high school, can influence the mothers' understanding and analytical power in receiving information (Fitrianingsih, et al, 2019). Education is a factor that influences maternal knowledge to know and understand appropriate nutritional intake to meet the needs of the mother and fetus (Savadogo et al, 2014). The higher individuals' education level, the more open their mindset can be in accepting new information so that it can have an impact on positive behavior toward fulfilling nutrition during pregnancy (Herawati & Rusmiati, 2018).

In the questionnaire of attitude, before the nutritional counseling process, the average respondents' answers, if rounded, had a score of 4 on the indicators of the importance of consuming Fe tablets and the side effects of consuming Fe tablets, showing that the majority of respondents already had a fairly positive attitude regarding the importance of consuming Fe tablets. However, some respondents are still not compliant enough in consuming Fe tablets, where the average respondents' answers to the indicator of how to consume Fe tablets and compliance with Fe tablet consumption, if rounded, had a score of 3. After the nutritional counseling, the average respondents' answers to each indicator, if rounded, had a score of 4. This showed that there was a positive increase in the respondents' attitudes, where the respondents could accept any information provided well during nutritional counseling so that it had an impact on their attitudes of being obedient in consuming Fe tablets.

By attending nutritional counseling sessions, pregnant women become more familiar with the causes of problems and understand the nutritional needs required during pregnancy, the impact of anemia during pregnancy, and the potential to overcome their health problems. If they feel that the behavior is not appropriate, then the mothers are moved to be selective in choosing better behavior, which can have an impact on increasing their attitudes toward consuming Fe tablets (Khairia, 2017).

Differences in Levels of Knowledge, Attitudes, and Compliance Before Fe Tablet Consumption and After Nutrition Counseling

Based on the results of bivariate analysis, the results obtained were p < 0.05 at the level of knowledge (p = 0.001); attitude (p = 0.001); and compliance with Fe tablet consumption (0.002), where these results indicated that there was an influence of providing counseling on the level of knowledge, attitudes and compliance with Fe tablet consumption. These results were in line with research results conducted by Khairia (2017) showing the influence of nutritional counseling on pregnant women's knowledge (p = 0.000) and mothers' attitudes (p = 0.000). This is also in line with research conducted by Yanti et al. (2018), showing the influence of nutritional counseling on pregnant women's knowledge (p = 0.028) and mothers' attitudes (p = 0.001). Research from Kamau et al (2019), stated that during the research the attitude of pregnant women in the intervention group toward consuming iron-folic acid (IFAS) resulted in an overall positive change in attitudes. Research by Djati et al. (2017) also showed the influence of counseling on compliance with blood supplement tablet consumption (p = 0.002). This is also supported by research by Purbowati (2016), where there was an effect of providing nutritional counseling on compliance with iron tablet consumption in the treatment group (p =0.001). Research by Berhane & Belachew (2022) also stated that providing education through counseling is effective in increasing compliance in consuming iron-folic acid supplements (IFAS) with a percentage increase of 42.6% in the intervention group. Providing education through counseling is effective in increasing the knowledge of pregnant women, encouraging a diet rich in iron, and increasing consumption of IFA (iron folic-acid) tablets or Fe tablets (Nahrisah et al, 2020).

Based on the results of the analysis of respondents' attitudes, it shows that there was an improvement in respondents' attitudes after the nutritional counseling. In both before and after the nutritional counseling, the majority of respondents had positive attitudes (T score > 50). Respondents were able to accept any information provided well, both by health workers before nutritional counseling, and by researchers during nutritional counseling. This was because health workers were good enough at providing information about how to consume Fe tablets and the reasons for the importance of consuming Fe tablets during pregnancy. In addition, most respondents were currently pregnant with their second child, so they already had experience with previous pregnancies. According to Azwar (2013), something that an individual has experienced and is currently experiencing plays a role in forming attitudes and influencing appreciation of social stimuli.

Counseling can be a strategy for changing social behavior and communication by influencing actions that can be observed and measured to improve health status (Juma et al, 2015). An increase in understanding and knowledge can certainly have an impact on changes in consumption patterns of foods that are nutritious and contain high Fe, as well as being more compliant in consuming Fe tablets. Through counseling, pregnant women can change their attitudes and behavior to improve their nutritional status (Bara et al, 2015). Counseling can strengthen the women's motivation which is expected to increase compliance in consuming Fe tablets (Djati et al, 2017). If the mothers understand the importance of consuming Fe tablets well, then they tend to try to improve themselves to comply with consuming Fe tablets regularly (Khairia, 2017).

Correlation between Knowledge, Attitudes, and Compliance After Nutrition Counseling

Based on the results of the correlation analysis of the mothers' attitudes based on the level of knowledge after nutritional counseling, the result was p = 0.516, meaning that the level of knowledge had no relationship or connection with the mothers' attitudes because p > 0.05. This could happen because the majority of respondents already had fairly good knowledge regarding information about the importance of consuming Fe tablets during pregnancy, but still lacked information about anemia during pregnancy before attending nutritional counseling. Apart from that, most of the respondents were also experiencing their second pregnancy, so respondents had more experience with previous pregnancies. According to Azwar (2013), something that an individual has experienced and is currently experiencing plays a role in forming attitudes and influencing appreciation of social stimuli.

Based on the results of the correlation analysis of the mothers' level of compliance based on the level of knowledge after nutritional counseling, the result was p = 0.860, meaning that the level of knowledge had no relationship or connection with the level of compliance because p > 0.05. This is in line with research conducted by Purwati and Dayani (2022). The research showed that there was no significant relationship between knowledge and compliance with consuming blood supplement tablets (p = 0.2008). These results are also supported by research conducted by Adnyana et al. (2020) revealing that respondents who had good knowledge still had a low level of compliance in consuming blood supplement tablets.

Based on the results of the correlation analysis of the level of compliance based on the mothers' attitude after nutritional counseling, the result was p = 0.001, meaning that the mothers' attitude had a significant relationship or relationship with the mothers' level of compliance because p < 0.05. This showed that a good understanding and selfawareness regarding the importance of consuming Fe tablets during pregnancy can have an impact on the mothers' attitudes in taking action to comply with consuming Fe tablets. The implementation of health behavior was influenced by a positive attitude to prevent anemia during pregnancy, one of which was obediently consuming Fe tablets. According to Notoatmodjo (2014), attitude is one of the factors that can influence health behavior. This is in line with research conducted by Utari and Rahmad (2022) revealing that there was a relationship between attitude and compliance with the consumption of Fe tablets in pregnant women with a result of p = 0.018. This is also supported by the health belief model theory put forward by Strecher & Rosenstock (1997), where the presence of good or bad perceptions originating from knowledge, experience, or information can provide confidence which stimulates individuals to do something, in this case, being obedient to consuming Fe tablets.

CONCLUSION

There was a percentage increase in the level of knowledge after the administration of nutritional counseling (28.60%); attitude (17.10%); and compliance with Fe tablet consumption (22.80%). There is an effect of providing nutritional counseling on the level of knowledge (p = 0.001); attitude (p = 0.001); and compliance with Fe tablet consumption (p = 0.002). Health workers at the Grogol Community Health Center are suggested to conduct nutritional counseling for every pregnant woman who experiences anemia even though the pregnant woman's Hb level is in the mild anemia category so that anemia during pregnancy can be treated early when the Hb is checked in the first trimester of pregnancy. Suryaningrum et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 8–19 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.8–19

REFERENCES

- Adnyana, G. A. N. W. S., Armini, N. W., dan Suarniti, N. W. 2020. Gambaran Pengetahuan Tentang Anemia dan Kepatuhan Remaja Dalam Mengkonsumsi Tablet Tambah Darah. *Jurnal Ilmiah Kebidanan*. 9(1): 103-109.
- Agegnehu, G., Atenafu, A., Dagne, H., and Dagnew, B. 2019. Adherence to Iron and Folic Acid Supplement and its Associated Factors Among Antenatal Care Attendant Mothers in Lay Armachiho Health Centers, Northwest, Ethiopia, 2017. *International Journal of Reproductive Medicine*. 2019(1): 1–9.
- Aminin, F., dan Dewi, U. 2020. Kepatuhan Ibu Hamil Mengkonsumsi Tablet Fe di Kota Tanjung Pinang Tahun 2017. Jurnal Ners Dan Kebidanan (Journal of Ners and Midwifery). 7(2): 285–292.
- Azwar, S. 2013. Sikap Manusia: Teori dan Pengukurannya. Yogyakarta: Pustaka Pelajar.
- Bara, F. T., Fanny, L., dan Wijayanegara, H. 2015. Pengaruh Konseling Gizi pada Ibu Hamil Dengan Anemia Terhadap Status Gizi di Kecamatan Minasatene dan Kecamatan Pangkajene Kabupaten Pangkajene dan Kepulauan. Jurnal Ilmiah Kesehatan Diagnosis. 6(2): 253-261.
- Berhane, A., and Belachew, T. 2022. Effect of Picture-Based Health Education and Counselling on Knowledge and Adherence to Preconception Iron-Folic Acid Supplementation Among Women Planning to be Pregnant in Eastern Ethiopia: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Nutritional Science*. 11(58): 1-11.
- Djati, T. P., Sulistyowati, E., dan Hendriyani, H. 2017. Pengaruh Konseling Gizi Terhadap Konsumsi Tablet Tambah Darah dan Kadar Hb Ibu Hamil Trimester II dan III di Wilayah Puskesmas II Sumpiuh. *Jurnal Riset Gizi*. 5(1): 76-85.
- Fitrianingsih, W., Suindri, N. N., dan Armini, N. W. 2019. Hubungan Antara Pengetahuan, Pendapatan, dan Pekerjaan Ibu Dengan Kehamilan Risiko Tinggi di Puskesmas Kecamatan Denpasar Barat Tahun 2018. Jurnal Ilmiah Kebidanan. 7(2): 98-108.
- Hadiyani, W., dan Yunidha, V. 2019. Pengaruh Kepatuhan Konsumsi Tablet Fe Terhadap Kadar Haemoglobin Ibu Hamil. *Jurnal Ilmiah Keperawatan.* 5(1): 7-13.
- Herawati, Y., dan Rusmiati, D. 2018. Hubungan Frekuensi Umur, Tingkat Pendidikan, dan Usia Kehamilan Dengan Kejadian Anemia Pada Ibu

Hamil. *Jurnal Stikes Mitra RIA Husada*. 1(1): 1-7.

- Juma, M., Oiye, S. O., and Konyole, S. O. 2015. Predictors of Optimum Antenatal Iron-Folate Supplementation in A Low Resource Rural Set-up in Eastern Kenya. *Journal Public Health Epidemiol.* 7(11): 337-345.
- Kamau, M., Mirie, W., Kimani, S., and Mugoya, I. 2019. Effect of Community-Based Health Education on Knowledge and Attitude Towards Iron and Folic Acid Supplementation Among Pregnant Women in Kiambu County, Kenya: A Quasi-Experimental Study. *PLoS ONE*. 14(11): 1-21.
- Kementrian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia. 2018. Hasil Utama Riskesdas 2018. Jakarta: Badan Penelitian dan Pengembangan Kesehatan Republik Indonesia.
- Kementrian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia. 2021. *Profil Kesehatan Indonesia Tahun 2020*. Jakarta: Kementrian Kesehatan RI.
- Khairia, N. 2018. Pengaruh Konseling Gizi Menggunakan Media Leaflet Terhadap Pengetahuan, Sikap, dan Kepatuhan Konsumsi Tablet Tambah Darah Pada Ibu Hamil di Wilayah Kerja Puskesmas Lepo-lepo Kota Kendari. *Skripsi*. Kendari: Politeknik Kesehatan Kendari.
- Nahrisah, P., Somrongthong, R., Viriyautsahakul, N., Viwattanakulvanid, P., and Plianbangcang, S. 2020. Effect of Integrated Pictorial Handbook Education and Counselling on Improving Anemia Status, Knowledge, Food Intake, and Iron Tablet Compliance Among Anemic Pregnant Woman in Indonesia: A Quasi-Experimental Study. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*. 2020(13): 43-52.
- Notoatmodjo, S. 2014. *Promosi Kesehatan dan Perilaku Kesehatan*. Jakarta: Rineka Cipta.
- Purbowati, N. 2016. Pengaruh Konseling Menggunakan Lembar Balik dan Leaflet Terhadap Kepatuhan Ibu Hamil Mengkonsumsi Tablet Besi. Jurnal 2-TRIK Tunas-tunas Riset Kesehatan. 6(3): 143-147.
- Purwati, R., and Dayani, D. N. 2022. Relationship of Knowledge and Attitude of Pregnant Women with Compliance Consuming Blood Tablets at Puskesmas Koto Baru, Dharmasraya Regency in 2022. *Journal of Midwifery and Nursing*. 4(3): 94-99.
- Rahmaniah & Linda, P. S. 2019. Hubungan Umur Ibu dan Paritas Dengan Kejadian Anemia Pada Ibu Hamil di Wilayah Kerja Puskesmas Totoli.

Journal of Health, Education and Literacy. 1(1): 24-28.

- Savadogo, L., Salimata, O., Tamini, C., Kinda, M., and Donnen, P. 2014. Characteristics of Severely Anemic Pregnant Women and Perinatal Outcomes in Banfora Regional Hospital, Burkina Faso: An Epidemiological Study. *Open Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 4(5): 234-238.
- Stretcher, V., and Rosenstock, I. M. 1997. The Health Belief Model. In K. Glanz, F.M. Lewis, & B.K. Rimer (Eds.), Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice (2nd ed.). San Fransisco: Jossey Bass.
- Utari, D., dan Rahmad, A. H. A. 2020. Pengetahuan dan Sikap Ibu Hamil Dengan Pola Kepatuhan Mengonsumsi Tablet Tambah Darah di Kabupaten Aceh Timur. *Jurnal SAGO Gizi dan Kesehatan*, 4(1): 8-13.
- World Health Organization. 2021. Anemia in Women and Children. Retrieved from. https:// www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/ anaemia in women and children.
- Yanti, D. A. M., Sulistianingsih, A., dan Anggraeni, S. 2018. Peningkatan Pengetahuan, Sikap, dan Kepatuhan Melalui Konseling Nutrisi Pada Ibu Hamil Anemia di Kabupaten Pringsewu. *Media Publikasi Penelitian*. 15(2): 52-60.

ENHANCING ADOLESCENT GIRLS ANEMIA PREVENTION KNOWLEDGE AND ATTITUDES THROUGH NUTRITIONAL CONSULTATIONS

Jumiyati^{1*}, Atika Hendryani², Rinda Nur Hidayati², Tetes Wahyu W¹

¹Department of Nutrition, Poltekkes Kemenkes Bengkulu, Indonesia ²Department of Electromedical Engineering, Poltekkes Kemenkes Jakarta II, Indonesia *E-mail: yatijumi70@yahoo.co.id

ABSTRACT

Anemia is a public health problem in Indonesia that can affect all age groups, from toddlers to the elderly, and primarily affects adolescents. One way to prevent anemia among them is by increasing knowledge and attitudes through nutritional consultation to achieve promotive and preventive efforts. In 2018, anemia in women was higher (27.2%) than in men (20.3%). This study aimed to determine the effect of nutritional consultations on the knowledge and attitudes of young women in preventing anemia in Bengkulu City. A quasi-experimental study with a non-randomized control group design, pre-test, and post-test design was conducted from October to November 2021 at SMP N 8 Bengkulu City. The intervention group subjects are 30 respondents, and at control group are 30 respondents; all were purposively selected. A paired T-test was used to analyse the effect of the intervention. The results showed a significant difference in the pre-test and post-test knowledge in the treatment group (p=0.002). At the same time, there was no significant difference between the pre-test and post-test knowledge of the control group (p=0.095). In comparison, the mean attitude before treatment did not differ between groups (p=0.048); each group showed differences after treatment. Intervention and control groups influence knowledge and attitudes before and after treatment (p=0.013).

Keywords: anemia, knowledge, attitude, young women

INTRODUCTION

Anemia is one of the health problems in Indonesia that can occur in groups of toddlers to elderly. Adolescence is at risk of anemia due to menstruation, so there is a lot of blood loss, and puberty is at risk of iron deficiency anemia. Besides menstrual factors, iron intake is essential in accelerating growth and development (Ministry of Health Republic Indonesia, 2018). Anemia generally occurs worldwide, especially in developing countries. It affects 13% of women and 45% in developed countries among women aged 15-49 year (Department of Nutrition and Public Health, 2014). Whereas in Asia, the prevalence of anemia among adolescent girls reached 191 million people aged 10-19 years, the prevalence of anemia was 7.5 million. Indonesia is positioned in the 8th out of 11 countries. Iron deficiency anemia among pregnant women in Indonesia is 50.5%; among postpartum women is 45.1%; among adolescent girls aged 10-18 years is 57.1%; and among women aged 19-45 years, 39.5% (Indonesian Ministry of Health, 2012). The results of Riskesdas showed that anemia in women was 27.2% and in men was 20.3%; based on these data, anemia in women was higher than in men aged 15-24 years by 32% (Indonesian Ministry of Health, 2018).

Adolescence is a transition from childhood to adulthood; during this period of growth and development, physiological, psychological, and social changes occur. Nutritional fulfilment in adolescents must be higher because adolescents need adequate nutrition to fulfil their needs (Almatsier, et al. 2011). Increased physiological needs because adolescents are experiencing a period of growth can also be one of the causes of iron deficiency anemia. Iron deficiency or anemia is mainly caused by insufficient nutritional intake; irregular food consumption patterns influence the lack of iron nutrient intake. In addition, iron deficiency in adolescent girls can also be caused by menstruation and infectious diseases. (Ely, Laksono, Dyah, 2017). Studies found that as many as 63.4% of adolescents experienced anemia caused by low knowledge, which is a dominant factor in adolescent girls. Knowledge of foods high in iron is also still low (Sintha, 2019). Knowledge of anemia is still low in adolescents,

which will cause them not to care about their daily food intake.

One way to increase nutrition knowledge is through nutrition education and nutrition consultations. Information is provided in the form of nutritional consultation to prevent anemia. Avoiding anemia in adolescent girls can be done by increasing knowledge and attitudes through nutrition consultation so that promotive and preventive efforts can be achieved. Education in the form of consultation is an approach used to help individuals gain better knowledge (PERSAGI PAGI, 2013). Nutrition education is critical for adolescent girls to create awareness and disseminate knowledge about anemia control and prevention (Priyanka & Asfia, 2015). Individuals who have better nutritional knowledge have attitudes toward eating healthier foods (Heaney, et al. 2011)

Effective and efficient media can be used to support nutrition counselling so the target will receive that information. The media can be mobile devices or mobile phones because one of the most widely accessed media in adolescents is the primary way to get digital information quickly and can reach many targets that are not limited to space and time. Social media can be used as an Android-based mobile phone application. The use of smartphones is increasingly growing among teenagers, causing various changes in their attitudes and behaviour so that they can quickly get information (Firmansyah et al., 2019).

Teenagers are the age group that uses the internet the most to fulfil their information needs. 91% of the population aged 15-19 use the internet, and the main reason someone uses the internet is to communicate (Gabrielli, et al. 2017). Based on Faza research at SMAN 2 Padang, nutrition education provided to adolescent girls using Instagram and WhatsApp can increase respondents knowledge about balanced nutrition. This is because the information on Instagram is more effective. After all, it is accompanied by images and videos that can support information delivery (Rusdi, et al. 2021). The purpose of this study was to find out whether nutrition consultation can improve the knowledge and attitudes of adolescent girls in anemia prevention in Bengkulu City.

METHODS

This research uses a quasi-experimental study with a non-randomized control group pre-test, post-test, and pre-test design. Study conducted in October - November 2021 at SMPN 8 Bengkulu City. At the beginning of the study, the two groups were given pre-test questions of knowledge and attitudes. After that, the treatment group was given nutritional consultation about anemia using self-designed Android application media, and the control group was not given nutrition consultation. However, respondents read their Android application media in the PlayStore. After three weeks, both groups were given post-test questions about nutritional anemia. The study subjects were 30 intervention group respondents and 30 control group respondents, using a purposive sampling technique with inclusion criteria included adolescent girls, coming at the time of nutrition consultation. Meanwhile the exclusion criteria were respondents sick during the study. Primary data was collected through interviews using knowledge and attitude questionnaires.

The univariate analysis describes the characteristics of each research variable; this analysis only produces the distribution and percentage of each variable. The variables to be analysed are knowledge and attitude. Bivariate analysis is carried out on two variables suspected to be related; the data obtained is then processed, analysed, and presented as a table. First, the normality test is carried out on the results of the pretest-posttest behaviour in the treatment group using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Differences in knowledge and attitudes before and after nutrition consultation in each group using the Paired T-test statistical test of normally distributed data, but for data that is not normally distributed using the Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test. Differences in knowledge and attitudes between the treatment and control groups using the independent sample t-test statistical test of customarily distributed data, including expertise and perspectives. Nonnormally distributed data used the Mann Whitney Test statistical test (12).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Respondent Characteristics

The frequency distribution of respondents based on age 12-13 years mainly was 49.1% in the treatment group and 50.9% in the control group. For the education level of the father and mother, most of the high school/tertiary level is more than 50% of the treatment and control groups. While father occupation in the treatment group was 47.2% and the control group was 54.1% more private, the mother occupation mainly was housewives in the treatment group 49.0% and the control group 51.0%.

Based on the results of statistical tests obtained p>0.05, it can be concluded that there is no difference between the treatment group and the control group; there is homogeneity in the variables of respondents' age, education, and occupation.

Description Level of knowledge and attitudes

Table 2 shows that the average knowledge of treated respondents was 56.9, with a standard

 Table 1. Characteristics of Respondents in the Treatment Group and Control Group

	Trea	tment	Co	ntrol	
Characteristics Respondents	f	%	f	%	- р
Age of respondent					
12-13 Years	27	49.1	28	50.9	0.640
14-15 Years	3	60.0	2	40.0	
Father education					
High (high school, university)	19	51.4	18	48.6	0.791
Low (SD, SMP)	11	47.8	12	52.2	
Mother education					
High (high school, university)	13	56.5	10	43.5	0.426
Low (SD, SMP)	17	45.9	20	54.1	
Father occupation					
Civil servant	5	71.4	2	28.6	0.228
Private worker	25	47.2	28	52.8	
Mother occupation					
Not working	24	49.0	25	51.0	0.739
Working	6	54.5	5	45.5	

Table 2. Description of knowledge and attitude levels before treatment in each group

- Variables - -		Group								
		Treatment		Control						
	Before Treatment			Before Treatment						
	Min	Max	Mean ± SD	Min	Max	Mean ± SD	р			
Knowledge	20	80	$56{,}9\pm18{,}5$	10	80	$51,0\pm18,\!6$	0,219e			
Attitude	4	46	$35{,}6\pm8{,}21$	28	44	$37{,}4\pm4{,}0$	0,048 ^e			

e = Independent T - test

Table 3. Description of knowledge level and attitude after treatment of each group

				Group				
Variables		Treatment		Control				
	After Treatment			After Treatment				
	Min	Max	Mean ± SD	Min	Max	Mean ± SD	р	
Knowledge	30	90	$71.5^{\mathrm{a}} \pm 18.3$	10	80	$53.5^{\mathrm{a}}\pm17.4$	0.001e	
Attitude	4	48	$39.2^{b}\pm7.5$	28	43	$37.0^{b}\pm4.1$	0.080^{f}	

a = Mean + Standard Deviation

b = Median + Standard Deviationf= Mann-Whitney

e = Independent T-test

deviation of 18.5, while the control group had an intermediate knowledge level of 51.0, with a standard deviation of 18.6. The moderate attitude of the treated had a 35.6 standard deviation of 8.21, and the perspective of the control group was 37.4, with a standard deviation of 4.0.

The statistical test results obtained the values of knowledge (p=0.219) and mood (p=0.048), meaning that both the group treated with the modified media Android application and the control group had the same understanding before the study (p>0.05). Based on the results of statistical tests on the level of knowledge and attitudes towards anemia after treatment, the mean score of understanding between the treatment group and the control group was different, as shown in Table 3.

The average knowledge of the treatment and control groups had different scores, higher in the treatment group, 71.5 with a standard deviation of 18.3, while the control group's knowledge score was 53.5 with a standard deviation of 17.4. The post-test attitude between the treatment group and the control group can be seen from the average value; the post-test philosophy in the treatment group is 39.2 with a standard deviation of 7.5, and the control group attitude value is 37.0 with a standard deviation of 4.1. The difference test results obtained the values of knowledge (p=0.219) and attitude (p=0.048) after the post-test between the treatment group and the control group. A knowledge p-value of 0.001 and an attitude of p-value 0.080 mean a significant difference in the level of knowledge after being consulted.

Differences in Knowledge and Attitudes Before and After in the Treatment Group and Control Group

Table 4 shows the difference in knowledge and attitude scores in the treatment and control

groups before and after treatment. The results of the difference test showed that the average knowledge before treatment was 50.0, with a standard deviation of 18.5; in the measurement after treatment, the average ability was 64.6, with a standard deviation of 18.3, while the moderate attitude in the treatment group was 32.5, with a standard deviation of 8.2. The attitude obtained in the first post-test measurement was 36.4, with a standard deviation 7.5.

The results of the statistical test of knowledge (p=0.002) and attitude (p=0.001) obtained a value of p<0.05; it can be concluded that there is a significant difference in ability and philosophy before and after treatment in the treatment group.

The difference in knowledge and attitude scores of the control group was only assessed once. The average pre-test knowledge result in the control group was 44.0 with a standard deviation of 18.8; in the post-test measurement, the intermediate ability was 47.0 with a standard deviation 17.4. The attitude of the control group showed the average pre-test was 35.9 with a standard deviation of 4.0; in the post-test measurement, the moderate attitude was 35.3 with a standard deviation of 4.1. The results of the difference test Knowledge (p=0.0095) and Attitude (p=0.581) show no significant difference between the pre-test and post-test knowledge and attitude.

Change in Score (Knowledge, Attitude, and Practice) in Both Groups

The assessment of changes in knowledge and attitude scores in both groups can be seen in Table 5. The statistical test results showed that the increase in knowledge score for the treatment group was 16.0 with standard deviation of 20.7, while for the control group, the change in

 Table 4. Differences in Knowledge and Attitude Scores Before and After Training for Treatment Group and Control Group

	Group								
Variables	r	Freatment		Control					
	Before treatment	After treatment		Before treatment	After treatment				
	Average	Average	р	Average	Average	р			
Knowledge	$50.0^{a} + 18.5$	$64.6^{a} + 18.3$	0,002°	$44.0^{a} + 18.8$	$47.0^{a} + 17.4$	0,095°			
Attitude	$32.5^{b} + 8.2$	$36.4^{b} + 7.5$	0,001°	$35.9^{a} + 4.03$	$35.3^{a} + 4.1$	0,581°			

a = mean + Standar Deviasi

f= Mann-Whitney b = Median + Standar Deviasi

Variables and Groups	n	n Average		р
Knowledge				
Treatment	30	16.0	20.7	0.138f
Control	30	8.6	16.7	
Attitude				
Treatment	30	14.6	23.0	0.013f
Control	30	3.03	9.5	

 Table 5. Changes in Knowledge Score, Attitude of Treatment Group and Control Group

f= Mann-Whitney

knowledge score was 8.6 with standard deviation of 16.7. Likewise, the attitude results in the treatment group were 14 with standard deviation of 23.0; the control group increased the attitude score by 3.03 with standard deviation of 9.5. As for the practice of the treatment group, it showed 3.80 with standard deviation of 1.835; for the control group, the median of change in practice score was 2.00 with a standard deviation of 2.334.

The results of the difference test on knowledge (p = 0.138) and attitude (p = 0.013) show a nonsignificant change in the knowledge and attitude scores. There is a significant change between the treatment group and the control group. Although there was no significant difference in knowledge between the two groups before and after treatment, the changes in the treatment group were more important than in the control group.

Knowledge Level

The study results showed a significant difference in pre-test and post-test knowledge in the treatment group. At the same time, there was no significant difference between the pre-test and post-test knowledge of the control group. The knowledge of adolescent girls before being given the intervention averaged 56.9 in the treatment group and 51.0 in the control group; after the intervention, the treatment group was 71.5, and the control group was 53.5. However, there are still schoolgirls whose knowledge still needs to be improved; the less understood material is the signs and symptoms of anemia 78%, the impact of anemia on adolescent girls 85%, and prevention of anemia 80%. After the intervention, there was an increase in knowledge of 16-8 points, significantly different between the treatment and control groups. The results of Putu (2018) showed that the level

of knowledge before and after counselling was given to each group was the level of knowledge less than nine samples (81.8%), the good category was two samples (18.2%) and increased after the intervention was carried out, namely the good category as many as six samples (54.5%), while the control group knowledge level did not experience significant changes, namely the category less before nutritional counselling as many as four samples (40%), after the intervention, there were less than five samples (50%). This is because the intervention provided is in nutritional counselling, where pregnant women raise the problems faced intensively (Need, 2018).

The group that was given nutrition consultation using Android media increased significantly. The control group was assigned nutrition consultation without using Android media, and the increase in knowledge was still low. The treatment group showed a better knowledge of anemia incidence than the control. We know consultation is a structured process as a form of intervention on behaviour that aims to influence a person's knowledge to achieve efforts to increase nutritional knowledge, especially about the incidence of anemia. Knowledge is a process of finding out, from previously not knowing to knowing, through education consultation or experience (Notoatmodjo, 2007).

The results of this study align with Fertimah (2018), where the results show that the provision of audiovisual media and meditation applications has an effect in increasing knowledge about anemia and compliance with taking iron tablets for pregnant women. This is influenced by the increase in smartphone users, which is said to be a new type of media because it can access information quickly through internet facilities, one of which is smartphone-based media, namely Android applications. Likewise, Wilarsih (2022) states that there is an increase in the knowledge of premarital women before and after being given nutritional counselling. One of the efforts that can increase the knowledge and abilities of individuals or families about nutrition can be made through counselling. Counselling is a way to fulfil food to help individuals and families better understand. Research by Hestuningtyas (2014) also states that there are differences in knowledge before and after being given nutritional counselling, increasing the behaviour and knowledge of mothers regarding child feeding, making nutritional intake increase; this shows that nutritional counselling conducted once a week has proven to be quite effective in changing feeding. Sofiyana (2013) also stated that there was an increase in the knowledge of mothers of toddlers; before the nutritional counselling was done, mothers of toddlers had sufficient knowledge, and after being given counselling, mothers of toddlers had good knowledge, especially in terms of food forms and frequency of feeding.

Knowledge is the result of sensing a particular object. Sensing occurs through the five human senses, namely the senses of sight, hearing, smell, taste, and touch. Most human knowledge is acquired through the eyes and ears (Notoatmodjo S, 2007). In the knowledge difference test in the two groups, although there was a very significant difference, the change in the treatment group was much more critical than in the control group; the average answer increased in the post-test knowledge of respondents. According to expert research, the senses that channel the most knowledge into the brain are the eyes (approximately 75% to 87%), while the other 13% to 25% are conducted through other senses. Good knowledge will support behaviour in implementing nutrition, especially Fe intake; nutrition knowledge is essential and can influence individuals (Notoadmojo, 2014). According to Aini (2019), the adolescent phase is an essential period for shaping behaviour and changing mindsets, so they are crucial to influencing (education and health), both from direct education and information technology media, such as smartphones. Nowadays, information technology is developing rapidly. Many people are helped by various facilities produced by the seduction of technology. One of the developing technologies is Android-based smartphones. Because it provides convenience and benefits to its users, many practitioners and academics are developing its application (Kamel et al. 2014).

Innovations in Information Technology (IT) have brought about various changes and improvements in other fields, such as healthcare. Health Information Technology (HIT) apps or projects provide more data or comprehensive information on health-related topics. It provides on-the-go access to health-related information (Ceniza, Angie, 2020). According to Muhson (2010) and Sinta et al. (2019), Advances in science and technology significantly influence various fields of human life, such as education. Education is an inseparable part of the human maturation process, which undoubtedly contributes to the development of science and technology. However, education also needs to utilise advances in science and technology to achieve its goals effectively and efficiently. In the era of globalisation, technology is progressing, and there are many smartphone users, especially teenagers. People or teenagers find it easier to access information from these devices because they are easy to carry around and access at any time. So, researchers created a health education innovation based on the Android application studio (Muhson, 2010). Research conducted by Hendryani (2020). on the creation of Android mobile health applications to monitor and evaluate stunting, from the results of system testing, mobile health applications to monitor and assess stunting can work well.

The nutrition consultation process in the treatment group is information conveyed to participants through knowledge, skills, and experience. The process of nutrition consultation conducted in the treatment group is information conveyed to participants in the form of knowledge, skills, and experience (Alo, 2011), as well as explaining and explaining an idea, understanding, or message verbally to the target group who obtain information and knowledge obtained is a significant factor because respondents can apply the information received to prevent the incidence of anemia (Sudjana, 2000).

Nutrition consultation is one of the essential activities that respondents are willing and able to apply when consuming food ingredients containing iron. The results of measurements in the post-test treatment group after the nutrition consultation was carried out increased; this could be due to the treatment group using android media that has been developed not only given media but the question and answer method in this way (seeing, hearing) makes it easier for respondents to receive information. In contrast to the knowledge of the control group, respondents did not show too much improvement. This was because, during the consultation, they only understood what they had experienced; the material obtained by the respondents was only sourced from experience and existing media, so they were less able to explore the respondents' knowledge and did not know what the respondents wanted.

Attitude

Attitude is a stage towards the process of behaviour change; with a positive change in attitude, it is expected that there will be a change in behaviour from the subject as expected. The mean attitude before treatment was no different, while each group showed a difference after treatment. These results align with research conducted by Fachruddin (2017), before being given an intervention, 72.9% of children knowledge level was good, 78.5% of attitudes were positive, and children with well-balanced nutrition practices were 54.9%. After being given the intervention, good knowledge, positive attitudes, and wellbalanced nutrition practices increased by 11.8%, 5.5%, and 15.9%, respectively. Android-based nutrition education media is better than other media. Nutrition education interventions improve balanced nutrition behaviour. Likewise, Sofiyana and Noer (2013) states that there are differences before and after nutritional counselling, where there is an increase in knowledge and attitude changes after conducting nutritional counselling four times in 1 month during the intervention.

Rahmawati research (2017) states that providing health education through nutritional counselling can affect the improvement of respondents' attitudes regarding balanced nutrition in toddlers in preventing malnutrition. Based on Azzahra (2015), there was an increase in attitudes that were categorised as good before and after being given counselling in the treatment group about growth and feeding. Still, in the control group, there was no increase in attitudes before and after being given nutritional counselling using leaflet media. Likewise, Rizqi (2019) increased the attitude score of female students by being given nutrition education about anemia. There was an increase in scores of students who were not given nutrition education; this could be because students who received nutrition education get an additional

picture of anemia nutrition that they previously did not know to know better. In addition, the language used in providing nutrition education is easy to understand, with messages conveyed briefly and clearly so that students who receive nutrition education understand more about anemia nutrition. According to WHO, attitude describes a person likes and dislikes towards action; a person perspective is often obtained from his own experience or other people; someone with a positive attitude does not always manifest in real action (Notoadmojo, 2014). Counselling is a twoway relationship between the counsellor and the client that helps the client achieve better changes. Nutrition counselling is essential to identify or change a person habits that may interfere with nutritional status. Nutrition counselling aims to assist clients in changing nutrition-related behaviours to improve the quality of nutrition (PERSAGI PAGI, 2013).

CONCLUSION

The results showed that nutrition consultation increased knowledge by 16% of the intervention group, while the control group increased knowledge by 8.6%. For the intervention group, attitudes increased by 14.6%, and the control group increased attitudes by 3.03%. The provision of nutrition consultation can improve the knowledge and attitude of adolescent girls in preventing anemia in Bengkulu City. It is necessary to improve the provision of nutritional counselling to adolescents by health workers in the working area of the West Lingkar Health Center, not only about the prevention of anemia but also about the importance of consuming Fe tablets and nutrients needed by adolescents to prevent one of them is anemia.

REFERENCES

- Almatsier, S. Soetardjo and MS. Balanced Nutrition in the Life Cycle. Jakarta: PT Gramedia Pustaka Utama; 2011. 1-91 p.
- Alo Liliweri M. Basics of Health Communication. Yogyakarta: Student Library; 2011.
- Azzahra MF, Muniroh L. Effect of counseling on knowledge and attitude towards complementary feeding. Indonesian Nutrition Media.

Jumiyati et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 20–28 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.20–28

2015;10(1):20-5.

- Ceniza, Angie M. Pepito GCJATCCYKA. Zywie: A Mobile Application on Personal Health and Lifestyle Improvement. International Journal of Computer Theory and Engineering. 2020;12(3):63-8.
- Dahlan S. Statistics for Medicine and Health. Jakarta: Salmba Medika; 2014.
- Department of Nutrition and Public Health, Faculty of Public Health, University of Indonesia. Nutrition and Public Health. 2014.
- Endah Wilarsih, Anik Kurniawati S. The Effect Of Nutrition Counseling On The Prospective Brides' Knowledge In The Anemia Prevention At Uptd Puskesmas Wonogiri 1. 2022;6(December):46-52.
- Ely Eko Agustina , Budi Laksono, Dyah Rini Indriyanti. (2017). Determinan Risiko Kejadian Anemia pada Remaja Putri Berdasarkan Jenjang Pendidikan di Kabupaten Kebumen. Public Health Perspective Journal, 2(1): 26-33
- Fertimah ARSMW. The Effect of Audiovisual Media Provision and Excitation Application on Knowledge about Anemia and Adherence to Taking Iron Tablets in Pregnant Women. 2018;
- Firmansyah, Tamtomo DG, Cilmiaty R. Nutritional booklet and social media: Their effects on adolescents' fattening-food knowledge and consumption. IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering. 2019;633(1).
- Gabrielli S, Dianti M, Maimone R, Betta M, Filippi L, Ghezzi M, et al. Design of a mobile app for nutrition education (Trec-lifestyle) and formative evaluation with families of overweight children. JMIR mHealth and eHealth. 2017;5(4).
- Hendryani A, Susana E. Development of an Android-based Mobile Health Application for Stunting Monitoring and Evaluation. Jurnal Sehat Mandiri. 2020;15(1):24-32.
- Hestuningtyas TR, Noer ER. Effect of nutrition counselling on mothers' knowledge, attitude, practice in child feeding, and nutrient intake of stunted children aged 1-2 years in East Semarang district. Journal of Nutrition College, Volume 3, Number 1, 2014, Pages 12-25. http://ejou. Journal of Nutrition College. 2014;3(2):17-25.
- Heaney, S., O'Connor, H., Michael, S., Gifford, J., & Naughton, G. (2011). Nutrition Knowledge in Athletes: A Systematic Review. International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism, 21(3): 248–261

- Indonesian Ministry of Health. Basic Health Research Results 2018. Vol. 53, Ministry of Health. 2018. 1689-1699 p.
- Indonesian Ministry of Health. Indonesia Health Profile. 2012.
- Kamel Boulos MN, Brewer AC, Karimkhani C, Buller DB, Dellavalle RP. Mobile medical and health apps: state of the art, concerns, regulatory control and certification. Online Journal of Public Health Informatics. 2014;5(3):1-23.
- Ministry of Health RI. Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Anemia in Adolescent Girls and Women of Childbearing Age (WUS). 2018.
- Muhson A. Development of Information Technology Based Learning Media. Indonesian Journal of Accounting Education. 2010;8(2).
- Notoadmojo S. Science of Health Behaviour. Rineka Cipta. Jakarta; 2014.
- Notoatmodjo S. Health Promotion and Behavioural Science. 2007.
- Perdana F, Madanijah S, Ekayanti I. Development of nutrition education media based on android and website and its effect on behaviour about balanced nutrition of elementary school students. Journal of Nutrition and Food. 2017;12(3):169-78.
- PERSAGI PAGIn. Nutrition Counselling. Jakarta: Penebar Swadaya Grub Publisher; 2013.
- Priyanka, P., and Asfia, H. (2015). A Study on Anemia Related Knowledge Among Adolescent Girls. International Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences, 4(3), 273-276.
- Putu SLFP, Lalu KA, Ni KSS, Susilo W, Pengaruh Pemberian Konseling Gizi Terhadap Peningkatan Pengetahuan Dan Konsumsi Zat Gizi Ibu Hamil Anemia Di Wilayah Kerja Puskesmas Pejeruk Ampenan Kota Mataram, Jurnal Gizi Prima Vol.3, Edisi.1, Maret 2018, pp. 18~27 ISSN: 2656 - 2480
- Rahmawati, Farit Rezal Peme. The Effect of Nutrition Counselling with Booklet Media on Increasing Knowledge, Attitudes, and Actions of Mothers in Efforts to Prevent Malnutrition of Toddlers in the Working Area of Puuwatu Health Centre, Kendari City, in 2017. 2017;2(6):1-12.
- Rusdi FY, Helmizar H, Rahmy HA. The Effect of Nutrition Education Using Instagram on Changes in Balanced Nutrition Behaviour for Anemia Prevention in Adolescent Girls at Sman 2 Padang. Journal of Nutrition College. 2021;10(1):31-8.
- Rizqi WHP, Supadi J, Wiwik W, Pengaruh Pemberian Edukasi Gizi Terhadap Pengetahuan Dan Sikap Mengenai Anemia Pada Remaja Putri, Jurnal Riset Gizi, Vol.7 No.2, 2019, e-ISSN: 2657-1145, 75-78
- Soekirman. Nutrition Science and its Applications. In: Dierjen PTDPN. 2000.
- Sofiyana D, Noer ER. Differences in mothers' knowledge, attitude and behaviour before and after nutrition counselling for malnourished

toddlers. Journal of Nutrition College. 2013;2(1):134-44.

- Sudjana N. Basics of the Teaching and Learning Process. Bandung: Pt Sinar Baru Algensindo; 2000.
- Sintha Fransiske Simanungkalit, Oster Suriani Simarmata, Pengetahuan dan Prilaku Konsumsi Remaja Putri Yang Berhubungan dengan Status Anemia, Buletin Penelitian Kesehatan, Vol.47, No. 3, September 2019: 175-182

Nur Ainun¹, Demsa Simbolon^{1*}

¹Department of Nutrition, Tanjung Karang Health Polytechnic, Ministry of Health, Republic of Indonesia. *E-mail: demsa ui03@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

Obesity is a condition with excess body fat due to an imbalance in energy intake consumed more than the physical activity expended. Adolescents who are obese can increase the risk of degenerative diseases. This study aimed to determine the relationship between macronutrients, including carbohydrate, protein, and fat intake, and obesity in adolescents. This study uses a meta-analysis method. Articles were taken from Google Scholar, PubMed, and Science Direct databases. The articles analyzed were articles published from 2000 - 2022, full text; the keywords used for the search were "carbohydrate", "protein", "fat", "obesity, and "adolescents". The articles were collected using PRISMA diagram and analyzed by Review Manager Application 5.4. With the fixed effect model and random effect model. From the results of this study, seven articles were identified. The results of the forest plot show the relationship between carbohydrate intake and obesity in adolescents, p-value < 0.001; OR = 2.58, protein intake with obesity in adolescents obtained p-value < 0.001; OR = 6.20. The conclusion of this study shows that the variables of carbohydrate, protein, and fat intake have a significant relationship with obesity in adolescents.

Keywords: macronutrients, humans, adolescent, pediatric obesity, carbohydrates, adipose tissue

INTRODUCTION

Obese adolescents experience an extended imbalance between energy intake and output. The consumption of digested energy exceeds that used for metabolism and daily activities. Excess energy intake is stored as fat and fat tissue, resulting in weight gain. (Riswanti, 2016). Being overweight in adolescents is caused by a lack of physical activity and unhealthy eating behaviors such as the consumption of fast food. Teenagers who consume fast food in excess can become obese because fast food has a high nutritional content of fat and high calories (Sani & Handayani, 2021). Adolescent eating patterns are met by macronutrient intake and the amount of intake consumed every day; the expenditure of a small intake is due to a lack of physical activity in adolescents, resulting in obesity (Vionie & Novera, 2020). Adolescents who are obese can increase the risk of degenerative diseases such as heart disease and stroke. Today, the risk of obesity has increased dramatically (Suraya, 2018).

The World Health Organization (WHO) has declared obesity a global epidemic. The prevalence of overweight is increasing very rapidly throughout the world, and developed countries such as Europe, the USA, and Australia have reached dangerous levels (Pajriyah & Sulaeman, 2021). The prevalence of obesity According to the World Health Organization (WHO) 2014, the condition of children aged 5-19 years who were obese reached 39.0%; women were more obese (40.0%) than men (38.0%). Based on the 2018 Basic Health Research Results, the prevalence of obesity in adolescents aged 13-15 years according to (BMI/A) in Indonesia was recorded at 60,020 (4.8%) and adolescents aged 16-18 years at 51,826 (4.0%) (Riskesdas, 2018).

Some research results prove a relationship between macronutrient intake and the incidence of obesity in adolescents. The results of Kurdanti research (2015) found that risk factors for obesity in adolescents are energy intake (OR=4.69), fat (OR=2.34), and carbohydrates (OR=2.64). Anggrainy (2018) research results also prove a relationship between energy intake and adolescent nutritional status. Other studies have shown no correlation between the intake of simple carbohydrates, saturated fat, physical activity levels and nutritional status in adolescents with obesity and obesity. This study is critical because there is still little proves that summarizes the relationship between macronutrient intake and obesity in adolescents. Therefore, it is necessary to carry out a meta-analysis to combine two or more research results to obtain new quantitative data.

METHODS

This research design uses a meta-analysis method, a form of quantitative research. The research design used was to analyze the results of previous studies to determine the relationship between macronutrient intake and obesity in adolescents. Articles were obtained from Google Scholar, PubMed, and Science Direct



Figure 1. Flow Chart of carbohydrate, protein and fat intake article search process with PRISMA

databases. The keywords used in finding articles are (Carbohydrates, protein, fat, obesity, and adolescents). The articles included in this study are articles published from 2000 - 2022. The selected articles discuss the relationship between macronutrient intake and obesity in adolescents, published in Indonesian and English. The research sample is obese adolescents. The data collection process is presented as PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis) diagrams. The study final results were reported using the adjusted Odds Ratio (aOR). Data was processed using Review Manager (RevMan 5.4). The process of searching for articles using a journal search database is shown in Figure 1. The meta-analysis begins with identifying journals, namely searching for journals from the database with specified keywords. The next step is to remove the same articles (removing duplicate articles), followed by a filtration process so that six articles are eligible for meta-analysis to determine the effect of carbohydrate intake on obesity, six articles qualify for meta-analysis to assess the impact of protein intake on obesity, and seven articles are eligible for meta-analysis to determine the effect of fat intake on obesity.

RESULTS

Figure 2 shows that the variation between studies is heterogeneous. Imelda (2020) showed that excess carbohydrate intake will be at risk of 2 times experiencing obesity. The results of Kartika



Figure 2. Fores Plot the relationship between carbohydrate intake and obesity in adolescents

Information



study (2012) the risk of adolescents experiencing obesity is higher (OR=20.4), Nadia (2015) showed that excess carbohydrate intake increases the risk of 3 times obesity, Risk (2018) and Weni (2015) showed the risk of obesity by 2.06 times and 2.65 times when excessive carbohydrate intake, but Tuti (2016) showed no relationship between carbohydrate intake and the incidence of obesity in adolescents. This is evidenced by the p-value in the heterogeneity test, with p = 0.49 and I² value 0%, so the fixed effect model is used in this analysis. The forest plot above showed that the pooled odds ratio obtained is 2.58 (95% Cl 1.61 - 4.11), so it can be concluded that adolescents with excessive carbohydrate intake have a 2.58 times greater risk of being obese. There is a significant relationship between carbohydrate intake and obesity in adolescents, evidenced by the p < 0.001.

Figure 3 above shows that the variation between studies is heterogeneous. Imelda (2020) results showed that excess protein intake will be at risk of 3.49 times experiencing obesity. Kartika (2012) (OR=9) and Tuti (2016) (OR=10.59) showed a higher risk of adolescents becoming obese. Nadia (2015) showed that excess carbohydrate intake increased the risk of obesity 2.7 times, Riski (2018) showed the risk of obesity by 4.8 times when excessive carbohydrate intake, but Weni (2015) showed no relationship between protein intake and the incidence of obesity in adolescents. This is evidenced by the p-value in the heterogeneity test, which p = 0.002, and I^2 value 73%, so in this analysis, using the random effect model. The forest plot above shows that the pooled odds ratio obtained is 2.92 (95% Cl 1.15 - 7.46), so it can be concluded that excessive protein intake has a 2.92 times greater risk of obesity in adolescents. There is a significant relationship between protein intake and obesity; this is evidenced by the p = 0.02.

Figure 4 above shows that the variation between studies is heterogeneous. Imelda (2020) results showed that excess fat intake will be at risk of 6.57 times experiencing obesity. Tuti (2016) (OR=23,9), Kartika (2012) (OR=33,75), and Putu (2017) (OR=50.09) showed a higher risk of adolescents becoming obese. Nadia (2015) showed that excess fat intake increased the risk of obesity by 2.46 times, Weni (2015) showed the risk of obesity by 2.34 times with excessive fat intake,

	Obesi	tas	Tidak Obe	esitas		Odds Ratio		Odds	Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Rando	om, 95% Cl	
imelda, 2020	15	27	24	91	20.6%	3.49 [1.43, 8.50]				
Kartika, 2012	9	10	10	20	10.3%	9.00 [0.95, 84.90]		+		
Nadia, 2015	16	25	6	13	16.5%	2.07 [0.53, 8.10]				
Rizki, 2018	20	28	13	38	19.2%	4.81 [1.67, 13.86]				
Tuti, 2016	20	21	17	26	10.8%	10.59 [1.22, 92.25]				
Weni, 2015	30	67	42	77	22.6%	0.68 [0.35, 1.30]			_	
Total (95% CI)		178		265	100.0%	2.92 [1.15, 7.46]			•	
Total events	110		112							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.90; Ch	i ^z = 18.:	54, df = 5 (F	P = 0.002	2); i² = 739	%	L	0,1 1		100
Test for overall effect	Z = 2.24	(P = 0.0)2)				0.01		Favours [Tidak Obe:	

Figure 3. Forest Plot, the relationship of protein intake with obesity in adolescents

	Obesi	tas	Tidak Obe	sitas		Odds Ratio		Odds	Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Rando	om, 95% Cl	
imelda, 2020	22	35	17	83	20.2%	6.57 [2.76, 15.66]				
Kartika, 2012	18	22	2	17	12.2%	33.75 [5.41, 210.49]				
Nadia, 2015	8	11	13	25	14.3%	2.46 [0.53, 11.50]				
Putu, 2017	29	40	1	20	10.3%	50.09 [5.97, 420.36]				→
Rizki, 2018	30	58	3	8	14.4%	1.79 [0.39, 8.17]			-	
Tuti, 2016	9	9	15	34	6.8%	23.90 [1.29, 443.63]				→
Weni, 2015	41	67	31	77	21.8%	2.34 [1.20, 4.57]				
Total (95% CI)		242		264	100.0%	6.20 [2.54, 15.13]				
Total events	157		82							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.83; Chi	i ² = 17.	52, df = 6 (F	P = 0.008	3); I² = 66°	%	L	01 1	10	100
Test for overall effect:	Z=4.01 ((P < 0.0)001)				0.01		Favours [Tidak Obe	

Figure 4. Forest Plot Relationship between fat intake and obesity in adolescents

but Rizki (2018) study showed no relationship between fat intake and the incidence of obesity in adolescents. This is evidenced by the p-value in the Heterogeneity test, which is p = 0.008, and the I² value 66%, so the random effect model is used in this analysis. The forest plot above shows that the pooled odds ratio obtained is 6.20 (95% Cl 2.54 – 15.13), so it can be concluded that excessive fat intake has a 6.20 times greater risk of obesity in adolescents. There is a significant relationship between fat intake and obesity; this is evidenced by the value of p = 0.0001.

Figure 5a below shows a funnel plot of the relationship between carbohydrate intake and obesity in adolescents. The left plot has a standard error between 0.4 - 1.75, while the right plot has a standard error of 0.3 - 1.25. Figure 3 shows an asymmetric distribution of research, where the distribution of research is not balanced between the left and right of the center line boundary. Figure 5b shows a funnel plot of the relationship between protein intake and obesity in adolescents. The left plot has a standard error between 0.4 - 0.8, while the right plot has a standard error of 0.5 - 1.25. Figure 3 shows an asymmetric distribution of research, where the distribution of research is not balanced between the left and right of the center line boundary. Figure 5c above shows a funnel plot of the relationship between fat intake and obesity in adolescents. The left plot has a standard error of 0.2 - 0.7, while the right plot has a standard

error of 0.5 - 1.5. Figure 5 shows an asymmetric distribution of research, where the distribution of research is not balanced between the left and right of the center line boundary. Based on the Funnel Plot image, it can be concluded that there is a publication bias.

DISCUSSION

Based on a review of 7 articles, the prevalence of obesity problems was 47.58%. The causes of obesity in adolescents are multifactorial, including adolescents who have excessive energy intake, fat intake, protein, and carbohydrate intake. Another factor that can cause obesity is the frequent Consumption of Fast food. The fastfood menu is high in calories, salt, and fat. Fast food consumption can cause various diseases, including obesity (Mulyani et al., 2020). The primary cause of obesity is an energy imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure over a long period. Excess energy intake is obtained from lack of physical activity, consumption of high-energy foods and snacks such as fast food, and psychosocial influences (Kartolo & Santoso, 2022).

In the seven articles reviewed, it was found that obese adolescents had a percentage of carbohydrate intake of more than 64.26%, protein intake of 62.25%, and fat intake greater than 66.97%. Carbohydrates are the primary source



Information:

- SE : Standard Error
- Representing Articles
- ----- : Center Line to see the symmetry of the plot

of macronutrients for the body; if the intake of carbohydrates is excessive, the cells can convert carbohydrates into fat. Carbohydrates that enter through food intake must be balanced with the body needs. An imbalance in carbohydrate intake that enters body can last for a long time, causing nutritional problems, including obesity (Sineke et al., 2019). If adolescents consume protein in amounts that are more than needed, most of the excess protein will be stored in the form of fat. Foods that are high in protein are usually high in fat, which can lead to obesity (Sopiah et al., 2021). Fat intake is the most dominant factor associated with obesity in adolescents. Fat intake has a relationship with obesity; excessive fat intake in the long term can trigger obesity (Telisa et al., 2020).

In this study, carbohydrate intake has a significant relationship with the incidence of obesity in adolescents. Adolescents with excessive carbohydrate intake have a 2.58 times greater risk of being obese. Carbohydrates are nutrients needed by the body in large amounts to produce energy. Adolescents with more carbohydrate intake will be at risk of obesity compared to adolescents who have sufficient carbohydrate intake. Obesity can occur because the carbohydrate intake exceeds the nutritional adequacy rate. Adolescents with more carbohydrate intake will increase insulin secretion, fat storage, and serum triglyceride levels. Excess intake will be stored in muscle or fat. However, if it accumulates for a long time, it will cause obesity. This study is in line with research on adolescents in Kayuuwi village, which states that adolescents with excess carbohydrate intake have a significant relationship with obesity. Carbohydrates are needed for growth, metabolism, utilization of food, and activity. Carbohydrates that enter through food intake must be balanced with body needs. The imbalance in carbohydrate intake that enters the body can last for a long time, causing nutritional problems, including obesity metabolism, food utilization, and activity. Carbohydrates that enter through food intake must be balanced with body needs. The imbalance in carbohydrate intake that enters the body can last for a long time, causing nutritional problems, including obesity metabolism, food utilization, and activity. Carbohydrates that enter through food intake must be balanced

with body needs. The imbalance in carbohydrate intake that enters the body can last for a long time, causing nutritional problems, including obesity (Rorimpadei et al., 2020).

Protein intake is a protective factor that can act as an energy source. This is because the intake of fat and carbohydrates is insufficient, so it breaks down protein. Research at Pekunden Elementary School in Semarang said a relationship existed between protein intake and the incidence of obesity (p = 0.01). Excess protein intake will break down cell protein into amino acids to be used as energy or stored as fat. In this study, protein intake had 2.92 times greater risk for obesity in adolescents (Rizki et al., 2018). Protein is used as an energy source after undergoing a deaminase process in the liver, namely the hydrolysis of amino acids into keto acids and ammonia (NH_4^+) . Then, the amino acids enter the Krebs cycle to be converted into acetyl Co-A, which has been formed and is used to produce fatty acids. Fatty acids play a role in forming adipose cells, forming fat tissue that can increase body weight and become obese (Sopiah et al., 2021). Protein intake in research subjects came from food sources such as vegetable protein and animal protein. Food sources of vegetable protein in adolescents come from nuts, soy products (tofu, tempeh), vegetables, and fruit. One exchange unit of bean (20 gram), tofu (110 gram), and tempeh (50 gram) contain 5 gram of protein. Vegetable and fruit also contain protein but in small amount. One unit of vegetable B (spinach, broccoli, kale, etc.) contain 1 gram of protein, while vegetable C (cassava leave, young jackfruit, etc.) contain 3 gram of protein. The vegetable protein intake consumed by adolescents is mostly coming from fruit. However, because the protein content of fruit is present in small amount, soybean products are the food source of vegetable protein that contribute the most significant to protein content. Subjects' median intake of soy products was 65 gram/day. This amount is still less than the recommended vegetable protein intake, 2-3 units of exchange in one day (Beti, 2015).

Fat intake is the most dominant factor associated with obesity in adolescents. In this study, excessive fat intake had a 6.20 times greater risk for adolescent obesity. Fat intake that exceeds needs in the long term can trigger obesity. Fat is

an essential nutrient as an energy source for every gram of fat that comes from food; the oxidation process in the body will produce nine calories (Sjahmien, 2017). Fat has an unlimited storage capacity, so excess fat intake is followed by increased fat oxidation; about 96% of fat will be stored in the body. In line with Fitriani (2020) said that there was a significant relationship between fat intake and obesity at SMA 86 Jakarta students obtained an OR value of 2.27, which means that respondents have a level of fat intake that is 2.27 times more likely to be obese. Excess fat intake will increase the risk of obesity and will most likely increase the risk of cardiovascular disease (Soetjiningsih, 2004). The advantage of a meta-analysis study is that this method offers a mechanism for estimating the size of the effect in statistical terms (Odds Ratio), and it is significant; combining data from various studies will increase generalization capabilities and statistical power, while the weakness is that there is publication bias.

CONCLUSION

Of the seven articles reviewed, most of the adolescents had an excessive intake of macronutrients, with a prevalence of obesity problems of 47.58%. There is a significant relationship between carbohydrate, protein, and fat intake with obesity in adolescents. It is hoped that it can be used as input and for adolescents to monitor the intake of macronutrients so that no excess intake can lead to obesity in adolescents. Future researchers can conduct similar research by searching for articles in other sources such as DOAJ, Elsevier, Scopus, and Oxford Academic.

REFERENCES

- Anggraeny, O., Ridhanti, D. and Nugroho, F.A., 2018. Tidak ada korelasi antara asupan karbohidrat sederhana, lemak jenuh, dan tingkat aktivitas fisik dengan status gizi pada remaja dengan kegemukan dan obesitas. AcTion: Aceh Nutrition Journal, 3(1), pp.1-8.
- Beti, suryandari dwi. (2015). Hubungan Asupan Protein Dengan Obesitas Pada Remaja. *Journal* of Nutrition College, 4(4), 1–25. https://doi. org/10.14710/jnc.v4i4.10159
- Dewi, P.L.P. and Kartini, A., 2017. Hubungan

pengetahuan gizi, aktivitas fisik dan asupan energi, asupan lemak dengan kejadian obesitas pada remaja SMP. *Journal of Nutrition College*, 6(3), pp.257-261.

- Fitriani, R. (2020). Hubungan Antara Pengetahuan Gizi Seimbang, Citra Tubuh, Tingkat Kecukupan Energi dan Zat Gizi Makro dengan Status Gizi pada Siswa SMA Negeri 86 Jakarta. Gorontalo Journal Health and Science Community, 2(2), 29–38. https://doi.org/10.35971/gojhes. v4i1.5041
- Indrasari, O. and Sutikno, E., 2020. Faktor Yang Mempengaruhi Status Gizi Remaja Usia 16-18 Tahun. *Jurnal Kesehatan Indonesia*, 10(3), pp.128-132.
- Kartolo, M. S., & Santoso, A. H. (2022). Hubungan Frekuensi Konsumsi, Asupan Energi, Lemak, Gula dan Garam dalam Fast Food dengan Kejadian Obesitas pada Siswa/I SMP X Yogyakarta. *Ebers Papyrus*, 28(1), 38–50.
- Kurdanti, W., Suryani, I., Syamsiatun, N.H., Siwi, L.P., Adityanti, M.M., Mustikaningsih, D. and Sholihah, K.I., 2015. Faktor-faktor yang mempengaruhi kejadian obesitas pada remaja. Jurnal Gizi Klinik Indonesia, 11(4), pp.179-190
- Mulyani, N. S., Arnisam, A., Fitri, S. H., & Ardiansyah, A. (2020). Faktor Penyebab Obesitas Pada Remaja Putri Di Aceh Besar. *Jurnal Riset Gizi*, 8(1), 44–47. https://doi. org/10.31983/jrg.v8i1.5472
- Nadia Loliana, N.L. and Nadhiroh, S.R., 2015. Asupan dan kecukupan gizi antara remaja obesitas dengan non obesitas. *Media Gizi Indonesia*, 10(2).
- Pajriyah, & Sulaeman. (2021). Hubungan Tingkat Pengetahuan Siswa Terhadap Pola Makan Dan Aktivitas Fisik Dengan Kejadian Kelebihan Berat Badan Di SMA Daarul Mukhtarin Tangerang. *Nusantara Hasana Journal*, 1(1), 95–101.
- Praditasari, J.A. and Sumarmik, S., 2018. Asupan Lemak, Aktivitas Fisik Dan Kegemukan Pada Remaja Putri Di Smp Bina Insani Surabaya. *Media Gizi Indonesia*, 13(2), p.117.
- Pratiwi, I., Arsyati, A.M. and Nasution, A., 2022. Faktor-Faktor yang Mempengaruhi Kejadian Obesitas pada Remaja di Smpn 12 Kota Bogor Tahun 2021. *Promotor*, 5(2), pp.156-164.
- Primashanti, D.A.D. and Sidiartha, I.G.L., 2018. Perbandingan asupan energi, karbohidrat, protein dan lemak dengan angka kecukupan gizi pada anak obesitas. *Medicina*, 49(2).

Ainun and Simbolon. Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 29–35 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.29–35

- Putri, R.N., Nugraheni, S.A. and Pradigdo, S.F., 2022. Faktor-Faktor yang Berhubungan dengan Kejadian Obesitas Sentral pada Remaja Usia 15-18 Tahun di Provinsi DKI Jakarta (Analisis Riskesdas 2018). *Media Kesehatan Masyarakat Indonesia*, 21(3), pp.169-177.
- Restuastuti, T. and Ernalia, Y., 2016. *Hubungan pola* makan dan aktivitas fisik terhadap obesitas pada remaja di SMA Negeri 5 Pekanbaru (Doctoral dissertation, Riau University).
- Riskesdas. (2018). Laporan Riskesdas 2018
 Kementrian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia.
 In Laporan Nasional Riskesdas 2018 (Vol. 53, Issue 9, pp. 154–165). http://www.yankes.
 kemkes.go.id/assets/downloads/PMK No. 57
 Tahun 2013 tentang PTRM.pdf
- Riswanti, I. (2016). Media Buletin Dan Seni Mural Dalam Upaya Meningkatkan Pengetahuan Tentang Obesitas. *Journal of Health Education*, *1*(1), 62–70.
- Rizki, R. khoirur, Martha, A., & Deny, fitranti yudi. (2018). Journal of Nutrition College, *Jurnal Of Nutrition College*, 7(4), 162–168. https://doi. org/10.1038/184156a0
- Rorimpadei, C., Kapantow, N., & Malonda, N. (2020). Hubungan Antara Asupan Zat Gizi Makro Dengan Status Gizi Pada Remaja Putri Di Desa Kayuuwi Dan Kayuuwi Satu Kecamatan Kawangkoan Barat. *Ejournal.Unsrat. Ac.Id*, 9(4), 125–130. https://ejournal.unsrat.ac.id/ index.php/kesmas/article/view/29725
- Sani, S. P., & Handayani, L. (2021). Literature Review: Konsumsi Junk Food Dan Obesitas Pada Remaja. VISIKES: Jurnal Kesehatan Masyarakat, 20(2), 455–460. https://doi. org/10.33633/visikes.v20i2.4651

- Suryaputra, K. and Nadhiroh, S.R., 2012. Perbedaan pola makan dan aktivitas fisik antara remaja obesitas dengan non obesitas. *Makara Journal* of *Health Research*, 16(1), pp.45-50.
- Sineke, J., Kawulusan, M., Purba, R. B., & Dolang, A. (2019). Hubungan Tingkat Pengetahuan Gizi Dan Pola Makan Dengan Kejadian Obesitas Pada Siswa SMK Negeri 1 Biaro. Jurnal GIZIDO, 11(01), 28–35. https://doi. org/10.47718/gizi.v11i01.752
- Sjahmien, M. (2017). *Dasar dasar Ilmu Gizi* (1st ed.). Pustaka Kemang.
- Soetjiningsih. (2004). *Tumbuh Kembang Remaja* dan Permasalahannya. sagung seto.
- Sopiah, L., Lestari, W., Suraya, R., Yulita, & Nababan, A. S. V. (2021). Faktor yang Berhubungan Dengan Obesitas Remaja di Kelurahan Bunut Barat Kecamatan Kisaran Barat. *Journal of Nursing and Health Science*, 1(1), 8–13.
- Suha, G.R. and Rosyada, A., 2022. 'Faktor-Faktor yang Berhubungan dengan Kejadian Obesitas pada Remaja Umur 13-15 Tahun di Indonesia (analisis lanjut data Riskesdas 2018). Jurnal Ilmu Gizi Indonesia, 6(1), pp.43-56.
- Suraya, R. (2018). Pengaruh Konsumsi Makanan Jajanan, Aktivitas Fisik, Screen Time, dan Durasi Tidur Terhadap Obesitas Pada Remaja. *Jurnal Dunia Gizi*, 3(2), 80–87. https://doi. org/10.33085/jdg.v3i2.4732
- Telisa, I., Hartati, Y., & Haripamilu, A. D. (2020). Faktor Risiko Terjadinya Obesitas Pada Remaja SMA. *Faletehan Health Journal*, 7(03), 124– 131. https://doi.org/10.33746/fhj.v7i03.160
- Vionie, I. P., & Novera, H. (2020). Literature Review: Pola Makan Dan Aktivitas Fisik Pada Obesitas Remaja. *National Conference for Ummah.*

THE EFFECT OF SOY MILK WITH BOILED MORINGA LEAVES ON BLOOD SUGAR LEVELS IN TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS PATIENTS: STUDY IN BENGKULU, INDONESIA

Boy Zedra Ananda Pratama Putra¹, Tonny Cortis Maigoda^{1*}, Desri Suryani¹

¹Department of Nutrition, Poltekkes, Ministry of Health, Bengkulu, Indonesia *E-mail: tony@poltekkesbengkulu.ac.id

ABSTRACT

Diabetes mellitus is a significant threat to society and even results in death. The content of soybeans that can lower blood glucose levels are protein, isoflavones, fiber, and a low glycemic index. Moringa leaves contain antioxidants such as flavonoids, vitamin A, E, C, and selenium, which help lower blood glucose levels. However, it is unknown whether combining soy milk with boiled moringa leaves is also beneficial in reducing blood sugar levels. This study aimed to determine how combining soy milk and boiled moringa leaves affects blood sugar levels in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients at Posbindu Puskesmas Nusa Indah. Bengkulu city in 2023. The design used in this study is a pre-experimental design with a pre-test and post-test design. Fifteen pre-elderly samples aged 45 to 59 years with blood sugar levels of 140 to 199 mg/dL were randomly selected as intervention targets in this study. The treatment combined 200 ml of soy milk with 150 mL of Moringa leaf decoction, and then 350 mL of soymilk was produced. The intervention was given twice daily, as much as 175 mL for seven days. Data analysis using the Paired T-test showed that there was a significant relationship between intervention and the sugar level of type 2 diabetes mellitus (p < 0.001). There was a substantial decrease in blood glucose levels after administering the soymilk intervention with Moringa leaf decoction after seven days of intervention with p < 0.001. This combination product can be used as a functional food ingredient as an alternative for lowering blood glucose levels.

Keywords: Soymilk, Moringa Leaves, Blood Sugar Levels, Pre-elderly

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a significant threat to society because it can cause complications from heart disease, obesity and even death. Many epidemiological studies show an increase in the prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in the world (Hermawan et al., 2021). Bad eating habits cause sugar and fat levels in the body to increase excessively. This forces the pancreatic gland to work hard to produce the hormone insulin to process the incoming sugar. Lifestyle changes appear to be an essential cause of this problem. It is estimated that there are still many (around 50%) undiagnosed diabetes in Indonesia. DM complications that often occur, especially in the nervous system or neuropathy, will cause an increase in morbidity and mortality so that the financial impact on DM becomes high and the productivity of DM patients decreases (Perkeni, 2021).

The International Diabetes Federation IDF (2021) estimates that at least 537 million people aged between 20 and 79 years suffer from diabetes

worldwide in 2021, representing a prevalence of 1 in 10 of the total population of the same age. The IDF estimates that the global diabetes population is expected to increase to 643 million by 2030 and 783 million by 2045. Undiagnosed diabetes affects nearly 1 in 2 adults. As many as 541 million people are at higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes as they get older; the prevalence of diabetes increases to 19.9% or 111.2 million at the age of 65-79 years.

Globally, countries in the Arab region, North Africa and the West Pacific are ranked first and second with a prevalence of diabetes in the population aged 20-79 years of 12.2% and 11.4%; Southeast Asia is ranked third with 11.3% of sufferers. Indonesia is ranked 7th among ten countries with a high number of Diabetes Mellitus sufferers, so it can be estimated that Indonesia's contribution to the prevalence of Diabetes cases in Southeast Asia (Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 2020). The 2018 Basic Health Research (*Riset Kesehatan Dasar – Riskesdas*) results show that the prevalence of diabetes Putra et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 36–44 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 36–44

mellitus in Indonesia based on a doctor's diagnosis at age >15 years is 2%. This figure shows an increase compared to the prevalence of diabetes mellitus in the population aged >15 years in the 2013 *Riskesdas* results of 1.5%. However, the prevalence of diabetes mellitus, according to blood sugar examination results, increased from 6.9% in 2013 to 8.5% in 2018.

Based on the profile of the Bengkulu City Health Service, in 2021, 17,419 people were suffering from Diabetes Mellitus and the prevalence was obtained based on doctor's diagnosis in the population aged 15 years in Bengkulu Province, 1.26%, the highest prevalence is in Bengkulu City with 1.77%, with female gender being more suffer from diabetes with the number of 1.13% compared to the number of men of 0.69%. Based on the service profile of the Bengkulu City Community Health Center, the highest community health center is the Nusa Indah Community Health Center, which had an incidence of DM of 140 people in 2021. One method of treating Diabetes Mellitus is non-pharmacological in the form of diet therapy, exercise, education, and counselling (Partika et al., 2018).

Soymilk is a highly nutritious drink. It contains lecithin compounds for metabolic balance and the amino acid arginine, which can maintain the balance of the insulin hormone (Rahadiyantie et al., 2017). Apart from soy milk, several plants can also be used as alternative treatments for Diabetes Mellitus, such as Moringa leaves. Moringa leaves (Moringa oleifera) are one of the readily available plants in Indonesia. Moringa leaves contain antioxidants such as flavonoids, vitamin A, E, C, and selenium, which help lower blood glucose levels. Inhibition of the glucosidase enzyme causes a decrease in the rate of carbohydrate digestion into monosaccharides, which can be absorbed by the small intestine, thereby reducing postprandial hyperglycemia (Safitri, 2018). Based on the problems regarding Diabetes Mellitus, nonpharmacological treatments seem more efficient to use; besides being easy to find, they are also effortless to obtain with their benefits, such as soy milk and Moringa leaf decoction. Therefore, researchers researched the effect of boiled Moringa leaves and soy milk on reducing blood sugar levels in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus at

Posbindu, Nusa Indah Health Center, Bengkulu City, in 2023.

METHODS

The design used in this study was a preexperimental design with a pre-test and post-test design. The treatment was a combination of 200 mL of soy milk with a decoction of 150 mL of moringa leaves, producing as much soy milk as 350 mL. The intervention was given twice daily, as much as 175 mL for seven days. Purposive technique sampling was used to conduct this study. The sample size was calculated by using the Lemeshow formula (Lameshow, 1997) :

$$n = \frac{z^2 1 - \alpha/2P(1-P)}{d^2}$$

Where: n = sample size z= z score at 95% confidence = 1.96 P=maximum estimate = 0.5 D = alpha 0.10 or sampling error 10%

Based on the formula above, 15 people were obtained as subjects. Then, the subjects were selected according to the inclusion criteria in this study, including pre-elderly people aged 45 - 59 who have a current blood sugar level range between 140 - 199 mg/dL, do not take diabetes mellitus medication, and are willing to become a respondent by signing an informed consent paper.

A validated questionnaire and a reliability test measured knowledge. Knowledge was good if 8 out of 15 questions were correctly answered. According to Louis et al. (2007), Sedentary activity can be categorized as high if \geq 5 hours per day and as low if \leq 5 hours per day (ASAQ, 2007). Current blood sugar levels were measured by Easy Touch Test Strip 25S, with is followed these steps: preparing an easy touch device, cleaning your finger with an alcohol swab and frick it, and pushing and taking a sample of blood with a stick trip inaccessible touch equipment. See the blood glucose level result on the screen of an easy-touch display.

Bivariate analysis of the results used the Paired T-Test and Independent T-Test to compare the control group and treatment group regarding the average value of blood sugar levels before and after the intervention. Before data analysis is carried out, it is necessary to test the normality of the data first. The Ethics Committee of the Bengkulu Ministry of Health Poltekkes No. KEPK. BKL/471/07/2023 approved this research.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Characteristics of Respondents

Respondent characteristics assessed in this study include gender, physical activity, education, knowledge, and occupation. Table 1 presents the results of these characteristics.

Table 1 shows the results of the characteristic test for all pre-elderly ages, totalling 15 people 100%, women 9 people 60%, and men 6 people 40%. The physical activity of the respondents who worked amounted to 9 people 60% and those who did not work 6 people 40%.

Bivariate analysis result

The significant value of the intervention group <0.05, it can be concluded that the data is not normally distributed and the bivariate analysis used is the Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test to compare the differences between the two paired groups > 0.05, it can be concluded that the data are normally distributed, so bivariate analysis uses the Paired Sample T Test to test the average difference

Table 1. Respondents Characteristics

Characteristics Respondents	n	%
Gender		
Woman	9	60.0
Man	6	40.0
Physical Activity		
Not Sedentary	9	60.0
Sedentary	6	40.0
Education		
Elementary-junior high school	9	60.0
Senior high school-university level	6	40.0
Knowledge		
Good	7	46.7
Not good	8	53.3
Occupation		
Working	8	53.3
Not Working	7	46.7

 Table 2. The effect of soymilk with boiled moringa leaves on blood sugar level.

Random blood	Before Mean \pm SD	After Mean \pm SD	p-Value
sugar level	159.67±11.721	126.33 ± 9.904	< 0.001

between the two samples (before and after) as in Table 2.

In Table 2, it is found that the average value before being given treatment is 159.67 with a standard deviation of 11.72; after being given soy milk with moringa leaves, a decrease in blood sugar level changed with the average value of 126.33 with a standard deviation of 9.904. The P-value is <0.001, which is a significant value, so the results obtained show the effect of giving soy milk with boiled leaves moringa.

Based on research that has been conducted on 15 respondents with the administration of a combination of soymilk with boiled moringa leaves for seven days a week, given two times in the morning and evening, where there is a decrease in blood sugar level, the change in blood sugar level after and before with a p-value of <0.005 where this indicates that there is an influence from the intervention given done. The intervention decreased blood sugar level by 126.33 mg/dL.

Previous research that aligns with this research was conducted by Sartika (2019), who found that giving as much as 10 gram of soy milk daily can reduce sugar level. In the blood, it was found that there were differences in blood sugar levels before and after administration intervention. Blood sugar level decreased by 126.33 mg/dL. In line with Septian study, Wijaya (2019) shows the results of the effect of giving moringa leaf decoction lowering blood sugar level in diabetes mellitus; this is because soymilk contains isoflavone, saponin, lecithin and phytosterol which can lower blood sugar level.

The other major soybean bioactive compound are isoflavones, associated with protein. Soy isoflavones are phytochemical, often referred to as phytoestrogen because they are structurally sound, resemble ÿ-estradiol, and can bind to the estrogen receptor, but have a higher affinity, have estrogenic and anti-estrogenic properties as shown in cell culture and clinical studies. Most of the isoflavones naturally occur in soybeans as

glycoside, genistein, diazine, and glycerin; after being digested or fermented by ÿ- glucosidase, they are converted into bioactive forms, aglycones: genistein, daidzein, and glycerin (Rizzo et al., 2018). the considerable variation in the abundance of the respective isoflavones in soy and soy foods and their bioavailability resulted in inconsistent physiological functions found among different studies (Chatterjee et al., 2018). Some evidence suggests that Estrogen receptor (ER) binding is only part of the effects of isoflavones. Genistein and daidzein (and their metabolite equals) improve glycemic control and significantly alter homeostasis glucose through insulin secretion by inhibiting tyrosine kinase (TK) (Liu et al., 2013). Isoflavones activate adenosine 5-monophosphate (AMP)--activated protein kinase (AMPK). This results in a decrease in hepatic blood glucose while stimulating glucose uptake independent of insulin in skeletal muscle and modulating glucose transport in peripheral tissues.

In addition, isoflavones can also regulate lipid metabolism without the mediation of estrogen receptors, increase expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARÿ) and activate activated protein kinase (AMPK), which results in increased activity of the yang gene involved in lipoprotein metabolism reduces the production of triglyceride-rich particles and increasing its lipolysis promoting the metabolism of High-Density Lipoprotein promote absorption, utilization and catabolism of fatty acids (Kim et al, 2021). Isoflavones can also inhibit the expression and activity of sterolregulatory elements and protein-binding proteins (HDL), which bind to carbohydrate-regulatory elements. These proteins increase the expression of lipogenic genes and enzymes. Another key involved mechanism may be that soy isoflavones may modulate lipoprotein metabolism, including its effect on several enzymes necessary in lipid transformation, including lipoprotein lipase (LPL), hepatic lipase (HL) also called hepatic triglyceride lipase (HTGL), and alpha-hydroxylase (Mendonça et al., 2020). It contains soy milk Lactobacillus plantarum, which can improve lipid profiles and slow the development of nephropathy in diabetic patients (Abbasi et al., 2018). In addition, the structural similarities between soy isoflavones and

endogenous 17-ÿ-estradiol suggest that isoflavones, by binding to the estrogen receptor, cause gene activation and beneficial effects on glucose and lipid (Vargas-Sánchez et al., 2019)

Phytochemical analysis of Moringa leaves has revealed that Moringa leaves are rich in minerals such as potassium, calcium, iron and phosphorus and various antioxidants such as flavonoids and vitamin C. Moringa plants have been studied comprehensively in the treatment of multiple diseases such as typhoid fever, arthritis, malaria, swelling, skin diseases, parasitic diseases, hypertension, diabetes (Anwar et al., 2021). The protein obtained from Moringa leaves, Mo-LPI, reduces blood glucose levels and is a promising alternative or complementary agent for treating diabetes (Paula et al., 2017).

Moringa leaves have been shown to inhibit the activity of ÿ-glucosidase, ÿ-amylase pancreas, and intestinal sucrose, contributing to its antihyperglycemic properties. This inhibitory effect is possible thanks to phenols, flavonoids, and tannins in Moringa leaves. A delay in the digestion of carbohydrates, caused by inhibiting this enzyme, causes a decrease in post-prandial hyperglycemia and hemoglobin A1C (HbA1C) (Vargas-Sánchez et al., 2019). The antidiabetic activity of flavonoids supports the regulation of carbohydrate digestion, insulin signaling, insulin secretion, glucose uptake, and deposition of adipose (Sangeetha, 2019). Flavonoids target many of the molecules involved in regulating several pathways, such as increasing ÿ cell proliferation, increasing insulin secretion, reducing apoptosis, and repairing hyperglycemia by regulating glucose metabolism in the liver (Pandey et al., 2009).

Flavonoids hydrolyze and conjugate significant enzymes in the intestine, colon and liver. In the gut, Hydrolyzed and conjugated enzymes convert flavonoid monomer units into glucuronides, esters sulphate, and methyl esters (Al-Ishaq et al., 2019). Flavonoid conjugation occurs in two phases of the small intestine (phase one) and then in the liver, at the end of phase one and the beginning of phase two. In the liver, metabolites the conjugated conjugates undergo further processing to produce sulphate and glucuronide derivatives facilitated and excreted via bile and urine. Flavonoids that are not absorbed move to the colon, where they undergo hydrolysis or fermentation by the colonic microbiota. The microbiota hydrolyses flavonoid glucuronides in the liver into aglycones, then breaks down into lower molecular compounds that are easily absorbed (Thilakarathna et al., 2013).

The major limitation of this research is that it does not consider other factors that might confound the effects of the intervention on blood sugar levels, as it might bias the analysis crucial to conclude the results. Nonetheless, this study could be used as a pilot study and developed further with a better study design.

CONCLUSION

There is an effect of giving a combination of soy milk with boiled moringa leaves on blood sugar levels in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus at *Posbindu*, Nusa Indah Health Center, Bengkulu City, in 2023. For further research, apart from being given drinks, the raw materials of Moringa leaves and soy milk can be processed into other food forms, for example, Moringa leaf pudding with soymilk, thus reducing the boredom of diabetes mellitus sufferers.

REFERENCES

- Abbasi, B. et al. (2018) 'Effects Of Probiotic Soy Milk On Lipid Panel In Type 2 Diabetic Patients With Nephropathy: A Double-Blind Randomized Clinical Trial', Progress In Nutrition, 20(1), Pp. 70–78. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.23751/ Pn.V20i2-S.5342.
- Afitasari, DR, Yusuf, A. And Effendi, F. (2017)
 'Guava Juice Reduces Cholesterol Level For Elderly With Nurses, Hypertension', Journals 10–14. Https://Doi.Org/10.20473/Jn.V5i1.3918. 5(1), Pp.
- Al-Ishaq, RK et al. (2019) 'Flavonoids And Their Anti-Diabetic Effects: Cellular Mechanisms And Effects To Sugar Improved BlooAdt:HBitotpmso:/l/eDcouil.eOsr,gA/1v0a. i3la3b910e/Biom909L0e4v3e0ls', 9(9).
- Aminah, S. (2020) 'Components and Functional Characteristics of Soybean Sprouts', Proceedings of the Unimus National Seminar, 3, Pp. 1–5. Ansar J, Dwinata I, MA (2019) 'Determinants of Hypertension Occurrence in Posbindu Visitors in the Work Area of the Ballaparang Health Center, Makassar City', Health Sciences, 1(3), Pp. 28–35. Antioxidants-10-01064.Pdf'.

- Anwar, T. et al. (2021) 'Original Research Article Moringa Oleifera Lam's Antidiabetic Potential. Extract and Leaves in Type 2 Diabetic Rats , Mechanism of Action', 20(1), Pp. 97–104.
- Ardiyanto, I., Nuraeni, A. and Supriyono, M. (2017) 'The Effectiveness of Carambola Juice on Lowering Blood Pressure in the Elderly in Tawangmas Baru Village, West Semarang District', Scientific Journal of Nursing and Midwifery (Jikk), Pp. 1–8.
- Ayudya LN. and Rustanti, N. (2012) 'The Effect of Giving Soy Milk on Fasting Blood Glucose Levels in Prediabetic Women', Journal Of Nutrition College, 1(1), Pp. 382–387.
 Available At: Https://Media.Neliti.Com/Media/ Publications/185001-Id-Pengaruh-Asupan Makan- Energy-Karbohidrat.Pdf%0a.
- Azizah (2022) 'Pharmacotherapy Of Diabetic Mellitus: A Review Review: Pharmacotherapy of Diabetes Melitus', Journal Of Pharmacy And Science), 5(2), Pp. 80–91.
- Bara, A. et al. (2021) 'Effects of Soy Isoflavones on Glycemic Control and Lipid Profile in Type 2 Diabetes Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials'.
- Bhatt, H., Saklani, S. And Upadhayay, K. (2016) 'Anti-Oxidant And Anti-Diabetic Activities Of Ethanolic Extract Of Primula Denticulata Flowers', Indonesian Journal Of Pharmacy, 27(2), Pp. 74–79. Available At: Https://Doi. Org/10.14499/Indonesianjpharm27iss2pp74.
- Bulu, A., Wahyuni, TD And Sutriningsih, A. (2019)
 'Relationship Between Level of Compliance with Taking Medication and Blood Sugar Levels in Patients with Type I Diabetes Mellitus', Nursing News, 4(1), Pp. 181–189.
- Chakrabarti, S., Guha, S. And Majumder, K. (2018) 'Food-Derived Bioactive Peptides In Human Health: Challenges And Opportunities', Nutrients, 10(11), Pp. 1–17. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.3390/ Nu10111738.
- Chao, WX (2008) 'Health Effects Of Soy Protein And Isoflavones In Humans', Journal Of Nutrition, 138(6), pp. 4–9. Available At: Https:// Doi.Org/10.1093/Jn/138.6.1244s.
- Chatterjee, C., Gleddie, S. And Xiao, CW (2018) 'Soybean Bioactive Peptides And Their Functional Properties', Nutrients, 10(9), 8–11. Https://Doi.Org/10.3390/Nu10091211. Pp.Available At:
- Denta, AO And Fauziyah, E. (2022) 'Moringa Leaf Powder Effectively Lowers Blood Glucose

Putra et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal)

Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 36–44 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 36–44

Levels and Cholesterol Levels in Obese Individuals', Wiraraja Medika: Journal of Health, 12(1), Pp. 10–16. Available AtHttps:// Ejournalwiraraja.Com/Index.Php/Fik/Article/ View/1712%0ahttps:// Ejournalwiraraja.C om/ Index.Php/Fik/Article/Download/1712/1359.

- Diana, A. (2022) 'The Use of Moringa Leaves as Anti-Thesis By':, State Islamic University of Maulana Malik Ibrahim Malang [Preprint], (Relationship between Knowledge Level and Behavior of Using Moringa Leaves as an Anti-Hypercholesterolemia in Gondanglegi District, Malang Regency).
- Ekasari, E. And Dhanny, DR (2022) 'Factors Affecting Blood Glucose Levels in Type II Diabetes Mellitus Patients Age 46-65 Years In Wakatobi District', Journal Of Nutrition College, 11(2), Pp. 154–162. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.14710/Jnc.V11i2.32881.
- Email, SU (2022) 'The Effect of Giving Soy Milk on Blood Glucose Levels in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus at the Pagar Jati Health Center, Lubuk Pakam Karmila District Br Proceeding B-ICON 2023, https://doi. org/10.33088/bicon.v1i1.65 www.proceeding. poltekkesbengkulu.ac.id Kaban 5 123 456 Bachelor of Nursing Study Program, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Prima Indonesia University, 3(1), Pp. 107–113.
- Fahmi, NF, Firdaus, N. And Putri, N. (2020) 'The Effect of Time Delay on Blood Glucose Levels During the Poct Method in College Students', Journal of Nursing Update, 11(2), Pp.1–11. Available At: Hhttps://Stikes-Nhm.E-Journal. Id.
- Febriyanto, DN And Prihatin, S. (2016) 'The Effect of Giving Soybean Milk on Blood Glucose Levels in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Effect Of Soybean Milk Giving Blood Glucose Levels For People By Type 2 Diabetes Dicky Nurwahyu Febrianto 1, Setyo Prihatin 2 ', Nutrition Research Journal, 4(1), Pp. 69–73.
- Fitriani, F. And Sanghati, S. (2021) 'Lifestyle Intervention for Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Pre- Diabetic Patients', Scientific Journal of Health Sandi Husada, 10(2), Pp. 704– 714. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.35816/ Jiskh.V10i2.682.
- Guo, B. et al. (2022) 'Soybean Genetic Resources Contributing To Sustainable Protein Production', Pp. 4095– Theoretical And Applied Genetics, 135(11), Https://Doi.Org/10.1007/S00122-022-04222-9. 4121. Available At:

- H, DS (2008) 'Response of Soybean Plants (Glycine Max (L.) Merril) to Acid Soil', Pp. 1–21.
- Hermawan, D., Wahyudi, T. And Djamaludin, D. (2021) 'The Influence of Lifestyle on the Incidence of Diabetes Mellitus at a Productive Age in the Working Area of the Gading Rejo Health Center, Pringsewu Regency, 2019', Journal of Public Health, 10(2), pp. 145– 157.
- Husna, DS And Puspita, ID (2020) 'Nutrition Research Journal', Nutrition Research Journal, 8(1), Pp. 76–84. Available At: Http://Ejournal. Poltekkes-Smg.Ac.Id/Ojs/Index.Php/Jrg/ Article/View/6273/2008.
- Ibrahim, Irviani A, YE (2020) 'Cholesterol Levels in State Civil Apparatus', Journal of Health, 13(1), Pp. 53–Available At: Https://Doi. Org/10.24252/Kesehatan.V13i1.14156.Idf (2017) Eighth Edition 2017, Idf Diabetes Atlas, 8th Edition. Available At: Https://Www.Idf.Org/ Aboutdiabetes/ Type-2-Diabetes.Html.
- Ismawati, R. (2016) 'Study of Respondents' Preference for Diversity Side Dishes From Moringa Leaves (Moringa Oleivera)', 5(1), Pp. 17–22.
- Kabosu, RAS, Adu, AA And Hinga, IAT (2019)
 'Risk Factors for Type Two Diabetes Mellitus in Bhayangkara Hospital, Kupang City', Timorese Journal Of Public Health, 1(1), Pp. 11–20. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.35508/Tjph. V1i1.2122.
- Lemeshow, 1997, Besar Sampel Dalam Penelitian Kesehatan, Yogyakarta, UGM
- Ministry of Health (2019) 'Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia', Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 1(1), P
- Ministry of Health of Republic of Indonesia. (2020) 'Infodatin Remains Productive, Prevents, and Overcomes Diabetes Mellitus 2020', Center for Data and Information of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, Pp. 1–10.
- Nursing, J. Et Al. (2021) 'Literature Review: Benson's Relaxation Technique', 7(October 2020), Pp. 49–61.
- Kim, IS (2022) 'Current Perspectives On The Beneficial Effects Of Soybean Isoflavones And Their Metabolites On Plants', Food Science And Biotechnology, 31(5), Pp. 515–526. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.1007/ S10068-022-01070-7.
- Kim, IS, Yang, WS And Kim, CH (2021) 'Beneficial Effects Of Soybean-Derived Bioactive Peptides', International Journal Of Molecular Sciences,

Putra et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 36–44 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 36–44

22(16), Pp. 1–23. Available At: Https://Doi. Org/10.3390/ Ijms22168570.

- Kondo, S. et al. (2021) 'Antidiabetic Effect Of Taxifolin In Cultured L6 Myotubes And Type 2 Diabetic Model Kk-Ay/Ta Mice With Hyperglycemia And Hyperuricemia', Current Issues In Molecular Biology, 43(3), Pp. Https:// Doi.Org/10.3390/Cimb43030092. 1293–1306. Available At:
- Kou, X. et al. (2018) 'Nutraceutical Or Pharmacological Potential Of Moringa Oleifera Lam.', Nutrients, 10(3). Available At: Https:// Doi.Org/10.3390/Nu10030343.
- Lathifah, NL (2017) 'The Relationship Between Disease Duration And Blood Glucose Related To Subjective Compliance In Diabetes Mellitus', Jurnal Berkala Epidemiologi, 5(2), P. 218.
 Available At: Https://Doi.Org/ 10.20473/Jbe. V5i22017.218-230.
- Lestari, Zulkarnain And Sijid, SA (2021a) 'Diabetes Melitus: Review of Etiology, Pathophysiology, Symptoms, Causes, Methods of Examination, Methods of Treatment and Methods of Prevention', Uin Alauddin Makassar, (November), Pp. 237–241.
- Lestari, Zulkarnain And Sijid, SA (2021b) 'Diabetes Melitus: Review of Etiology, Pathophysiology, Symptoms, Causes, Methods of Examination, Methods of Treatment and Methods of Prevention', Uin Alauddin Makassar, (November), Pp. 237–241. Available At: Http:// Journal.Uin-Alauddin.Ac.Id/Index.Php/Psb.
- Liu, D. And Gilbert, E.. (2013) 'Anti-Diabetic Functions Of Soy Isoflavone Genistein: Mechanisms Proceedings B-ICON 2023 Underlying', 4(2), PpF. Ood funct, 200– 212. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.1039/ C2fo30199g.Anti-Diabetic.
- Maryati, H. (2017) 'The Relationship between Cholesterol Levels and Blood Pressure in Hypertension Patients in Sidomulyo Hamlet, Rejoagung Village, Ploso District, Jombang Regency', Journal of Nursing, 8(2), Pp. 128– 137. Available At: Http://Ejournal.Umm.Ac.Id/ Index.Php/Keperawatan/Issue/View.
- De Mendonça, MAA Et Al. (2020) 'Red Propolis And Its Dyslipidemic Regulator Formononetin: Evaluation Of Antioxidant Activity And Gastroprotective Effects In Rat Model Of Gastric Ulcer', Nutrients, 12(10), Pp. 1–17. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.3390/Nu12102951. Molecules-22- 00271.Pdf' (No Date).

Morito, K. et al. (2001) 'Interaction Of

Phytoestrogens With Estrogen Receptors ÿ Andÿ', Biological And Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 24(4), 351–356. Https://Doi.Org/10.1248/ Bpb.24.351. Pp. Available At:

- Muliani, U. (2013) 'Intake of Nutritional Substances and Blood Sugar Levels in Type 2 DM Patients at the Internal Medicine Polyclinic of Dr. H. Abdul Moeloek Lampung Province', Journal of Health, 4(2), Pp. 325–Available At: Https:// Ejurnal.Poltekkes-Tjk.Ac.Id/Index.Php/Jk/ Article/Download/74/67.
- Nuraini, HY and Supriatna, R. (2019) 'Relationship between diet, physical activity and family history of type 2 diabetes mellitus', Journal of Public Health Sciences, 5(1), Pp.5–14. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.33221/Jikm.V5i1.14.
- Nuraisyah, F. (2018) 'Risk Factors for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus', Journal of Midwifery and Nursing Aisyiyah, 13(2), Pp. 120–127. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.31101/Jkk.395.
- Nurmawati, T. (2017) 'Study of Physiological Responses and Blood Sugar Levels in White Rats (Rattus Norvegicus) Exposed to Streptozotocin (Stz)', Journal of Nurses and Midwifery, 4(3), Pp. 244–247. Available At: Https://Doi. Org/10.26699/Jnk.V4i3.Art.P244-247.
- Pandey, KB And Rizvi, SI (2009) 'Plant Polyphenols As Dietary Antioxidants In Human Health And Disease', Oxidative Medicine And Cellular Longevity, 2(5), Pp. 270–278. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.4161/ Oxim.2.5.9498.
- Partika, R., Angraini, DI and Fakhruddin, H. (2018) 'The Effect of Doctor's Nutrition Counseling on Increasing Dietary Compliance in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus The Effect Of Nutritious Counseling On Increases Diet Compliance Of Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus', Majority, 7(3), Pp. 276–283.
- Pasaribu, KD, Napitupulu, RRJ And Sitepu, JN (2022) 'The Effect of Avocado Extract on Total Cholesterol Levels in Obese Male Wistar Rats', Nommensen Journal Of Medicine, 7(2), Pp. 27–30. Available At: Https:// Doi.Org/10.36655/ Njm.V7i2.604.
- Paula, PC et al. (2017) 'A Protein Isolate From Moringa Oleifera Leaves Has Hypoglycemic And Antioxidant Effects In Alloxan-Induced Diabetic Mice', Molecules, 22(2). Available At: Https:// Doi.Org/10.3390/ Molecules22020271.
- Perkeni, 2021 (2021) 'Guidelines for the Management and Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Adults in Indonesia 2021', Global Initiative For Asthma, P. 46. Available At: Www.

Putra et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 36–44 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 36–44

Ginasthma.Org.

- Puspita, Y. (2021) 'The Effect of Giving Red Dragon Fruit Juice (Hylocereus Polyrhizus) and Education on Cholesterol Levels in Pre-Hypercholesterolemia State Civil Servants in Bengkulu City', P. 12.
- Putra, AL, Wowor, PM and Wungouw, HIS (2015) 'Description of Blood Sugar Levels in Class 2015 Students at the Faculty of Medicine, University of Sam Ratulangi Manado', Journal of E-Biomedik, 3(3). Available At: Https://Doi. Org/10.35790/Ebm.3.3.2015.10153.
- Rahadiyanti, A. And Mulyati, T. (2017) 'The Effect of Soy Tempeh on Decreasing Blood Glucose Levels in Prediabetes' Introduction Diabetes Mellitus (Dm) Becomes the Most Common Problem in World . Many Developed and Berk Countries', Darussalam Nutrition Journal, 1(2), Pp. 19–30.
- Rahayu, KB, Saraswati, LD And Setyawan, H. (2018) 'Factors Associated with Blood Sugar Levels in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (Studies in the Work Area of the Kedungmundu Health Center, Semarang City', Journal of Public Health, 6 (2), Pp 19–28 Available At:Https://Ejournal3.Undip.Ac.Id/Index.Php/Jkm/Article/Download/20782/19487.
- Rahayu, SAD& S. (2020) 'Factors Associated with Diet Compliance in Type II Diabetes Mellitus Patients', Journal of Nursing Science Stikes Hang Tuah Surabaya, 15(1), Pp. 124–138.
- Rahman, MA (2018) 'Comparison of the Effectiveness of Tomato Fruit Juice (Lycopersicum Esculantum Mill.) With Red Guava Fruit Juice (Psidium Guajava L.) Against Decreasing Total Cholesterol Levels In Male White Rats Induced By Egg Yolk', Thesis, Pp. 1–86.
- Rao, H. etal. (2021) 'Emerging Roles Of Dyslipidemia And Hyperglycemia In Diabetes Proceeding B-ICON 2023, https://doi.org/10.33088/bicon. v1i1.65 www.proceeding.poltekkesbengkulu. ac.id Retinopathy: Molecular Mechanisms And Clinical Perspectives', Frontiers In Endocrinology, 12(March). Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.3389/Fendo.2021.620045.
- Risnawati, R. And Demmalewa, JQ (2022)
 'Differences in Therapeutic Effectiveness of Moringa Leaf Decoction and Apple Juice for Reducing Blood Sugar Levels in Patients with Type 2 DM', Manarang Health Journal, 8(1), P. 75. Available At : Https://Doi.Org/10.33490/ Jkm.V8i1.514.

- Rizzo, G. And Baroni, L. (2018) Soy, Soy Foods And Their Role in Vegetarian Diets, Nutrients. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.3390/ Nu10010043.
- Safitri, Y. (2018) 'The Effect of Giving Moringa Leaf Decoction on Blood Sugar Levels in Patients with Type 2 DM in Bangkinang Village, City Health Center Working Area, 2017', Ners Journal, 2(2), Pp . 43–50. Available At: Https:// Doi.Org/10.31004/Jn.V2i2.191.
- Sangeetha, R. (2019) 'Luteolin In The Management Of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus', Current Research 393–398. Nutrition And Food Science In Https://Doi.Org/10.12944/Crnfsj.7.2.09. 7(2), Pp. Available At: Sarafatayat et al. (2018) 'The Effect of Red Dragon Fruit Pudding (Hylocereus Polyrhizus) Against Total Cholesterol Levels Outpatient Hypercholesterolemia in Mataram City Hospital, Journal of Prime Nutrition Journal, 3(2), Pp. 100–107.
- Sartika Et Al (2019) 'The Effect of Giving Soy Milk and Dm Dm Type Ii Exercise at Persadia Club Rs Islam Cempaka Putih Jakarta Effect Of Soy Milk To Decrease Blood Glucose Levels In Patients With Type 2 Diabetes In Persadia Club Cempaka Putih Jakarta Islamic Hospital', (1).
- Sela, A. (2023) 'Resource Allocations In The Best-Of-K (K= 2 3) Conte, sts', Journal Of Economics/ Zeitschrift Fur Nationalokonomie, Pp. 146–153. Available AWt: .5(September), Https://Doi.Org/10.1007/S00712-023-00827-
- Selviani, S. And Miftahul, F. (2022) 'Application of Star Juice to Reduce Blood Pressure in Hypertension Patients In Rt 004 Rw 015 Cinunuk', Journal of Muhammadiyah University of Tasikmalaya, 1(17), Pp. 142–150.
- Shufyani, F., Wahyuni, FS And Armal, K. (2017) 'Evaluation of Factors Affecting Hypoglycemia in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Patients Using Insulin', Scientia : Journal of Health, 12 . Pharmacy And 7(1), P Available At: Https:// Doi.Org/10.36434/Scientia.V7i1.100.
- Sicilia, G., Dewi, FST And Padmawati, RS (2018)
 'Qualitative Evaluation of Posbindu-Based Non-Communicable Disease Control Programs in the Work Area of the Muara Bungo I Health Center', Policy Journal 88–92. Health Indonesia Jkki, 7(2), Pp. Available At: Https://Journal.Ugm. Ac.Id/JKki/Article/Download/36117/22614.
- Simanullang, K. (2019) 'Giving Avocados Has an Effect on Blood Ldl Cholesterol Levels in Obese Students at the Faculty of Medicine, Hkbp Nommensen University in 2019.', Pp. 1–32.

- Sissoko, L. et al. (2020) 'Moringa Oleifera Leaf Powder For Type 2 Diabetes: A Pilot Clinical Trial', African Journal Of Traditional, Complementary And Alternative Medicines, 17(2), Pp. 29–36. Available At: Https://Doi. Org/10.21010/Ajtcam.V17i2.3.
- Sry (2020) 'Factors Affecting Blood Sugar Levels in Type Ii Diabetes Mellitus (Dm) Patients Affecting The Blood Sugar Content Of Diabetes Mellitus (Dm) Type Ii', Journal of the World of Nutrition, 3(1), Pp. 23–31. Available At: Https:// Ejournal.Helvetia.Ac.Id/Jdg.
- Sulistyaning, AR and Wirawanni, Y. (2013) 'The Effect of Giving Angkak (Red Yeast Rice) Against Fasting Blood Glucose Levels in Prediabetic Women', Journal Of Nutrition College, 2(4), Pp. 531–538. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.14710/Jnc.V2i4.3736.
- Sun, W. et al. (2019) 'Original Article Transcriptome Analysis of the Effects of Moringa Leaf Extract on Db Mice / Db With Diabetes Mellitus Type 2', 12(6), Pp. 6643–6658.
- Suryani, W. (2021) 'Moringa Oleifera Leaves Against Disease Final Project Report', (09).
- Tan, J. et al. (2019) 'Soy Isoflavones Ameliorate Fatty Acid Metabolism Of Visceral Adipose Tissue By Increasing The Ampk Activity In Male Rats With Diet-Induced Obesity (Dio)', Molecules (Basel, Switzerland), 24(15). Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.3390/ Molecules24152809.
- Thilakarathna, SH And Vasantha Rupasinghe, HP (2013) 'Flavonoid Bioavailability And Attempts For Bioavailability Enhancement', Nutrients, 5(9), Pp. 3367–3387. Available At: Https://Doi. Org/10.3390/Nu5093367.
- Triandita, N. And Putri, NE (2019) 'The Role of Soybeans in Controlling Degenerative Diseases', J. Agricultural Processing Technology, 1(1), Pp. 6–17.
- Utami, GT Et Al. (2022) 'The Effect of Giving Brewing... 134 The Effect of Giving Brewing... 135', 11(1), pp. 134–144. Proceedings B-ICON 2023
- Vargas-Sánchez, K., Garay-Jaramillo, E. And González-Reyes, RE (2019) 'Effects Of

Moringa Oleifera On Glycaemia And Insulin Levels: A Review Of Animal And Human Studies', Nutrients, 11(12). Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.3390/Nu11122907.

- Wahyudi, A. (2018) 'The Effect of Variations in Incubation Room Temperature on the Growth Time of Rhizopus Oligosporus in the Production of Soybean Tempe', Agrium Journal, 3(1), Pp. 37–38.
- Waruwu, P. et al. (2022) 'The Effectiveness Of Morage Leaf Booking To Reduce Glucose Levels In Type Ii Dm Patients In The Work Area Of The Upt Puskesmas Tanjung Morawa In 2022 The
- Effectiveness Of Moringa Leaf Decoction To Lower Blood Sugar Levels In Patients With Type Ii DM In The Area Work', 2(4), Pp. 1963–1978. Available At: Https://Journal.Yp3a.Org/Index. Php/Mudima/Index.
- Wati, R. (2019) 'No Titleÿÿÿÿy', ÿÿÿÿ, 8(5), P. 55.
- Wulandari, FR Et Al. (2018) Table of Indonesian Food Composition 2017, Averrous: Malikussaleh Journal of Medicine and Health. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.29103/Averrous.V2i2.412.
- Yudiono, K. (2020) 'Increasing the Competitiveness of Local Soybeans Against Imported Soybeans as Raw Materials for Tempe Through Physico-Chemical Mapping', Agrointek, 14(1), Pp. 57–66. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.21107/ Agrointek.V14i1.6311.
- Yusnanda, F., Rochadi, RK And Maas, LT (2018) 'The Influence of Eating Habits on the Incidence of Diabetes Mellitus in Pre-Elderly at Blud Rsu Meuraxa City of Banda Aceh', Journal of Muara Science, Technology, Medicine and Health Sciences, 1 (2), pp. 153–158. Available At: Https://Doi.Org/10.24912/ Jmstkik.V1i2.1043.
- Zhou, Yang And Wang (2020) 'The Effect of Audio Visual-Based Nutrition Counseling on Dietary Behavior in Patients with Diabetes Mellitus in the Work Area of the Sukamerindu Health Center. Tahun2020',File:/// C:/ Users/ Vera/ Downloads/ Askep_Agregat_Anak_And_Re maja Print. Docx, 21(1), Pp. 1–9.

ENERGY AND SUGAR CONTENT OF READY-TO-DRINK TEA AND COFFEE MARKETED IN SOUTH TANGERANG, INDONESIA

Yustiyani Yustiyani^{1*}

¹Department of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, UIN Syarif Hidayatullah Jakarta, Ciputat, Indonesia *E-mail: yustiyani@uinjkt.ac.id

ABSTRACT

Excessive sugar consumption, primarily through sugar-sweetened beverages, has been linked to the occurrence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). The Ministry of Health of Indonesia recommends that the maximum sugar consumption for the general population not exceed 50 g per day. One type of sugar-sweetened beverage that has been massively distributed in Indonesia is ready-to-drink (RTD) tea and coffee. This study examined the energy and sugar content of the RTD coffee and tea marketed in the modern retail market and their contribution to the Indonesian recommended dietary allowance. This study was conducted in June 2022. Ready-to-drink (RTD) coffee and tea were purchased from five supermarkets and three minimarkets in South Tangerang City, Banten, Indonesia. Data obtained from the product label was recorded and then analysed descriptively. 47 coffee (17 brands) and 58 tea (20 brands) products were obtained during the survey. Most coffee (55.3%) and tea (86.2%) products are distributed in plastic bottles. The median serving size of coffee (240 mL) is slightly smaller than that of tea (250 mL). On average, one serving size of coffee and tea products to 35.7% and 34.8% of the recommended dietary allowance of sugar, respectively. Consumers are advised to take caution while consuming RTD coffee and tea products as they might contribute to excessive sugar consumption. The government must impose regulations to limit sugar content in food and beverage products and increase consumer education to reduce sugar consumption, especially sugar-sweetened products.

Keywords: sugar-sweetened beverages, coffee, sugar, tea

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic, noncommunicable disease that has emerged as a new threat to public health in the past few years. The American Diabetes Association (ADA) defines DM as a group of metabolic diseases characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both (American Diabetes Association, 2010). The World Health Organization stated that worldwide, 8.5% of adults aged 18 years and older had DM in 2014 (WHO, 2023). In Indonesia, the prevalence of DM diagnosed by healthcare professionals increased from 1.1% in 2007 to 1.5% in 2018 (KEMENKES, 2007, 2018). The International Diabetes Federation reported that in 2021, Indonesia will have approximately 19.5 million people with diabetes (International Diabetes Federation, 2021).

DM impacts the quality of human life and overall life expectancy. DM is associated with macrovascular complications such as coronary heart disease, cardiomyopathy, arrhythmias, sudden death, cerebrovascular disease, and peripheral artery disease (Viigimaa et al., 2020). DM also leads to microvascular complications such as diabetic nephropathy, retinopathy, neuropathy, and sexual dysfunction (Faselis et al., 2020). DM was reported as a direct cause of 1.5 million deaths, and 48% of all deaths due to diabetes occurred before the age of 70 years worldwide (WHO, 2023). DM also puts a financial burden on the national health system. BPJS Kesehatan claimed that the cost of DM treatment has increased from IDR 6.5 trillion in 2018 to IDR 7.5 trillion in 2022 (CNN Indonesia, 2023).

Excessive sugar intake, primarily through sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB), has been linked to the occurrence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Sugar-sweetened beverages contain high amounts of added sugar and induce low satiety, which leads to increased energy intake, hence their contribution to weight gain (Yoshida & Simoes, 2018). The uncontrolled weight gain will lead to overweight and obesity, which are risk factors for T2DM and other chronic diseases (Lean & Te Morenga, 2016; Malik & Hu, 2022). A recent metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies concluded that increased consumption of SSB and artificially sweetened beverages are associated with the risk of T2DM (Meng et al., 2021). The Ministry of Health of Indonesia recommends that the maximum sugar intake for the general population not exceed 50 g daily to prevent diabetes and cardiovascular disease (Kemenkes, 2014).

One type of sugar-sweetened beverage that has been massively distributed in Indonesia is ready-todrink (RTD) tea and coffee. According to Statista Market Insight, the RTD coffee and tea market value in Indonesia in 2022 will be approximately IDR 30 trillion (USD 2 billion) (Statista Market Insight, 2023). Statistics Indonesia reported that Indonesian purchased RTD coffee, milk coffee, and tea more than any other beverages (Badan Pusat Statistik, 2022). Ready-to-drink (RTD) coffee and tea are convenient and can be easily purchased in many modern retail markets in urban areas. Coffee and tea have been widely known to contain many phytochemicals that show various health functions such as antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, immunoregulator, anticancer, cardiovascular-protective, anti-diabetic, anti-obesity, and hepatoprotective effects (Barrea et al., 2023; Tang et al., 2019). However, RTD coffee and tea products in Indonesia usually contain added sugar, which may undermine the health benefits. Currently, there is limited data regarding the sugar content of RTD coffee and tea distributed in modern markets in Indonesia. This data could be used as a basis for consumer education on RTD coffee and tea consumption. Therefore, this paper aims to examine the energy, sugar, and other nutrient content of RTD coffee and tea and their contribution to the recommended dietary allowance in Indonesia.

METHODS

This observational study was conducted through a market survey in June 2022. The survey locations were modern retail markets consisting of five supermarkets and three minimarkets around the UIN Syarif Hidayatullah Jakarta campus in Ciputat, South Tangerang City, Banten Province, Indonesia. South Tangerang City is an urban area situated very close to Jakarta, the current capital of Indonesia; hence, it is considered one of the supporting areas of the capital city. The definition of RTD coffee and tea products was adopted from the Indonesian Food Category (BPOM, 2019). A coffee drink was defined as a drink made from coffee powder, instant coffee, and/or coffee extract and drinking water, with or without added sugar or other food ingredients. A tea drink was defined as a drink made from the brewing process of tea leaf and/or tea extract in water, with or without added sugar and/or other food ingredients and packaged hermetically.

The data was collected by purchasing samples of RTD coffee and tea products in the markets. Products with identical brands and variants in different markets were only obtained once to prevent data duplication. The product label information, namely brands, variants, type of packaging, serving size, energy, and nutrition contents, was then recorded using the Google Forms application. Data cleaning and editing were performed to ensure its completion and validity. Data analysis was conducted using descriptive statistics.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Products Characteristics

This survey collected 105 RTD product variants from 8 modern markets in South Tangerang City, consisted of 47 coffee and 58 tea products. Almost all tea products were marketed in plastic bottle packaging (86.2%), while most coffee products were either packed in plastic bottle (55.3%) or can (34.0%) (Table 1). Plastic PET bottle packaging was reported to be as effective as glass packaging in retaining the antioxidant capacity during cold storage in RTD green tea products compared to retort pouches (Kim et al., 2011). However, sunlight exposure to plastic packaging should avoided to prevent contamination of heavy metals from bottle material (Umoafia et al., 2023).

The tea products mostly have a larger serving size of 250–299 mL (46.6%) than coffee, which is served in a 200–249 mL size (55.3%) (Figure 2). The serving size is proposed to influence the consumption of foods or beverages, and the impact depends on whether the total energy per serving or the number of servings is emphasised on the label

Characteristics -	Co	ffee	Tea		
Characteristics -	n	%	n	%	
Type of packaging					
Glass bottle	3	6.4	0	0.0	
Plastic (PET) bottle	26	55.3	50	86.2	
Can	16	34.0	2	3.4	
Carton box	2	4.3	6	10.3	
Serving size					
< 200 mL	7	14.9	5	8.6	
200 - 249 mL	26	55.3	22	37.9	
250 – 299 mL	9	19.1	27	46.6	
\geq 300 mL	5	10.6	4	6.9	
Product Origin					
Locally manufactured	32	68.1	56	96.6	
Imported	15	31.9	2	3.4	

 Table 1. Characteristics of the RTD coffee and tea products packaging

(Bucher et al., 2018). The Indonesian government has mandated food producers to include nutrition facts on most processed foods and beverages, such as RTD coffee and tea. Both total energy per serving and number of servings are required to be printed in bold (BPOM, 2021). As much as 68,1% of RTD coffee products were manufactured locally, while 31,9% were imported. Meanwhile, almost all tea products (96,6%) were manufactured locally (Table 1).

Energy, Sugar, and Other Nutrient Content of Coffee Products

Table 2 lists the energy, sugar, and other nutrients found in the nutrition facts label of coffee products. The information on energy, sugar, total fat, protein, carbohydrate, and sodium content was found in all of the coffee products, which is in line with the government regulation that the inclusion of that information is mandatory in a nutrition fact label (BPOM, 2021)Additional information on saturated fat, cholesterol, and fiber is not mandatory and is only found in several products.

The average energy content of the coffee products is 135 kcal per serving, contributing to 6.3% of the recommended dietary allowance. The average sugar content of coffee products is 17.9 g, contributing to nearly one-third of the maximum sugar intake recommendation. Some products contain 42 g of sugar, almost the maximum recommendation. The energy and sugar content of coffee products marketed in Indonesia are higher than those found in other countries such as Slovenia (Zupanič et al., 2019), Australia (Pinho-Gomes et al., 2023), and Taiwan (Yen et al., 2022).

Coffee naturally contains a trace amount of fat and protein. However, several products list fat, saturated fat, cholesterol, and protein content on their nutritional facts label. The amount of saturated fat was also quite high, which comes from the additional dairy or non-dairy creamer in the ingredients for products such as latte, cappuccino, milk coffee, etc.

Energy, Sugar, and Other Nutrient Content of Tea Products

The energy, sugar, and other nutrients found in the nutrition facts label of tea products are listed

Nutrients	n	Reference value	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Contribution per serving size
Energy (kcal)	47	2150 ¹	135	47	15	280	6.3%
Sugar (g)	47	Max 50 ²	17.9	6.6	0	42	35.7%
Total fat (g)	47	671	3.5	3.4	0	22.5	5.2%
Saturated fat (g)	40	Max 30 ²	2.9	2.0	0	10	9.5%
Cholesterol (mg)	14	Max 300 ²	3.8	3.5	0	10	1.3%
Protein (g)	47	601	2.7	2.0	0	12	4.4%
Carbohydrate (g)	47	3251	24.7	8.2	2	46	7.6%
Fiber (g)	14	301	3.9	3.3	0	12	13.1%
Sodium (mg)	47	Max 2000 ²	107.2	54.6	5	290	5.3%

Table 2. Energy, sugar, and other nutrient content of coffee products and its contribution to nutrient reference value

¹ Regulation of Head of National Agency of Drug and Food Control of Republic of Indonesia Number 9 Year 2016 on Nutrient Reference Value (BPOM, 2016)

² Health Ministerial Decree Number 41 Year 2014 on Nutritional Guidelines (KEMENKES, 2014)

Nutrients	n	Reference value	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Contribution per serving size
Energy (kcal)	58	2150 ¹	83	45	0	210	3.8%
Sugar (g)	58	Max 50 ²	17.4	7.6	0	34	34.8%
Total fat (g)	58	671	0.5	1.5	0	6	0.8%
Saturated fat (g)	43	Max 30 ²	0.4	1.2	0	5	1.4%
Cholesterol (mg)	5	Max 300 ²	0.8	1.8	0	4	0.3%
Protein (g)	58	60 ¹	0.3	0.8	0	4	0.4%
Carbohydrate (g)	58	3251	19.2	8.8	0	36	5.9%
Fiber (g)	2	301	1.0	0.0	0	1	3.3%
Sodium (mg)	58	Max 2000 ²	44.9	46.2	0	190	2.2%
Vitamin C (mg)	3	90	0.9	0.1	0	1	1.0%

Table 3. Energy, sugar, and other nutrient content of tea products and its contribution to nutrient reference value

¹ Regulation of Head of National Agency of Drug and Food Control of Republic of Indonesia Number 9 Year 2016 on Nutrient Reference Value (BPOM, 2016)

² Health Ministerial Decree Number 41 Year 2014 on Nutritional Guidelines (KEMENKES, 2014)

in Table 3. The information on energy, sugar, total fat, protein, carbohydrate, and sodium content was found in all of the tea products, in line with the government regulation on nutrition facts labels (BPOM, 2021)Several products' nutrition facts labels include additional information on saturated fat, cholesterol, fiber, and vitamin C, which is not mandatory.

The average energy content of the tea products is 83 kcal per serving, contributing to 3.8% of the recommended dietary allowance. The average sugar content of the tea products is 17.4 g, contributing to nearly one-third of the maximum sugar intake recommendation. Although the total energy content of tea products is slightly lower than coffee, the sugar content is quite similar. The energy and sugar content of tea products marketed in Indonesia are also higher than those found in other countries such as Slovenia (Zupanič et al., 2019) and Taiwan (Yen et al., 2022).

Similar to coffee, tea contains a negligible amount of fat and protein. Additionally, milk is the primary source of fat and protein in products such as milk tea, Thai tea, and teh tarik. However, the variation of dairy ingredients in tea products is not as significant as in coffee products; hence, the energy content of coffee products tends to be higher.

In contrast to coffee products, vitamin C is found in tea products. Three products list vitamin C in their nutritional facts label, which comes from additional lemon or other fruit extracts in their ingredient list. Fruit-flavored tea variants are pretty common in Indonesia. However, most fruit was only available as artificial flavoring, not the original extract.

Current Regulation and Possible Impact of RTD Consumption

Indonesian, especially Javanese, are known to have a preference for sweetness in their food and drinks. Sartika et al. (2022) explained that this could be traced back to the cultural, or cultivation system, era during Dutch colonization when the mass production of sugarcane was enforced. The people incorporated sugarcane juice into their food and drink recipes, possibly giving people more preferences for sweetness after a long term of repetitive exposure (Sartika et al., 2022).

The Indonesian government has declared that Indonesian maximum free sugar intake should not exceed 50 g daily, according to the Nutritional Guidelines or *Pedoman Gizi Seimbang* (KEMENKES, 2014). However, based on the Total Diet Study conducted by the Ministry of Health in 2014, 77 million people, or 29.7% of the Indonesian population, consumed more than 50 g of sugar daily (Atmarita et al., 2017). The obligation to include information on sugar content in the nutrition facts label of processed foods has been declared mandatory by Kemenkes (2015) and BPOM (2021). However, based on several studies, consumer behavior in reading the food label, including the nutrition fact label, is considered Yustiyani. Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 45–51 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 45–51

low (Badriyah & Syafei, 2019; Yayasan Lembaga Konsumen Indonesia, 2019). Some determining factors associated with consumer behavior on food label reading are sex, knowledge, and attitude towards food label reading (Huda & Andrias, 2018; Melinda & Farida, 2021; Sinaga & Simanungkalit, 2019). Family support is especially needed for children to ensure that they provide good nutrition for their children (Rizona et al., 2022). Therefore, consumer education is essential to increase their awareness regarding the sugar content on the food label.

Several recommendations on how to lower the sugar consumption from RTD products have been proposed. From the supply side, it is recommended that the government enforce the regulation to limit the sugar content of the products and provide nutritional information, especially for total sugar content. It is also suggested that the availability of less sugary products at the market counter be promoted, the distribution of products with high sugar content should be restricted, and further studies should be conducted on the sugar consumption policy at the population level. (Sartika et al., 2022). It is also recommended that the government impose a sugar tax on sugarcontaining foods and a sugar import tax (Kusnali et al., 2019). On the demand side, an educational approach to altering Indonesian preferences for sweet taste should be taken, with an emphasis on the benefits of reducing sugar intake and the promotion of healthier eating habits from an early age (Sartika et al., 2022).

CONCLUSION

The sugar content of RTD coffee and tea products distributed in Indonesia's modern market is relatively high. Consumers must exercise caution when purchasing and consuming the products, as they may contribute to excess sugar consumption. The government must take several actions to reduce sugar consumption in RTD products by enforcing solid regulations to limit sugar content in food and beverage products and increasing consumer education to reduce sugar consumption, especially in sugar sweetened RTD products. Further studies are needed to examine the energy and sugar content of products marketed in traditional markets since they might have different distribution channels.

REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association. (2010). Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, *33*(Supplement_1), S62–S69. https://doi. org/10.2337/dc10-S062
- Atmarita, A., Jahari, A. B., Sudikno, S., & Soekatri, M. (2017). ASUPAN GULA, GARAM, DAN LEMAK DI INDONESIA: Analisis Survei Konsumsi Makanan Individu (SKMI) 2014. *GIZI INDONESIA*, 39(1), 1. https://doi. org/10.36457/gizindo.v39i1.201
- Badan Pusat Statistik. (2022). Rata-rata Pengeluaran Perkapita Seminggu di Daerah Perkotaan Menurut Komoditi Makanan dan Golongan Pengeluaran per Kapita Seminggu, 2018-2021. https://www.bps.go.id/indicator/5/2090/1/ratarata-konsumsi-perkapita-seminggu-di-daerahperkotaan-dan-pedesaan-menurut-komoditimakanan-dan-golongan-pengeluaran-perkapita-seminggu.html
- Badriyah, L., & Syafei, A. (2019). Persepsi dan Perilaku Membaca Label Pangan dan Informasi Gizi pada Siswa SMK Wijaya Kusuma. Jurnal Ilmu Kesehatan Masyarakat, 8(04), 167–174. https://doi.org/10.33221/jikm.v8i04.401
- Barrea, L., Pugliese, G., Frias-Toral, E., El Ghoch, M., Castellucci, B., Chapela, S. P., Carignano, M. D. L. A., Laudisio, D., Savastano, S., Colao, A., & Muscogiuri, G. (2023). Coffee consumption, health benefits and side effects: A narrative review and update for dietitians and nutritionists. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 63(9), 1238–1261. https://doi.or g/10.1080/10408398.2021.1963207
- BPOM. (2016). Peraturan Kepala Badan Pengawas Obat dan Makanan Republik Indonesia Nomor 9 Tahun 2016 tentang Acuan Label Gizi. https:// tabel-gizi.pom.go.id/regulasi/4_Peraturan_ Kepala_BPOM_Nomor_9_Tahun_2016_ tentang Acuan Label Gizi.pdf
- BPOM. (2019). Peraturan Badan Pengawas Obat dan Makanan Nomor 34 Tahun 2019 tentang Kategory Pangan. https://jdih.pom.go.id/ download/product/827/34/2019
- BPOM. (2021). Peraturan Badan Pengawas Obat dan Makanan Nomor 26 Tahun 2021 tentang Informasi Nilai Gizi pada Label Pangan Olahan. https://standarpangan.pom.go.id/dokumen/ peraturan/202x/PERATURAN_BADAN_

Yustiyani. Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 45–51 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 45–51

PENGAWAS_OBAT_DAN_MAKANAN_ NOMOR_26_TAHUN_2021_TENTANG_ INFORMASI_NILAI_GIZI_PADA_LABEL_ PANGAN_OLAHAN.pdf

- Bucher, T., Murawski, B., Duncanson, K., Labbe, D., & Van Der Horst, K. (2018). The effect of the labelled serving size on consumption: A systematic review. *Appetite*, *128*, 50–57. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.05.137
- CNN Indonesia. (2023). BPJS Kesehatan Gelontorkan Rp7,5 T untuk Penderita Diabetes. https://www.cnnindonesia.com/ ekonomi/20230208180210-78-910621/bpjskesehatan-gelontorkan-rp75-t-untuk-penderitadiabetes
- Faselis, C., Katsimardou, A., Imprialos, K., Deligkaris, P., Kallistratos, M., & Dimitriadis, K. (2020). Microvascular Complications of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Current Vascular Pharmacology*, 18(2), 117–124. https://doi.org /10.2174/1570161117666190502103733
- Huda, Q. A., & Andrias, D. R. (2018). SIKAP DAN PERILAKU MEMBACA INFORMASI GIZI PADA LABEL PANGAN SERTA PEMILIHAN PANGAN KEMASAN. *Media Gizi Indonesia*, *11*(2), 175. https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi. v11i2.175-181
- International Diabetes Federation. (2021). *IDF Diabetes Atlas 2021, 10th Edition*. https:// diabetesatlas.org/idfawp/resource-files/2021/07/ IDF Atlas 10th Edition 2021.pdf
- KEMENKES. (2007). Laporan Nasional Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2007.
- KEMENKES. (2014). Peraturan Menteri Kesehatan Republik Indonesia Nomor 41 Tahun 2014 tentang Pedoman Gizi Seimbang. http:// hukor.kemkes.go.id/uploads/produk_hukum/ PMK%20No.%2041%20ttg%20Pedoman%20 Gizi%20Seimbang.pdf
- KEMENKES. (2018). Laporan Nasional Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2018.
- Kim, Y., Welt, B. A., & Talcott, S. T. (2011). The Impact of Packaging Materials on the Antioxidant Phytochemical Stability of Aqueous Infusions of Green Tea (*Camellia sinensis*) and Yaupon Holly (*Ilex vomitoria*) during Cold Storage. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59(9), 4676–4683. https://doi. org/10.1021/jf104799y
- Kusnali, A., Puspasari, H. W., & Rustika. (2019). Kemitraan Pemerintah-Swasta dalam Industri Pangan untuk Menurunkan Kandungan Gula, Garam dan Lemak dalam Pangan Olahan.

Jurnal Kedokteran Dan Kesehatan, 15(2), 102–117.

- Lean, M. E. J., & Te Morenga, L. (2016). Sugar and Type 2 diabetes. *British Medical Bulletin*, *120*(1), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ ldw037
- Malik, V. S., & Hu, F. B. (2022). The role of sugarsweetened beverages in the global epidemics of obesity and chronic diseases. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 18(4), 205–218. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41574-021-00627-6
- Melinda, A., & Farida, E. (2021). Faktor-faktor yang Mempengaruhi Perilaku Mahasiswa FIK UNNES Dalam Membaca Label Informasi Nilai Gizi. *Indonesian Journal of Public Health and Nutrition*, 1(3), 491–498.
- Meng, Y., Li, S., Khan, J., Dai, Z., Li, C., Hu, X., Shen, Q., & Xue, Y. (2021). Sugar- and Artificially Sweetened Beverages Consumption Linked to Type 2 Diabetes, Cardiovascular Diseases, and All-Cause Mortality: A Systematic Review and Dose-Response Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. *Nutrients*, 13(8), 2636. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13082636
- Pinho-Gomes, A.-C., Dunford, E., & Jones, A. (2023). Trends in sugar content of nonalcoholic beverages in Australia between 2015 and 2019 during the operation of a voluntary industry pledge to reduce sugar content. *Public Health Nutrition*, 26(1), 287–296. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1368980022002300
- Rizona, F., Appulembang, Y. A., & Rahmawatif, F. (2022). IMPROVING FAMILY SUPPORT ON PREVENTING OBESITY CHILDREN THROUGH FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION. *Proceeding B-ICON*, 1(1), 201–204. https://doi. org/10.33088/bicon.v1i1.35
- Sartika, R. A. D., Atmarita, A., Duki, M. I. Z., Bardosono, S., Wibowo, L., & Lukito, W. (2022). Consumption of Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Its Potential Health Implications in Indonesia. *Kesmas: Jurnal Kesehatan Masyarakat Nasional*, 17(1). https://doi. org/10.21109/kesmas.v17i1.5532
- Sinaga, C., & Simanungkalit, S. F. (2019). Faktor-Faktor yang Berhubungan dengan Perilaku Membaca Label Informasi Gizi. Jurnal Endurance, 4(1), 192. https://doi.org/10.22216/ jen.v4i1.3890
- Statista Market Insight. (2023). Non-alcoholic drinks report Indonesia. https://www.statista. com/outlook/cmo/non-alcoholic-drinks/ indonesia

Yustiyani. Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 45–51 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 45–51

- Tang, G.-Y., Meng, X., Gan, R.-Y., Zhao, C.-N., Liu, Q., Feng, Y.-B., Li, S., Wei, X.-L., Atanasov, A. G., Corke, H., & Li, H.-B. (2019). Health Functions and Related Molecular Mechanisms of Tea Components: An Update Review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(24), 6196. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms20246196
- Umoafia, N., Joseph, A., Edet, U., Nwaokorie, F., Henshaw, O., Edet, B., Asanga, E., Mbim, E., Chikwado, C., & Obeten, H. (2023). Deterioration of the quality of packaged potable water (bottled water) exposed to sunlight for a prolonged period: An implication for public health. *Food* and Chemical Toxicology, 175, 113728. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2023.113728
- Viigimaa, M., Sachinidis, A., Toumpourleka, M., Koutsampasopoulos, K., Alliksoo, S., & Titma, T. (2020). Macrovascular Complications of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Current Vascular Pharmacology*, *18*(2), 110–116. https://doi.org /10.2174/1570161117666190405165151

- WHO. (2023). *Diabetes*. https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes
- Yayasan Lembaga Konsumen Indonesia. (2019). Survei YLKI: Efektivitas Penandaan Kandungan Pemanis Buatan pada Label Pangan. https:// ylki.or.id/2019/10/survei-ylki-efektivitaspenandaan-kandungan-pemanis-buatan-padalabel-pangan/
- Yen, C., Huang, Y.-L., Chung, M., & Chen, Y.-C. (2022). Sugar Content and Warning Criteria Evaluation for Popular Sugar-Sweetened Beverages in Taipei, Taiwan. *Nutrients*, 14(16), 3339. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14163339
- Yoshida, Y., & Simoes, E. J. (2018). Sugar-Sweetened Beverage, Obesity, and Type 2 Diabetes in Children and Adolescents: Policies, Taxation, and Programs. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 18(6), 31. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11892-018-1004-6
- Zupanič, N., Hribar, M., Fidler Mis, N., & Pravst, I. (2019). Free Sugar Content in Pre-Packaged Products: Does Voluntary Product Reformulation Work in Practice? *Nutrients*, *11*(11), 2577. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11112577.

THE INFLUENCE OF NUTRITION MANAGEMENT EDUCATION ON MOTHERS KNOWLEDGE AND ATTITUDES IN FULFILLING NUTRITION FOR OBESE PREGNANT WOMEN

Juanda Syafitasari^{1*}, Poppy Siska Putri¹, Entan Afriannisyah²

¹Bachelor Degree of Midwifery Study Program, Stikes Sapta Bakti, Indonesia ²Midwife Professional Education Study Program, Stikes Sapta Bakti, Indonesia *E-mail: juandaanindya@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Obesity is a high obstetric risk increasing the risk of maternal and fetal morbidity and death. Complications that can occurred in pregnant women with obesity are an increased risk of hypertension, gestational diabetes, spontaneous abortion, and postpartum hemorrhage. This research aims to determine the effect of nutritional management education on mothers knowledge and attitudes in fulfilling nutritional needs of obese pregnant women. The study used a quasi-experiment with a pre-test and post-test with a control group design. The sample in this study was 60 obese pregnant women who were divided into an intervention group and a control group, each with 30 respondents. The instruments used were observation sheets and nutritional management menu lists. Data analysis used the Mann-Whitney test with a significance level of $p \le 0.05$. The study showed a significant difference between knowledge (p-value=0.015) and mothers' attitudes towards fulfilling nutrition (p-value=0.011) before and after nutrition management education. Nutrition management education is critical to improving nutritional fulfillment for pregnant women.

Keywords: Obesity, Nutrition Management Education, Pregnant Women

INTRODUCTION

Obesity is the most common obstetric problem affecting mothers and children (Flegal et al., 2012). In 2015, it was 32 deaths per 100,000 live birth happened, and the National Medium Term Development Plan (RPJMN) target to be achieved by 2024 was 16 deaths per 1000 births (Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 2022). The Maternal Mortality Rate (MMR) in Bengkulu Province in 2020 was 32 deaths, with a distribution of 8 pregnant women (25%), 9 maternal deaths (28.12%) and 15 maternal deaths (46.9%) during the postpartum period. The direct causes of maternal death are bleeding (25% of postpartum hemorrhage), infection of germs or bacteria that enter the blood vessels (15%), preeclampsia (12%), obstructed labor (8%), complications of unsafe abortion (13%) and other causes (8%). Meanwhile, the indirect cause of maternal death is due to disease and not due to pregnancy and childbirth, one of which is obesity in pregnant women. Obesity is an indirect cause of maternal death because pregnant women who are obese will be susceptible to various complications (Sudirtayasa, 2018).

Symptoms of obesity can occur in all age groups, and body weight increases rapidly. These following body shape, appearance and facial characteristics in obese patients included thighs that appear enlarged, especially in the proximal part, relatively small hands with pointed fingers, facial emotional abnormalities, relatively small nose and mouth with a double chin, round face with chubby cheeks, enlarged upper arms, enlarged upper arms found in the biceps and triceps, relatively short neck, swollen chest with enlarged breasts, bulging stomach (pendulous stomach) and abdominal striae, ginigenu valgum puberty (x-shaped limbs) with the two inner groins sticking together and friction which can cause wounds on the skin (Guyton & Hall, 2018).

Pregnant women with obesity are required to follow a diet and should follow a healthy diet specifically for pregnant women or with nutritional management. During pregnancy, the body needs more protein, calories, vitamins and minerals such as folic acid and iron for fetal growth and development. The principle of good eating during pregnancy is breakfast. Pregnant women are advised to consume nutrient-rich foods at Syafitasari et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 52–57 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 52–57

breakfast. Avoiding breakfast will give rise to the desire to eat more when the next meal arrives and can cause complaints such as dizziness and nausea (Evan, 2017).

Interventions that can be applied to overcome the problem of obesity are regulating eating and increasing physical activity through a nutritional education approach. Nutrition education is an effort to promote health related to healthy eating habits throughout life, starting at the early stages of life (Kostanjevec et al., 2011).

The diet of pregnant women who are obese will eat if they want to eat, not because they need to or because they are hungry; this can cause an increase in excess energy intake with high fat and carbohydrate content if this is done continuously without being balanced with physical activity it can increase risk of obesity in pregnant women. Physical activity also influences the occurrence of obesity in pregnant women; regular physical activity affects the body regular calorie expenditure; in this case, it can be concluded that lack of physical activity in pregnant women can cause fat accumulation, which can cause obesity in pregnant women.

During the pregnancy class, an initial research survey was conducted at the BPM Working Area of the West Ring Health Center, Bengkulu City, by interviewing ten third-trimester pregnant women with obesity. The results showed that 7 (70%) pregnant women had insufficient knowledge about nutritional management, and 4 (40%) pregnant women had not adopted a special diet for pregnant women with obesity. This is because most pregnant women have a secondary education level, so it is challenging to receive new information; apart from that, they also support it as housewives who have experience receiving information only from family members at home and neighbors. This provides limited access to the latest information.

Management of nutrition and diet in pregnant women with obesity is not just about losing weight but also about maintaining weight stability and preventing weight gain again. Reduce fatty foods, especially saturated fat, because it makes it easier for fat globules to stick to the walls of blood vessels. Consume little fat (30% of total calories consumed) and reduce excessive carbohydrate consumption to maintain body weight within normal limits (Sulistyoningsih, 2018).

METHOD

This research used the quasi-experimental method with a pre-test and post-test control group design. The study was conducted at the BPM working area of the West Ring Health Center, Bengkulu City. The independent variable in this research was nutrition management education, and the dependent variable was the attitudes and knowledge of pregnant women. The population in this study was all second-trimester pregnant women with a BMI \geq 30 kg/m² from April to July 2023. The experimental group consisted of 30 pregnant women. All subjects were purposively selected using the purposive sampling technique.

The research consisted of stages of data collection before intervention, intervention and data collection after intervention. Initial measurements (pre-test) were carried out on the first day before the intervention, and then nutrition management education was continued in the intervention group. At the same time, the control group was not given nutrition management education. The nutrition management intervention group used the lecture method, assisted by health center nutritionists and researchers, as well as the question and answer method and demonstration. Educational material includes prenatal nutrition, exclusive breastfeeding, and diet menu settings. We demonstrate how to prepare a daily food menu according to the daily needs of pregnant women with obesity/diet menu settings. The intervention was carried out for two consecutive days. Each meeting consisted of two sessions: the first session of lectures and discussions and the second session of demonstrations. The lecture and discussion session was held for 40 minutes, and the demonstration was held for 60 minutes, equipped with respondents practice. Seven days after the intervention ended, a post-test was given. In the control group, the post-test was shown on the seventh day after the pre-test. Nutrition management education in the control group was carried out after the post-test. Data analysis used the Mann-Whitney test with a significance level of $p \le 0.05$. The Ethical Clearance number used in this research is 178/KEPSTIKESSAPTABAKTI/2023.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The research results can be seen in Table 1, which showed that the majority of respondents in both groups were young adults, in the control group 63.3% and in the intervention group 76.7%. Most mothers in the control group had a primary education level of 60%, while in the intervention group, most mothers had a secondary education level of 56.7%. Regarding family income, most have incomes below the minimum wage, 80% in

Table 1. Distribution of Respondents Based on
Maternal Age, Maternal Education, Family
Income, Maternal Occupation, Maternal
Nutritional Status

Variable	n	(%)
Age (years)		
Young Adult (18-35)	23	77
Middle Adult (>35-55)	07	23
Mother's Education		
Elementary School	8	26.7
Intermediate (High School)	17	56.7
Higher Education	5	16.6
Income		
Below minimum wage	19	63.3
Above minimum wage	11	36.7
Work		
Does not work	27	90
Work	3	10

the control group and 63.3% in the intervention group. The majority of respondents' employment status was not working, 86.7% in the control group and 90% in the intervention group.

In Table 1, the age characteristics of most respondents are young adults; as many as 77% are in the intervention group. Regarding maternal educational characteristics, 26.7% of the intervention group. Regarding income below the minimum wage, 63.3% of the intervention group. Regarding job characteristics, 90% of the intervention group did not work.

Based on table 2, it can be seen that after being given nutrition education, there was an increase in knowledge scores in the treatment and control groups. In the treatment group, before being given nutrition education, the average knowledge was 60.57 ± 12.16 . After being given nutrition education, the knowledge score increased to 79.04 \pm 4.10. In the control group, before being given nutrition education, the average knowledge was 60.89 ± 7.06 , after being given nutrition education it increased to 68.76 ± 6.73 . Even though there was an increase in knowledge scores in both groups, the increase in the treatment group was higher than in the control group. The increase in knowledge in the treatment group was 18.47 ± 16.01 and the control group was only 7.87 ± 6.15 . There was a significant increase in knowledge in both the treatment and control groups with p<0.001. There is a difference in increasing knowledge between the treatment group and the control group, p=0.015.

In table 3, it can be seen that after being given nutrition education, there was an increase in attitude scores in the treatment and control groups.

Table 2. Knowledge scores before and after intervention between the treatment group and the control group

Wnowladge Seene	Interventions group		Control group		
Knowledge Score	Mean ± SD	p-value Mean ± SD		p-value	- p-value
Before	60.57 ± 12.16		60.89 ± 7.06		
After	79.04 ± 4.10	<0.001 a	68.76 ± 6.73 <0.001		0.015 ^b
Gain Score	18.47 ± 16.01		7.87 ± 6.15		

In the treatment group, before being given nutrition education, the average attitude score was 76.46 \pm 6.85. After being given nutrition education, it increased to 86.61 \pm 6.43. In the control group, before being given nutrition education, the average attitude score was 79.58 \pm 6.54. After being given nutrition education, the attitude score increased to 83.54 \pm 6.04.

Even though there was an increase in attitude scores in both groups, the increase in attitude scores in the treatment group was higher than in the control group. The increase in attitude score in the treatment group was 10.49 ± 9.29 and the control group was only 1.46 ± 5.49 . There was a significant increase in knowledge in both the treatment and control groups with p=0.015. There was a difference in the increase in attitude scores between the treatment group and the control group with p=0.011 using nutrition management education. Which means that there is a significant influence of nutrition management education on mothers' knowledge and attitudes in fulfilling the nutrition of pregnant women with obesity. This is in line with research conducted (Sulistiawati et al., 2021), which states that providing educational information during pregnancy positively impacts maternal knowledge because pregnant women know what to eat and avoid.

Providing appropriate education to pregnant women can increase the mother's knowledge, which is expected to change the mother's attitude. Attitude formation can be influenced by several things, such as experience, culture, other people, emotions and mass media. Attitudes will be formed by providing information that is perceived positively or negatively. Providing nutritional management education shows that fulfilling balanced nutrition appropriate to pregnant women condition is essential, influencing mothers' daily attitudes (Mulyani, 2017). The results of this research align with research by Yunitasari et al. (2020), which revealed a significant influence between education, brainstorming and demonstration on increasing the knowledge, attitudes and behavior of pregnant women in managing the diet menu in the intervention group. , while in the control group, there were no significant values.

The results of this study are also supported by research by Muluye et al. (2020), which shows no change in knowledge in the control group. The effectiveness of nutrition management education has also been studied in Kenya, where the average knowledge of nutrition management was significantly higher in the intervention group than in the control group (Waswa et al., 2015). This is in line with the research results of Mutiso et al. (2015), who state that nutrition management education and psychosocial factors strongly influence the extent to which IYCF is used.

Research in Ethiopia states that pregnant women have inadequate knowledge and practices regarding nutrition during pregnancy, resulting in poor behavior and health status of pregnant women, which can increase the risk of maternal morbidity and death (Tenaw et al., 2018). During pregnancy, mothers with an obese body mass index (BMI) have a greater risk of experiencing antenatal, intrapartum, postpartum and neonatal complications such as gestational hypertension, increased gestational diabetes mellitus, thromboembolism, increased cesarean delivery, premature labor, macrosomia, meconium aspiration and neonate. Stillbirth. In addition, children born to mothers who are obese have a high risk of obesity and metabolic diseases, including neuropsychiatric and cognitive disorders. Babies born to mothers who are obese tend to be at risk of being admitted to the NICU because they have an umbilical cord arterial pH <7.10 (Melchor et al., 2019; Mulyani et al., 2021). Providing educational interventions regarding nutritional management, especially

Table 3. Attitude scores before and after intervention between the treatment group and the control group

Attitude Score	Interventions group		Control group		p-value
	Mean ± SD	p-value	Mean ± SD	p-value	
Before	70.67 ± 6.58		78.85 ± 6.45		
After	81.16 ± 6.31	<0.001 a	80.34 ± 6.14	0.003 a	0.011 ^b
Gain Score	10.49 ± 9.29		1.46 ± 5.49		

for pregnant women who are obese, must be a priority in antenatal care. Obesity is also a form of prolonged malnutrition, which has long-term risks. This is necessary so the mother can reach the recommended weight during pregnancy.

CONCLUSION

The attitude and knowledge of pregnant women in nutritional management during pregnancy can prevent complications such as preeclampsia and diabetes mellitus, especially among obese pregnant women. They can reduce weight in pregnant women, but the nutrition of pregnant women remains adequate so that it does not interfere with the growth and development of the fetus. A healthy diet can be carried out with always having breakfast. Mothers are advised to eat foods rich in nutrients, choose foods with fiber and low sugar content, use fruit as a snack, drink lots of water at least 2 liters per day, not consume large amounts of food at once, and limit certain foods, such as sweet, savory and fat-containing foods.

REFERENCE

- Evan. (2017). The relationship between eating patterns and the incidence of obesity in students at Tribhuwana Tunggadewi University, Malang. Journal of the Faculty of Health Sciences, Tribhuwana Tunggadewi University, Malang.
- Flegal, K. M., Carroll, M. D., Kit, B. K., & Ogden, C. L. (2012). Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among US adults, 1999-2010. JAMA, 307(5), 491–497. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.39
- Guyton, A., & Hall, J. (2018). Textbook of Medical Physiology (12th ed.). EGC.
- Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia. (2022). Republic of Indonesia Health Profile 2021.
- Kostanjevec, S., German, J., & Koch, V. (2011). The effects of nutrition education on 6th graders knowledge of nutrition in nine-year primary schools in Slovenia. Eurasian Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 7(4), 243–252. https://doi. org/10.12973/ejmste/75208
- Melchor, I., Burgos, J., Del Campo, A., Aiartzaguena, A., Gutiérrez, J., & Melchor, J. C. (2019). Effect of maternal obesity on pregnancy outcomes in

women delivering singleton babies: A historical cohort study. Journal of Perinatal Medicine, 47(6), 625–630. https://doi.org/10.1515/jpm-2019-0103

Mulyani, L., Ngo, NF, & Yudia, RCP (2021). Association of Obesity with Maternal Complications and Perinatal Outcomes: Association of Obesity with Maternal Complications and Perinatal Outcomes. Journal of Science and Health, 3(2), 343–350.

Sudirtayasa. (2018). Obesity In Pregnancy.

- Sulistyoningsih, H. (2018). Nutrition for Maternal & Child Health ((First)). Science House.
- Tenaw, Z., Arega, M., & Tachbele, E. (2018). Nutritional knowledge, attitudes and practices among pregnant women who attend antenatal care at public hospitals of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. International Journal of Nursing and Midwifery, 10(7), 81–89.
- Evan. (2017). The Relationship between Dietary Patterns and the Incidence of Obesity in Students at Tribhuwana Tunggadewi University, Malang. Journal of the Faculty of Health Sciences, Tribhuwana Tunggadewi University, Malang.
- Flegal, K. M., Carroll, M. D., Kit, B. K., & Ogden, C. L. (2012). Obesity prevalence and trends in body mass index distribution among US adults, 1999-2010. JAMA, 307(5), 491-497. https://doi. org/10.1001/jama.2012.39
- Guyton, A., & Hall, J. (2018). Handbook of Medical Physiology (12th ed.). E.G.
- Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia. (2022). Health Profile of the Republic of Indonesia in 2021.
- Melchor, I., Burgos, J., Del Campo, A., Aiartzaguena, A., Gutiérrez, J., & Melchor, J. C. (2019). Effect of maternal obesity on pregnancy outcomes in women giving birth to singleton babies: A historical cohort study. Journal of Perinatal Medicine, 47(6), 625-630. https://doi. org/10.1515/jpm-2019-0103
- Mulualem, D., Henry, C. J., Berhanu, G., & Whiting, S. J. (2016). Effectiveness of nutrition education: Application of the Health Belief Model in child feeding practices using pulses as complementary foods for breast milk in Southern Ethiopia. Food Ecology and Nutrition, 55(3), 308-323. https://doi.org/10.1080/036702 44.2016.1161617
- Muluye, SD, Lemma, TB, & Diddana, TZ (2020). The Effect of Nutrition Education on Increasing Knowledge and Practice of Complementary Feeding in Mothers with Children Aged

Syafitasari et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 52–57 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP. 52–57

6 to 23 Months in Child Care Centers in Hawassa City, Southern Ethiopia: Institution-Based Randomized Control Trial. Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism, 2020. https://doi. org/10.1155/2020/6571583

- Mulyani, L., Ngo, NF, & Yudia, RCP (2021). Association of Obesity with Maternal Complications and Perinatal Outcomes: Association of Obesity with Maternal Complications and Perinatal Outcomes. Journal of Science and Health, 3(2), 343-350.
- Mulyani, R. (2017). Knowledge, attitudes and hygienic behavior of food processors. Sai Betik Nursing Scientific Journal, 10(1), 6-12.
- Mutiso, J.M., Okello, J.J., Lagerkvist, C.J., Muoki, P., Kosura, W.O., & Heck, S. (2018). The influence of nutrition education and psychosocial factors on child feeding practices: findings of a field experiment with biofortified foods and different categories of women. Food Ecology and Nutrition, 57(4), 346-371. https:// doi.org/10.1080/03670244.2018.1492382

Sudirtayasa. (2018). Obesity in Pregnancy.

Sulistyoningsih, H. (2018). Nutrition for Maternal & Child Health ((First)). Graha Ilmu. Sulistiawati, R., Fitriani, H., & Zakiyya, A. (2021). Education Based on Prenatal BMI Status in Efforts to Increase the Weight of Pregnant Women. Midwife Scientific Journal, 9(1), 1-10.

- Tenaw, Z., Arega, M., & Tachbele, E. (2018). Nutritional knowledge, attitudes and practices in pregnant women attending antenatal care at Addis Ababa public hospital, Ethiopia. International Journal of Nursing and Midwifery, 10(7), 81-89.
- Waswa, L.M., Jordan, I., Herrmann, J., Krawinkel, M.B., & Keding, G.B. (2015). A communitybased educational intervention increases complementary feeding diversity in western Kenya: Results from a randomized controlled trial. Public Health Nutrition, 18(18), 3406-3419. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980015000920
- Yunitasari, E., Rahayu, M., & Kurnia, ID (2020). The influence of lectures, brainstorming, demonstrations (CBD) on mothers' knowledge, attitudes and behavior regarding preventing stunting in toddlers. Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy, 11(6), 1131-1136. https://doi. org/10.31838/srp.2020.6.163

ANALYSIS OF FOOD SECURITY, SOCIAL HEALTH, ENVIRONMENTAL AND HOUSEHOLD FOOD SECURITY ON STUNTING INCIDENCE OF CHILDREN AGED 12-59 MONTHS IN COASTAL HOUSEHOLDS IN BENGKULU PROVINCE

Emy Yuliantini^{1*}, Ketut Sukiyono², Bambang Sulistyo³, M. Zulkarnain Yuliarso², Dinda Martiana¹

¹Department of Nutrition , Health Polytechnic Ministry of Health, Indonesia ²Department of Agribusiness, Faculty of Agriculture, Bengkulu University, Indonesia ³Department of Soil Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Bengkulu University, Indonesia *E-mail : emyardi2017@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The natural wealth of coastal areas is not accompanied by the welfare of the people who occupy a lower economic stratum than other land communities, including in fulfilling nutrition. The study aims to analyze the influence of food security and social, health, environmental and household food security factors on the incidence of stunting in children aged 12-59 months in coastal households in Bengkulu Province. The research methodology used a mixed approach, between quantitative and qualitative. Data analysis used Structural Equation Modeling (SEM). The study results showed that the policy aspect significantly affected food security (β =0.085; t=1.979; and p-value < 0.05) but is non-significant on stunting. There was a significant positive effect of health on food security with a value of β =0.237, value t = 7.157, and p-value <0.05. Health had no significant effect on stunting with a value of β =-0.040, value t = 0.963, and p-value < 0.05) and a significant positive effect on stunting (β =0.155; t=2.781; and p-value < 0.05). The social aspect had a non-significant relationship with both food security and stunting. Food security was significantly related to stunting (β =0.441; t=7.971; and p-value <0.05). The research conclusion is that food security had a significant favorable association with stunting.

Keywords: food security, social, health, environment, stunting.

INTRODUCTION

Economic potential and wealth in coastal areas are accompanied by abundant marine products and other biodiversity. However, the natural wealth of coastal regions is not accompanied by the real welfare of the people's lives and occupies a low economic strata compared to other land communities, including in fulfilling nutrition (Leo *et al.*, 2018; Sutrisno, 2014). Nutrition is essential for optimal growth and development (Auliya & Budiono, 2015). One of the determining factors of nutritional quality is food consumption patterns, which are influenced by the level of food availability, namely the type and amount of food consumed (Retnaningsih et al., 2011).

The impact of stunting on toddlers can also be caused directly by the mother's knowledge regarding nutrition, toddler eating patterns, cleanliness and sanitation at home (Nyoman Supariasa et al., 2022). People in coastal areas depend on using marine resources for their livelihoods. According to research by Baculu and Jufri (2017), a protein intake level of 96.43% is sufficient for toddlers on the coast of Donggala Regency. However, research by Lusiana & Maryanto (2014) shows that the poor nutritional status of toddlers from fishing families is 80% greater than that of toddlers from farming families. The risk factor most strongly associated with stunting in coastal areas is low levels of protein adequacy (Leo et al., 2018)

A strategy that can be implemented is to develop a local food movement based on various values and motivations, such as environmental preservation, healthy lifestyles, utilisation of local biological resources, respect for local farmers, and public awareness (Dwiartama et al., 2020; Khumaera, 2020). Society's social economy and culture can influence the nutritional intake of society and individuals. The environment has a major influence on energy and nutritional intake (Singh Sekhon, 2014). Socio-economic and cultural society can influence the nutritional intake of society and individuals. The environment significantly influences energy and nutritional intake (Singh Sekhon, 2014). The problem is whether the policies/strategies implemented are effective enough; therefore, research examining the relationship between policies and the prevalence of stunting is crucial.

Efforts to reduce nutritional problems must be handled cross-sector at all levels. Mothers and pregnant women must be provided with knowledge about nutrition and pregnancy and exclusive breastfeeding for healthy mothers. The prevalence of very short and stunted toddlers in Indonesia is 29.9%, and in Bengkulu Province is 27.9% (Ministry of Health, 2018).

There are various strategies to overcome the problem of stunting; one of the strategies for achieving food security is food diversification, which can be done with the Local Food Development program to increase food availability, quality and diversification by exploring the potential of local food in increasing availability to meet the consumption needs of quality, diverse and affordable food at the household level. Strategies that can be implemented in developing the local food movement are based on various values and motivations, such as environmental preservation, healthy lifestyle, utilization of local biological resources, respect for local farmers, and community awareness (Dwiartama et al., 2020; Khumaera, 2020).

METHODS

This study used a mixed method, quantitative and qualitative approach, combining them into one piece of information to interpret the overall results. This research was conducted using mixed methods, quantitative and qualitative approaches, combining the two into one piece of information to interpret the overall results. The research technique surveyed coastal families in 6 districts and one city in Bengkulu province with a sample of 478 households. A quantitative approach was taken to analyze food security, a determining factor in the incidence of stunting in toddlers. Data were collected using a list of questions arranged according to the topics collected through interviews, observations, and focus group discussions. Data analysis uses Partial Least Square Structural Equation Modeling (SEM PLS) analysis.





Informatio	on:
KP	: RT Food Security
KP1	: Diversity
KP2	: Food Quantity Analysis
KP3	: Food Quality Analysis
HEALTH	: Health
HEALTH	: Distance access to health facilities
HEALTH 2	2 : Access to healthcare facilities
HEALTH 3	3 : Ownership of Health Insurance
ENVRO	: Environment
ENVRO 1	: Access to clean water
ENVRO 2	: Physical quality of water
ENVRO 3	: Access Sanitation
ENVRO 4	: Waste disposal
SOCIAL	: Social Determinants
SOCIAL1	: Parental Education
SOCIAL2	: Mother Knowledge
SOCIAL3	: Level of Family Income
POLICY	: Policy
POLICY1	: Perception of Local Government Policy
Y	: Stunted
Y1	: Anthropometric Measurements

This study uses the Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) method with the Partial Least Square (PLS) approach, often called SEM-PLS. In the first condition of internal consistency, this study uses a parameter, composite reliability (CR), which has a threshold value of 0.700, with each outer loading value. The indicator for each variable is at least 0.500. Then, it is necessary to test the multicollinearity of the indicators with the criterion value of the variance inflation factor (VIF) of less than five (<5). Indicators with an outer loading value of less than 0.500 and/or a VIF value greater than five (> 5) are excluded from the model.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

We are analyzing the influence of food security and social, health, environmental and household food security factors on stunting in children aged 12-59 months in coastal households in Bengkulu Province.

From the initial measurement model, some indicators do not meet the outer requirements loading and composite reliability requirements, such as the indicators h3_transportation and e1_air clean, which have outer values loading respectively of -0.229 and 0.072 which is far from the minimum limit of 0.500. These indicators need to be issued to produce a good model. Evaluation of measurement models that have issued indicators that do not meet internal consistency requirements is presented in Table 2, with all indicators of outer loadings, internal consistency, and non-multicollinearity fulfilling the requirements.

From Figure 2, the final model of the relationship between variables shows that nutritional status can be reflected from the anthropometric indicators of weight/height, weight/ age and height/age. As expected, all the manifest variables from the nutritional status indicators had a positive effect. H/A contributed 0.779 to the incidence of stunting. Sanitation is an indicator that positively influences the environment, giving a contribution of 1,000. The distance from the house to the health facility can have a positive influence because the distance from the house that is too far can affect the condition of the community in obtaining health services, which will also affect the incidence of stunting. In contrast, food diversity (0.910) and food quality (0.644) affect food security (0.441), which is reflected in the incidence of stunting. Respondents' perceptions of society and government in policy negatively influence Table 1. Evaluation of the Initial Measurement Model

Variable	Indicator	Outer Loading	CR	VIF
Stunting	W/H	0.923	0.851	1.897
	W/A	0.722		1.331
	H/A	0.775		1.640
Environment	e1_airclean	0.072	0.218	1.157
	e2_qualityair	-0.049		1.006
	e3_sanitation	0.994		1,010
	e4_trash	-0.105		1.153
Health	h1_insurance	-0.063	0.169	1.137
	h2_distance	0.940		1.035
	h3_ transportation	-0.229		1.106
	kp1_ diversity_ food	0.903	0.667	1.124
Food security	kp2_ quantity_ pangan	0.624		1,082
	kp3_kualitas_ pangan	0.315		1,043
Policy	p1_ community	0.711	0.733	1.136
	p2_ government	0.855		1.152
	p3_legislatif	0.483		1.072
Social	s1_ knowledge_ mother	0.891	0.746	1.051
	s2_revenue	0.639		1.051

From Table 1 above, the following equation can be derived: Stunts = 0.923 (W/H) + 0.722 (W/A) - 0.775(H/A).....

.....(1)

Environment = 0.072 e1_airClean - 0.049 e2_k.air + 0.994 e3_ sanitation - 0.105 e4_sampah.....(2)

Health = 0.063 h1_insurance + 0.940 h2_distance-0.229 h3_ transportation.....(3)

$$\label{eq:solution} \begin{split} Food \ Security = 0.903 \ kp1_kerag_p + 0.624 \ kp2_quantity_p + .315 \\ kp3_quality_p \ \dots \dots \dots (4) \end{split}$$

Policy = 0.711p 1_Society + 0.855 P 2_Government + 0.483_ legislature(5)

stunting and social variables related to mothers' knowledge and family income.

The second and third criteria are convergent validity and discriminant validity. Convergent validity evaluation uses average variance extracted (AVE) criteria with a threshold of



VariableAVEPolicy0.658Health1,000Food security0.621Environment1,000Social0.601

0.658

Table 3. Evaluation of Convergent Validity

Stunt

Figure 2. Initial Model of Relations Between Variables (Outer Loadings, Path Coefficients and P-Values).

Table 2. Evaluation of the Final Measurement Model

Variable	Indicator	Outer Loading	CR	VIF 1,897	
Stunt	W/H	0.924	0.851		
	W/A	0.715		1,331	
	H/A	0.779		1,640	
Environment	e3_sanitation	1,000	1,000	1,000	
Health	h2_distance	1,000	1,000	1,000	
Food security	kp1_diversity_food	0.910	0.761	1,078	
	kp2_quantity_pangan	0.644		1,078	
Policy	p1_community	0.748	0.793	1.116	
	p2_government	0.869		1.116	
Social	s1_knowledge_mother	0.889	0.746	1,051	
	s2 revenue	0.641		1,051	

Table 4. HTMT Discriminant Validity Evaluation

	Policy	Health	Food Security	Environment	Social	Stunt
Policy						
Health	0.195					
Food security	0.684	0.463				
Environment	0.524	0.074	0.819			
Social	0.764	0.194	0.779	0.456		
Stunt	0.064	0.072	0.461	0.079	0.196	

0.500. Discriminant validity evaluation can use Heterotrait-Monotrait (HTMT). HTMT is considered more reliable in identifying validity. The HTMT has a maximum threshold of 0.900.

Based on Table 3, it is obtained that all AVE values exceed 0.500. The following table presents the HTMT discriminant validity evaluation matrix. All values of the matrix have a range of less than 0.900, which means there is no problem with discriminant validity in this study.

The study used 2.000 bootstrapping analysis methods (random re-sampling) from the questionnaire data to evaluate the path coefficient and R². Aims to minimize the problem of abnormal research data. The path coefficient describes the formation of linkages between constructs, while R2 describes how much influence the construct has in explaining its endogenous variables. As the hypothesis is developed, the evaluation of the structural model uses a two-tailed p-value.

Variable relationship	Betas (ß)	Statistics t	p-values	Information
Food Security \rightarrow Health	0.237	7.157	< 0.001	Significant
Stunting \rightarrow Health	-0.040	0.963	0.336	Non-significant
Food Security \rightarrow Environment	-0.492	12.846	< 0.001	Significant
Stunting \rightarrow Environment	0.155	2.781	0.005	Significant
Social →Food Security	0.076	1.778	0.076	Non-significant
Social → Stunting	-0.021	0.346	0.729	Non-significant
Food Security →Policy	0.085	1.979	0.048	Significant
Stunting \rightarrow Policy	-0.035	0.634	0.526	Non-significant
Food security \rightarrow stunt	0.441	7.971	< 0.001	Significant

 Table 5.
 Model Hypothesis Testing Results

The processing results show a significant favorable influence on food security with a value of $\beta = 0.237$, t value = 7.157, and p-value <0.05. Health has no significant effect on stunting with a value of β = -0.040; t value = 0.963, and p-value > 0.05. Environmental aspects have a significant adverse effect on food security (β = -0.492; t value = 12.846; and p-value < 0.05) and a significant positive effect on stunting (β = 0.155; t value = 2.781; and p-value <0.05). The social aspect has a non-significant effect on both food security and stunting. The policy aspect positively affects food security (β = 0.085; t value = 1.979; and p-value <0.05) but is non-significant on stunting. Food security significantly affects stunting ($\beta = 0.441$; t value = 7.971; and p-value < 0.05).

The R^2 value of the processing results was obtained at 0.398 for food security and 0.127 for stunting. Each of these values can be classified as moderate and weak. Specifically, this also means that health, environmental, social and policy aspects explain 39.8 % of the factors influencing food security in the research model. The health, environmental, social, policy, and food security aspects only explain 12.7% of the factors influencing stunting in the research model.

Structural Model Equations

Food security = 0.237 (health) + (-0.492) (environment) + 0.085 (policy) + 0.424 (error) = 0.27.....(1)

Based on the structural model equation above, it can be explained that food security against stunting is influenced by health by 0.237, environment by -0.492 and policy by 0.085 with an error rate of 0.424. Thus, overall food security is influenced by health, the environment and policies of 0.27.

Stunting = 0.005 (environment) + 0.000 (food security) + 0.393 (error)

= 0.398.....(2)

Evaluation of model fit Apart from the path coefficient and R2 value, several other criteria are used, especially to evaluate the suitability of the resulting model. Several parameters are used, such as the value of f two, which measures the effect of each exogenous variable on endogenous variables, standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), and Stone-Geisser (Q²). These criteria are presented in Table 6.

All model fit criteria give good results. SRMR value of 0.094 is still below the threshold of 0.100. Q2 values for food security and stunting are all greater than zero as a threshold. Meanwhile, all f² values for the independent variables are in the range of 0.000-0.332, which means that the effect of exogenous on endogenous variables varies in the very low to large categories.

Table 6. Results of Evaluation of the Fit Model

Variable	R 2	SRMR	Q 2	f 2 Food security	f 2 stunt
Policy	-		-	0.010	0.001
Health	-		-	0.090	0.002
Food security	0.398		0.240	-	0.135
Environment	-		-	0.332	0.017
Social	-		-	0.008	0.000
Stunt	0.127	0.094	0.068	0.010	0.001

Outer loading result 1 shows an outer loading value still below 0.5, so indicators with an outer loading value below 0.5 must be removed. Research by Urke et al. (2013) shows that the highest incidence of stunting occurs in rural areas compared to urban and coastal areas. Research by Leo et al. (2018) and Ikhtiarti et al. (2019) shows that the risk factors for stunting in mountainous and coastal areas are based on energy adequacy levels, protein adequacy levels, Fe adequacy levels, low history of exclusive breastfeeding, environmental sanitation, health services, caregiver knowledge. The importance of a policy approach to achieving food security and stunting, Jiren et al. (2020) examined farmers in Ethiopia as an essential focus in ensuring food security. Food insecurity in the household and menu composition that is not nutritious, unbalanced and does not vary in quality and quantity can cause stunted growth and nutritional deficiencies in toddlers (Tessema et al., 2013).

Correctly mapping nutritional status problems for toddlers so that nutritional improvement programs do not increase nutritional problems at the next age. This strategy focuses on increasing household food security and food diversity using quantitative and qualitative analysis (Torlesse et al., 2016). Also, by taking a policy approach to achieve food security (Jiren et al., 2020), Transportation is crucial in supporting community access to health services. Ideally, community outreach to health service facilities should be carried out regularly.

Poor environmental sanitation with access to clean water, use of inadequate latrines and low compliance with hand washing behavior have contributed to the increase in infectious diseases. This infectious disease can cause impaired food absorption, which results in nutritional disorders and long-term impacts. Prolonged nutritional disorders affect the linear growth of toddlers, such as stunting (Tentama et al., 2020).

The research results showed that the research locations mostly had goose-neck latrines in areas with and without extensive water access. Access to clean water and water quality are primarily moderate and reasonable. Actions to improve the environment are necessary; the goal is to make the environment healthy for all living things. Thus, a healthy environment can influence the quality of life and health of those who live there (Celesta & Fitriyah, 2016). A poor environment in terms of sanitation, drinking air, and population density also stunts children's health due to unhealthy behavior and low health knowledge (Aisyah & Suyatno, 2019). Schmidt's (2014) research shows that in ASIAN countries, children who live without sanitation, hygiene, and clean drinking water do not grow well compared to children who receive these facilities. Environmental risk at different levels considers how the environment interacts with nutrition related to stunting (Vilcins et al., 2018).

Low family income is also possible because residents around the coast have a relatively low economic level; where during the western season, some fishermen do not go to sea, and most of them only depend on fish in the sea for their livelihood (Kristiyanti, 2016). Research by Arlius, Sudargo, and Subejo (2017) shows that food security and the nutritional status of children under five are closely related; if the family lacks food, it will affect their nutritional status. Toddlers need a balanced nutritional intake to prevent stunting by increasing maternal nutritional knowledge (Yuliantini et al., 2022). It is crucial for parents to pay more attention to parenting patterns, especially in the variety of food served (Aisyah, Suyatno, 2019). Low family income is also possible because residents around the coast have a relatively low economic level; where during the western season, some fishermen do not go to sea, and most of them only depend on fish in the sea for their livelihood (Kristiyanti, 2016). Research by Arlius, Sudargo, and Subejo (2017) shows that food security and the nutritional status of children under five are closely related; if the family lacks food, it will affect their nutritional status. Toddlers need a balanced nutritional intake to prevent stunting by increasing maternal nutritional knowledge (Yuliantini et al., 2022). It is crucial for parents to pay more attention to parenting patterns, especially in the variety of food served (Aisyah, Suyatno, 2019).

Research shows that coastal families in Bengkulu Province, both in locus and non-locus areas, are mainly secure due to food diversity and analysis of food quantity in the medium vulnerable and medium food quality categories, but almost half of the food quality analysis is not utilized.
Family food security is the family's ability to meet the food needs of household members in terms of quantity, quality, and variety by local culture. In contrast, family food security is reflected in the family's availability, purchasing power and affordability in fulfilling food (Natalia et al., 2013). Likewise, research by Roaedi et al. (2014) states that there is a relationship between the level of household food security and the nutritional status of children under five.

Research conducted by Damayanti and Khoirudin in 2016 stated that there are things that can influence food security in an area, namely income, the education level of the head of the household, and the number of individuals in the family. A good influence on food security if it is in a more positive direction. Income is an influential component when deciding the amount of financial use, the family can use to provide household food. If income increases, the food consumed can vary, which will determine better nutritional education (Aritonang et al., 2020). Household food insecurity, low maternal education and Trichuris trichura infection are some of Ethiopia's main factors causing malnutrition (Wolde et al., 2015). Based on the Spatial Error Model (SEM), seven parameters were significant at the 10% level. The SEM model produces an AIC of 165.11, considered better than the OLS method regression model, which produces an AIC of 175.53 (Revildy et al., 2020). Nur Susanti's research (Nur Susanti, 2022) shows that handling stunting needs to be carried out optimally by implementing two specific and sensitive interventions. Active involvement of all parties, including the minor elements of the village, starts from communizing perceptions and interests, which are communicated routinely and measurably (there is ongoing evaluation and monitoring to determine the progress of program development). The quality and quantity of human resources from technical implementers so that stunting can be handled quickly and precisely. So, the design of stunting prevention strategies in coastal households is strengthened by collaborative public action partnerships involving multiple factors, sectors and actors (PPN/Bappenas, 2019).

CONCLUSION

Analysis of food security and social, health, environmental and household food security factors on the incidence of stunting in children aged 12 - 59 months in coastal households in Bengkulu Province shows that food security significantly influences stunting.

REFERENCES

- Agnes Rihi Leo,Hertanto W Subagyo, Martha I Kartasurya. Risk Factors of Stunting among Children Aged 2-5 Years in Ridge And Coastal J. Gipas, Mei 2018, Volume 2 Nomor 1 ISSN 2599-0152 eISSN 2599-2465 http://jos. unsoed. ac. id/index. php/jgps.
- Aisyah, Suyatno, M. Z. R. (2019) 'Faktor-Faktor Yang Berhubungan Dengan Stunting Pada Anak Kelas Satu Di Sdi Taqwiyatul Wathon, Daerah Pesisir Kota Semarang', 7.
- Akombi, B. J. et al. (2017) 'Stunting and severe stunting among children under-5 years in Nigeria: A multilevel analysis', BMC Pediatrics, 17(1), pp. 1–16. doi: 10.1186/s12887-016-0770-z.
- Arlius, A., Sudargo, T. and Subejo, S. (2017) 'Hubungan Ketahanan Pangan Keluarga Dengan Status Gizi Balita (Studi Di Desa Palasari Dan Puskesmas Kecamatan Legok, Kabupaten Tangerang)', *Jurnal Ketahanan Nasional*, 23(3), p. 359. doi: 10.22146/jkn.25500.
- Aryastami, N. K. (2017) 'Kajian Kebijakan dan Penanggulangan Masalah Gizi Stunting di Indonesia', *Buletin Penelitian Kesehatan*, 45(4), pp. 233–240. doi: 10.22435/bpk. v45i4.7465.233-240.
- Aryastami, N. K. *et al.* (2017) 'Low birth weight was the most dominant predictor associated with stunting among children aged 12-23 months in Indonesia', *BMC Nutrition*, 3(1), pp. 1–6. doi: 10.1186/s40795-017-0130-x.
- Aryastami, N. and Tarigan, I. (2017) 'Kajian Kebijakan dan Penanggulangan Masalah Gizi Stunting di Indonesia Policy Analysis on Stunting Prevention in Indonesia', *Buletin Penelitian Kesehatan*, 45(4), pp. 233–240.
- Auliya, C. and Budiono, I. (2015) 'Profil Status Gizi Balita Ditinjau Dari Topografi Wilayah Tempat Tinggal (Studi Di Wilayah Pantai Dan Wilayah Punggung Bukit Kabupaten Jepara)', Unnes

Yuliantini et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 58–67 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.58–67

Journal of Public Health., 4(2), pp. 108–116. doi: 10.15294/ujph.v4i2.5739.

- Baculu, H. and Jufri, M. (2017) 'Faktor Risiko Gizi Buruk pada Balita Pesisir Pantai', *PROMOTIF:Jurnal Kesehatan Masyarakat*, 7(2), pp. 123–130.
- Capanzana, M. V. *et al.* (2018) 'Nutritional status of children ages 0-5 and 5-10 years old in households headed by fisherfolks in the Philippines', *Archives of Public Health*, 76(1), pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1186/s13690-018-0267-3.
- Depkes (2018) 'Hasil Utama Riset Kesehatan Dasar Tahun 2018', *Riset Kesehatan Dasar*, pp. 1–100.
- Derso, T. *et al.* (2017) 'Stunting, wasting and associated factors among children aged 6-24 months in Dabat health and demographic surveillance system site: A community based cross-sectional study in Ethiopia', *BMC Pediatrics*, 17(1), pp. 1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12887-017-0848-2.
- Dwiartama, A. et al. (2020) 'Membangun Ketahanan Pangan Melalui Gerakan Pangan Lokal: Studi Kasus Di Kota Bandung', Jurnal Sosioteknologi, 19(1), p. 92. doi: 10.5614/ sostek.itbj.2020.19.1.7.
- Ghiffari, A. *et al.* (2023) 'Active Case Detection Menurunkan Kejadian Stunting Di Kabupaten Ogan Komering Ilir', 7(4), pp. 3730–3738.
- Growth, S. (2014) 'Beyond Malnutrition', *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 122(11), pp. 298–303.
- Haile, D. *et al.* (2016) 'Exploring spatial variations and factors associated with childhood stunting in Ethiopia: Spatial and multilevel analysis', *BMC Pediatrics*, 16(1), pp. 1–14. doi: 10.1186/ s12887-016-0587-9.
- Ikhtiarti, W., Rahfiludin, M. Z. and Nugraheni, S. A. (2019) 'Faktor Determinan Yang Berhubungan Dengan Kejadian Stunting Pada Balita Usia 1 - 3 Tahun Di Wilayah Pesisir Kabupaten Brebes', *Jurnal Kesehatan Masyarakat (e-Journal)*, 8(1), pp. 260–271.
- Ikhwanul, P. R., Kawung, E. J. R. and Waani, N. (2014) 'Peran Ibu Rumah Tangga Nelayan dalam Upaya Meningkatkan Perekonomian Keluarga di Kelurahan Bitung Karang Ria kecamatan Tuminting kota Manado', Jurnal Acta Diurna, 3(4).
- Jiren, T. S. *et al.* (2020) 'Alternative discourses around the governance of food security: A case study from Ethiopia', *Global Food Security*, 24(July 2018), p. 100338. doi: 10.1016/j. gfs.2019.100338.

- Katili, A. S., Lamondo, D. and Kasim, V. N. A. (2023) 'Inovasi Produk Olahan Jagung dan Kerang Darah Untuk Atasi Stunting', 27(1), pp. 83–87.
- Kementerian Kesehatan (2020) 'Rencana Aksi Program Kemenkes', *Kemenkes*, 4(1), pp. 88–100.
- Kementerian Kesehatan RI (2018) 'Buku saku pemantauan status gizi', *Buku saku pemantauan status gizi tahun 2017*, pp. 7–11.
- Khumaera, N. I. (2020) 'Di Kecamatan Tana Lili Kabupaten Luwu Utara Local Food Based UMKM Development Strategy in Tanalili Sub District , Luwu Utara District', 9(1), pp. 64–73.
- Kristiandi, K., Riyadi, H. and Kustiyah, L. (2015) 'Analisis Kualitas Konsumsi Pangan Rumah Tangga dan Status Gizi Balita Pada Masyarakat Kasepuhan Ciptagelar Sukabumi', *sekolah pascasarjana Institut Pertanian Bogor*, pp. 1–52.
- Kuiper, M. et al. (2020) 'Labor supply assumptions - A missing link in food security projections', *Global Food Security*, 25(October), p. 100328. doi: 10.1016/j.gfs.2019.100328.
- Latumeten, R., Lesnussa, Y. A. and Rumlawang, F. Y. (2018) 'Penggunaan Structural Equation Modeling (Sem) untuk Menganalisis Faktor yang Mempengaruhi Loyalitas Nasabah (Studi Kasus : PT Bank Negara Indonesia (BNI) KCU Ambon)', Sainmatika: Jurnal Ilmiah Matematika dan Ilmu Pengetahuan Alam, 15(2), p. 76. doi: 10.31851/sainmatika.v15i2.2301.
- Leo, A. R. *et al.* (2018) 'Faktor risiko stunting pada anak usia 2–5 tahun di wilayah gunung dan pesisir pantai risk factors of stunting among children aged 2–5 years in Ridge And Coastal Puskesmas kerja Kecamatan Oelbiteno', *J. Undip*, 2(1), pp. 3–11. doi: 10.1111/mcn.12283.
- Lestari, O. A. (2018) 'Pangan Setengah Jadi Berbasis Ikan Sebagai Salah Satu Alternatif Penurunan Angka Stunting Dan Peningkatan Angka Kecukupan Protein (Akp) Tingkat Rumah Tangga', *Sakai Sambayan Jurnal Pengabdian kepada Masyarakat*, 2(3), p. 94. doi: 10.23960/jss.v2i3.115.
- Lusiana, I. and Maryanto, S. (2014) 'The Determinant Factors Assciated With The Malnutrition Incidences Of Children 12-59 Months Old At Mulyasari Village Losari Cirebon', Jurnal Gizi dan Kesehatan, 6(11).
- M'Kaibi, F. K. et al. (2017) 'The relationship between agricultural biodiversity, dietary

diversity, household food security, and stunting of children in rural Kenya', *Food Science and Nutrition*, 5(2), pp. 243–254. doi: 10.1002/fsn3.387.

- Masrin, M., Paratmanitya, Y. and Aprilia, V. (2014) 'Ketahanan pangan rumah tangga berhubungan dengan stunting pada anak usia 6-23 bulan', *Jurnal Gizi dan Dietetik Indonesia (Indonesian Journal of Nutrition and Dietetics)*, 2(3), p. 103. doi: 10.21927/ijnd.2014.2(3).103-115.
- Nurlaela Sari, D. et al. (2023) 'Pemberdayaan Masyarakat dalam Pencegahan Stunting', JPKMI (Jurnal Pengabdian Kepada Masyarakat Indonesia), 4(1), pp. 85–94. doi: 10.36596/ jpkmi.v4i1.552.
- Nurlatif, R. V. N. and Priharwanti, A. (2019) 'Stunting : Besaran Masalah & Strategi Pencegahannya Di Kabupaten Pekalongan', *Kajen: Jurnal Penelitian dan Pengembangan Pembangunan*, 3(02), pp. 69–82. doi: 10.54687/ jurnalkajenv03i02.1.
- Ogunniyi, A. I. *et al.* (2020) 'Governance quality, remittances and their implications for food and nutrition security in Sub-Saharan Africa', *World Development*, 127, p. 104752. doi: 10.1016/j. worlddev.2019.104752.
- Perpres (2021) 'Peraturan Presiden Republik Indonesia No. 72 Tahun 2021 Tentang Percepatan Penurunan Stunting', *Republik Indonesia*, (1), p. 23.
- PPN/Bappenas (2019) 'Rencana Pembangunan Jangka Menengah Nasional 2015-2019', *Rencana Pembangunan Jangka Menengah* Nasional 2020-2024, p. 313. doi: 10.1017/ CBO9781107415324.004.
- Pratomo, G. (2017) 'Analysis Of Effect Of Social And Economic Infrastructure Development To The Economy Of Coastal Areas In East Java Province', *the Spirit of Society Journal*, 1(1), p. 21. doi: 10.29138/scj.v1i1.367.
- Rachman, F. (2022) 'Transformasi Program CSR di bidang Kesehatan dalam Upaya Pencegahan dan Penanganan Pandemik Covid-19 di Era New-Normal', *International Journal of Innovation Review*, 2(1), pp. 51–60. doi: 10.52473/ijir. v2i1.16.
- Rah, J. H. *et al.* (2010) 'Low dietary diversity is a predictor of child stunting in rural Bangladesh', *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 64(12), pp. 1393–1398. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2010.171.
- Rahmawati, F. N., Mulyaningsih, T. and Daerobi, A. (2019) 'Pengaruh Karakteristik Rumah

Tangga, Keragaman Makanan, Lingkungan Hidup terhadap Status Gizi Balita', *Media Kesehatan Masyarakat Indonesia*, 15(4), p. 367. doi: 10.30597/mkmi.v15i4.7929.

- Rajagopalan, S. (2003) 'Nutrition challenges in the next decade', Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 24(3), pp. 275–280. doi: 10.1177/156482650302400306.
- Rathnayake, K. M., Madushani, P. and Silva, K. (2012) 'Use of dietary diversity score as a proxy indicator of nutrient adequacy of rural elderly people in Sri Lanka', *BMC Research Notes*, 5, pp. 2–7. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-5-469.
- Rayeuk, I. D. I. *et al.* (2019) 'Lokasi Desa Stunting Tahun 2019', (1), pp. 1–14.
- Revildy, W. D. et al. (2020) '(SEM Modelling in Prevalence of Short Toddler (Stunting) in Indonesia 2018) Pemodelan Spatial Error Model (Sem) Angka Prevalensi Balita Pendek (Stunting) Di Indonesia Tahun 2018 Data dan Variabel Penelitian', Seninar Nasional Official Statistics 2020, pp. 1224–1231.
- RI, K. K. (2022) 'Status Gizi SSGI 2022'.
- Sagala, S. H., Maifita, Y. and Armaita (2020) 'Perilaku Penerapan Gizi Seimbang Masyarkaat Kota Binjai pada Masa Pandemi COVID-19 Tahun 2020', *Jurnal Menara Medika*, 2(2), pp. 119–127.
- Saputri, A. and Rusman, A. D. P. (2022) 'Analisis Sosial Ekonomi Dengan Kejadian Stunting Di Daerah Dataran Tinggi Kota Parepare', *Jurnal Ilmiah Manusia Dan Kesehatan*, 5(1), pp. 503–510.
- Shauma, Udzu Nabila & Purbaningrum, D. G. (2022) 'Implementasi Kebijakan Percepatan Pencegahan Stunting', *Jurnal Kebijakan Publik*, 13(2), pp. 97–104.
- Shinsugi, C. et al. (2015) 'Factors associated with stunting among children according to the level of food insecurity in the household: A cross-sectional study in a rural community of Southeastern Kenya Global health', BMC Public Health, 15(1), pp. 1–10. doi: 10.1186/ s12889-015-1802-6.
- Singh Sekhon, B. (2014) 'Nanotechnology in agrifood production: An overview', *Nanotechnology, Science and Applications*, 7(2), pp. 31–53. doi: 10.2147/NSA.S39406.
- Sugiarta, I. M. *et al.* (2019) 'Filsafat Pendidikan Ki Hajar Dewantara (Tokoh Timur)', *Jurnal Filsafat Indonesia*, 2(3), p. 124. doi: 10.23887/ jfi.v2i3.22187.

Yuliantini et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 58–67 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.58–67

- Torlesse, H. *et al.* (2016) 'Determinants of stunting in Indonesian children: Evidence from a crosssectional survey indicate a prominent role for the water, sanitation and hygiene sector in stunting reduction', *BMC Public Health.* doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3339-8.
- Trihono et al. (2015) Pendek (Stunting) dI Indonesia, Masalah dan Solusinya, Nucl. Phys.
- Urke, H. B., Mittelmark, M. B. and Valdivia, M. (2013) 'Trends in stunting and overweight in Peruvian pre-schoolers from 1991 to 2011: Findings from the Demographic and Health Surveys', *Public Health Nutrition*, 17(11), pp. 2407–2418. doi: 10.1017/ S1368980014000275.
- Vilcins, D., Sly, P. D. and Jagals, P. (2018) 'Environmental Risk Factors Associated with Child Stunting: A Systematic Review of the Literature', *Annals of Global Health*, 84(4), pp. 551–562.
- Wicaksono, F. and Harsanti, T. (2020) 'Determinants of stunted children in Indonesia: A multilevelanalysis at the individual, household, and community levels', *Kesmas*, 15(1), pp. 48–53. doi: 10.21109/kesmas.v15i1.2771.
- Wijayanti, R. and Sumarmi, S. (2017) 'Pertumbuhan anak dari ibu yang mendpat suplemen Multimikronutrien dan anak dari ibu yang mendapat suplemen besi folat selama hamil (Studi follow up di Kabupaten Probolinggo, Jawa Timur)',

The Indonesian Journal of Public Health, 11(1), p. 1. doi: 10.20473/ijph.v11i1.2016.1-13.

- Wolde, M., Berhan, Y. and Chala, A. (2015) 'Determinants of underweight, stunting and wasting among schoolchildren', *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), pp. 1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12889-014-1337-2.
- Wulandari, S. M. (2019) 'Analisis Pengaruh Determinan Sosial, Kesehatan, Lingkungan Dan Ketahanan Pangan Terhadap Kejadian Balita Stunting Menggunakan Metode Structural Equation Modeling (SEM)'
- Yuliantini, E., Kamsiah, K., et al. (2022) 'Asupan makanan dengan kejadian stunting pada keluarga nelayan di Kota Bengkulu', AcTion: Aceh Nutrition Journal, 7(1), p. 79. doi: 10.30867/action.v7i1.579.
- Yuliantini, E., Sukiyono, K., et al. (2022) 'Food Security and Stunting Incidences in the Coastal Areas of Indonesia', Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences, 10(F), pp. 454– 461. doi: 10.3889/oamjms.2022.9335.
- Yuliantini, E., Kamsiah and Meriwati (2018) 'Biskuit 'Fishbean'' sebagai Alternatif MPASI Lokal', 6(1).
- Zamdial, Z. *et al.* (2018) 'Studi Identifikasi Kerusakan Wilayah Pesisir Di Kota Bengkulu', *Jurnal Enggano*, 3(1), pp. 65–80. doi: 10.31186/ jenggano.3.1.65-80.

DIFFERENCES IN MACRONUTRIENT AND MICRONUTRIENT INTAKE OF STUNTED TODDLERS IN RURAL AND URBAN AREAS OF BENGKULU PROVINCE

Desri Suryani^{1*}, Kusdalinah¹, Bintang Agustina Pratiwi^{2,4}, Yandrizal^{3,4}

¹Health Polytechnic of Kemenkes Bengkulu, Bengkulu, Indonesia
 ² Faculty of Public Health, Universitas Dipenogoro, Bengkulu, Indonesia
 ³Bengkulu Provincial Health Training Technical Implementation Unit
 ⁴Universitas Muhammadiyah Bengkulu, Indonesia
 *E-mail: desrisuryani97@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Stunting prevalence in Kepahiang District is the highest compared to other districts. In Bengkulu, the incidence rate is lower than in other districts. Dietary intake is a direct factor causing stunting. This study examines the differences in macronutrient and micronutrient intake in stunted toddlers in rural and urban areas of Bengkulu Province. The study, with a cross-sectional design, was conducted from August to September 2020. A sample of 134 toddlers aged 12-24 months was selected using accidental sampling. Dietary intake data were collected using the Semi-Quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (SFFQ), and other data were collected through questionnaires. The collected data were analyzed using univariate and bivariate analyses with T-tests and Mann-Whitney tests. Macronutrient intake in stunted toddlers in rural areas was lower than in urban areas. Micronutrient intake in rural areas was also lower than in urban areas, except for vitamin A. Statistically, there were no differences in macronutrient (carbohydrates, proteins, fats) and micronutrient (vitamin A, calcium, phosphorus, iron, zinc) intake between rural and urban toddler in relation to stunting (p > 0.05). Based on the data obtained, the overall nutrient intake provided to the toddlers has not met the toddlers' nutritional needs. Regular counselling sessions from house to house for mothers with stunted toddlers are necessary. This would enable mothers to understand better their toddlers' dietary needs and how to monitor their growth.

Keywords: Intake, Macronutrients, Micronutrients, Toddlers, Stunting

INTRODUCTION

Malnutrition is characterised by over- or undernutrition, which imposes a significant financial burden on the healthcare system(Kizilyildiz et al., 2016). In 2020, it is estimated that 149 million children under the age of 5 will be stunted, a condition characterized by being below the expected height for their age on a global scale. It is estimated that malnutrition is the cause of death in about 45% of all cases involving children less than 5 years old. This is especially true in countries with low or middle incomes. At the same time, rates of overweight and obesity in children are also increasing in the same countries (WHO, 2021). In general, 99 million micronutrient-deficient children (aged 6-59 months) live in South Asia, 98 million in Sub-Saharan Africa, and 85 million in East Asia and the Pacific (Stevens et al., 2022).

The government has established five pillars to address stunting, including visionary and committed leadership, national education that leads to behavior change, integrated program at all levels of government and food and nutrition sensitivities (Badan Ketahanan Pangan Kementrian Pertanian, 2019). These efforts must be carried out integrated to achieve maximum results. Based on the results of SSGI 2021, stunting nationally has decreased by 1.6%/year, from 27.7% in 2019 to 24.4% in 2021. Most of the 34 provinces showed signs of decline compared to the previous year (Kemenkes RI, 2021).

Toddlers who face stunting often lack proper nutrition. Infectious diseases can also be a significant cause of this problem. In addition, parental health characteristics and background also play an essential role in the development of stunting in children (Ismawati et al., 2020). Food intake and infectious diseases are direct factors in the onset of nutritional problems. The nutrient intake of children under five must fulfil their needs to avoid stunting. Based on observations, children with stunting problems tend to consume foods such as poultry, eggs, and fruits less frequently. This is different from children who are not stunted, who generally have a pattern of consuming these foods with a more frequent frequency. The lack of consumption of these nutritious foods can be one of the factors that cause growth problems in children (Mahfouz et al., 2022).

Based on the geographical and socio-economic characteristics of the region, stunting was found to be more common in rural areas than in urban areas. Certain factors in rural areas, such as limited access to health services, income inequality, and possibly less food availability and diversity, may influence the higher prevalence of stunting there compared to urban areas (Kalinda et al., 2023; Sserwanja et al., 2021; Tadesse et al., 2023).

Bengkulu Province is one of the regions in Indonesia that also faces nutrition issues in children under five. Data in 2018 from e-PPGBM shows that the stunting rate among children under five reached 17.2%, while the rate of severe stunting children was 6.3%. Kapahyang district recorded the highest rate of stunted children under five with 28.2% and severe stunting children with 7.77%. Meanwhile, in Bengkulu City, the stunting rate of the under-fives was 10.7%. Based on this background, this study wants to see the differences in macronutrient and micronutrient intake in stunted toddlers in rural and urban areas.

METHODS

This research is an analytical survey with a cross-sectional design. The study is planned to take place from August to September 2020. The research location was selected based on predetermined criteria. An accidental sampling method was used to collect samples. The target population of this study were mothers with children aged 12-24 months in the August-September 2020 period. This age group was chosen purposively because it is in the first 1000 days of life period, a golden age for stunting prevention. The minimum sample size was calculated using Sample Size Determination in Health Sciences using 80% CI. The minimum sample based on that calculation was 63(Ogston et al., 1991). Furthermore, to minimize sample loss by adding 5% of the minimum sample, (Dettori, 2011) 67 samples were obtained in each group. In total, this study involved 134 respondents, divided into 67 toddlers from Sidodadi Health Centre (rural area) and 67 from Pasar Ikan Health Centre (urban area). The inclusion criteria were willingness to participate in the study and aged 12-24 months during the study period. Exclusion criteria included children with mental disorders or physical disabilities and children who were sick or receiving medical treatment. The variables studied include nutrient intake, which refers to the amount of food children consume, such as macronutrients including carbohydrates, protein, and fat, and micronutrients, including vitamin A, calcium, phosphorus, iron and zinc. In addition, stunting is defined as the level of a child's length/height as measured by age. To collect data on intake and nutritional status, the Semi-Food Frequency Questionnaire (SFFQ) tool and other data related to children's characteristics were used to measure their nutritional status. Data collection using semi-FFQ showed the diversity of foods generally consumed by the people of Bengkulu. There is no difference in the type of food between urban and rural communities. The collected data were then analyzed for univariate and bivariate. In the bivariate analysis, the T-test and Mann-Whitney test were used to determine the extent of the relationship between the independent variable and the dependent variable. In 2020, the Poltekes Ethics Committee of the Ministry of Health Bengkulu approved study protocol KEPK/093/19/2020. Health Research Ethics Committee confirms informed consent and instruments.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

All mothers under five are over 20 years old; in urban residents, mothers' height is mostly more than 150 cm (100%), higher education (82.09%), and mothers work more in rural than urban areas. For the characteristics of babies, most have birth weight and normal birth length both in rural and urban areas. In addition, the mother provides exclusive breastfeeding and early initiation of breastfeeding.

Based on the table above, the average carbohydrate intake of rural toddlers is 91.19 grams, while urban children's is 92.36 The average protein intake of rural toddlers is 31.1985, and Suryani et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 68–75 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.68–75

Variable –	R	ural	Urban		
variable -	n	%	n	%	
Mother Age (years)					
<20 years	0	0.0	0	0.0	
≥20 years	67	100.0	67	100.0	
Mother Height (cm)					
<150 cm	6	8,9	0	0.0	
≥150 cm	61	91.0	67	100.0	
Mother Education					
Low	40	59.7	12	17.91	
Hight	27	40.3	55	82.09	
Mother Occupation					
No	60	89.6	59	88.06	
Yes	7	10.4	8	11.94	
Birth Weight					
Low	7	5.2	3	2.2	
Normal	60	44.8	64	47.8	
Birth Length					
Short	11	8.2	5	3.7	
Normal	56	41.8	62	46.3	
Exclusive breastfeeding					
Yes	52	38.8	57	42.5	
No	15	11.2	10	7.5	
Early Breastfeeding Initi	ation				
Yes	50	37.3	62	46.3	
No	17	12.7	5	3.7	

 Table 1. Characteristics of Mothers and Toddlers in Rural and Urban

Table 2. Distribution of Macronutrient and
Micronutrient Intake of Rural and Urban
Children in Bengkulu in 2020.

cn

ъл:...

Mar

M . . .

Variable	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Carbohydrate (g)				
- Rural	91.19	32.90	34.0	201.6
- Urban	92.36	33.11	33.6	203.4
Protein (g)				
- Rural	32.19	11.8	9.7	66.7
- Urban	38.13	16.2	11.2	93.7
Fat (g)				
- Rural	26.22	8.67	6.0	52.0
- Urban	26.73	9.89	8.2	50.0
Vitamin A (RE)				
- Rural	1192.38	912.66	105	4832
- Urban	1230.59	1063.71	70.8	8001
Calcium (mg)				
- Rural	277.0	225.2	56.0	11.55
- Urban	449.8	431.5	73.8	25.63
Phosphor (mg)				
- Rural	443.38	198.33	3.8	232.2
- Urban	557.45	378.29	2	975.0
Iron (mg)				
-Rural	5.71	3.06	1.9	16.5
-Urban	6.75	3.62	1.2	17.0
Zinc (mg)				
-Rural	3.39	1.46	1.3	9.75
-Urban	4.03	2.02	1.2	10.7
HAZ (SD)				
-Rural	-1.45	1.31	-4.05	3.67
-Urban	-1.01	1.61	-3.89	4.54

34 had short status, as shown in Table 3. The next analysis looked at differences in macronutrient intake and specific micronutrients in stunted children in rural and urban areas, which can be seen in Table 4.

Data from the table above show that the average carbohydrate intake of severe stunting

Table 3. Distribution of Nutritional Status of Rural and
Urban Toddlers in 2020

Variable	Rı	ıral	Urban	
variable	n	%	n	%
Nutritional Status				
Not Stunting	46	68.6	47	70.1
Stunting	21	31.3	20	29.8
Stunting Status < -3SD (Severe stunting)	3	14.3	4	20.0
-3SD to <-2SD (Short)	18	85.7	16	80.0

urban 38.134. The average fat intake of rural toddlers is 26.22, and urban 26.737. Rural children under two's average vitamin A intake were 1192.3896 RE, and urban 1230.59 RE. The average calcium intake of rural children under five is 277.01; for urban children, it is 449.77. The average phosphorus intake of rural children under five was 443.77, and for urban children was 577.456. The average iron intake of rural children under five was 5.71, and urban 6.75. The average zinc intake of rural children under five was 5.71, and urban 6.75. The average zinc intake of rural children under five is 3.39 mg and urban 4.03. The mean nutritional status of rural children under five average zinc intake of zince average zince five was -1.453 and urban -1.0151 (Table 2).

To answer the research objectives, the stunting variable was analyzed to see the nutritional and stunting status frequency distribution. The results of the analysis found that 41 people were stunted. Furthermore, of the 41 people with stunting nutritional status, 7 had severe stunting status, and

		> -3SD	(Severe S	tunting)			-3 SD s.c	l < -2SD (Stunting	()	
Variable	n	mean	SD	Min	Max	n	mean	SD	Min	Max	p value
Carbohydrates (g)											
- Rural	3	79.3	59.6	41	148	18	205.04	453.12	47	201.6	0.40
- Urban	4	101.7	67.8	58	203	16	97.44	44.29	33	203.4	0.40
Protein (g)											
- Rural	3	47.3	14.9	35	64	18	33	12.4	15	66	0.00
- Urban	4	43.2	34	18	93	16	34.18	12.2	12	55	0.99
Fat (g)											
- Rural	3	21.0	11	9	32	18	28.4	10.2	14	52	
- Urban	4	18.3	6.29	11	24	16	26	7.8	8	39	0.99
Vitamin A (RE)											
- Rural	3	908.0	927.6	355	1979	18	1417	1320	105	4832	0.99
- Urban	4	710.3	602.6	70	1336	16	1216	800.6	103	1054	0.99
Calcium (mg)											
- Rural	3	215.0	173.5	89	413	18	272	209	56	737	0.16
- Urban	4	787.0	1184.7	138	2563	16	331.2	240.39	103	1054	0.16
Phosphor (mg)											
- Rural	3	498.0	225	266	772	18	498.2	240.5	185	975	0.69
- Urban	4	838.7	993.9	236	232.2	16	493.2	215.6	248	1054	0.68
Iron (mg)											
-Rural	3	5.0	3.6	2	9	18	4.7	2.5	1	12	0.68
-Urban	4	4.2	2.21	1	6	16	5.6	3.6	1	15	0.08
Zinc (mg)											
-Rural	3	3.0	2	1	5	18	2.83	1.33	1	12	0.85
-Urban	4	4.0	4.08	1	10	16	3.125	1.45	1	7	0.85

 Table 4. Differences in Macronutrient and Micronutrient Intakes among Rural and Urban Stunting Children in Bengkulu Province in 2020

toddlers in rural areas was 79.3 gram and in urban areas 101.7 gram, while the average carbohydrate intake of short toddlers in rural areas was 204.6 and in urban areas 204.61. Statistical tests showed no difference in the carbohydrate intake of stunted children in rural and urban areas (p-value = 0.80). The average protein intake of severe stunting toddlers in rural areas was 47.3 gram and in urban areas 43.25 gram, while the protein intake of short toddlers in rural areas was 33 gram and in urban areas 12.4 gram. Statistical test results showed no difference in the protein intake of stunted toddlers in rural and urban areas (p-value = 0.99). The average fat intake of severe stunting toddlers in rural areas was 21 gram and in urban areas 18.25 gram, while the fat intake of short toddlers in rural areas was 28.4 gram and in urban areas 26 gram. Statistical test results showed no difference in fat intake of stunted toddlers in rural and urban areas (p-value = 0.99).

The average vitamin A intake of severely stunted toddlers in rural areas is 908. In urban areas, it is 710.3 gram, while the vitamin A intake of short toddlers in rural areas is 1417 and in urban areas is 1216. Statistical tests showed no difference in vitamin A intake between rural and urban stunted children (p-value = 0.99). The average calcium intake of severe stunting toddlers in rural areas is 215 mg and in urban areas 787 mg, while the calcium intake of short toddlers in rural areas is 272 and in urban areas 331.2. Statistical tests showed no difference in calcium intake between rural and urban stunted children (p-value = 0.16). The average phosphorus intake of severe stunting toddlers in rural areas was 498 mg, and in urban areas, 838.7 mg. In comparison, the phosphorus intake of short toddlers in rural areas was 498.2 mg and in urban areas 493.3 mg. Statistical tests showed no difference in phosphorus intake between rural and urban stunted children (p-value

= 0.68). The average iron intake of severe stunting toddlers in rural areas was 5 mg and in urban areas 4.2 mg, while the iron intake of short toddlers in rural areas was 4.7 mg and in urban areas 5.6 mg. Statistical tests showed no difference in iron intake between rural and urban stunted children (p-value = 0.68). The average zinc intake of severe stunting toddlers in rural areas was 3 mg and in urban areas 4 mg, while the zinc intake of short toddlers in rural areas was 2.83 mg and in urban areas 3.125 mg. Statistical test results showed no difference in the protein intake of stunted toddlers in rural and urban areas (p-value = 0.85).

The amount of macro and micronutrients consumed by severe stunting toddlers is less compared to short toddlers in the village and the city. The nutritional intake of toddlers needs to be considered so that the dietary needs of toddlers are met. Stunted toddlers tend to consume fewer macronutrients (carbohydrates, protein and fat) than toddlers who are not stunted. (Elisanti et al., 2023; Limardi et al., 2022). In addition to micronutrients, toddlers need micronutrients to prevent stunting. Toddlers who consume less vitamin A, iron, calcium, phosphorus and zinc are more at risk of stunting. (Chairunnisa et al., 2018).

Children who are stunted due to inadequate nutritional intake. The cause of lack of intake is related to the level of maternal education; in research, it was found that maternal education in rural areas is lower, so the possibility of mothers not understanding the nutritional needs of children. In addition, food consumption is also related to production; working mothers will help the family economy. Most mothers have non-working status. This is in line with previous studies, which show that deficiencies in macronutrients and micronutrients are the main factors affecting the nutritional status of children in many countries (Verma & Prasad, 2021). The study found no differences between the intake of zinc and vitamin A nutrients between rural and urban children and the incidence of stunting, in line with previous research, which states that the consumption of nutritional supplements between rural and urban areas is not different (Sharif et al., 2020). In contrast to research conducted by Zou, which resulted in the findings of vitamin A intake between

children living in cities and villages, there are differences. Urban children consume more vitamin A than rural children (Zou et al., 2023). Ssentongo study showed a significant association between vitamin A deficiency and linear growth failure in preschool children in Uganda (Ssentongo et al., 2020).

In this study, the calcium intake of children living in rural and urban areas showed no difference. This is in line with previous research, which states no calcium consumption difference between rural and urban areas (Zou et al., 2023). Calcium intake in rural areas was lowest compared to urban and metropolitan areas. In the metropolitan and urban groups, diets tended to be high in calories, containing more milk, dairy products, and vegetables than subjects in rural areas. Dietary calcium intake was significantly lower (p<0.001) in subjects in rural areas than in urban and metropolitan areas. (Harinarayan & Ramalakshmi, 2015; Valaei et al., 2017)

Phosphorus is crucial in bone mineralization, making it particularly important in the growth phase. Low levels of phosphorus consumption in respondents were associated with low consumption of animal products in both the case and control groups. However, the analysis showed no significant difference. This result is in line with other studies that found no correlation between phosphorus intake and the incidence of stunting in children aged 24-59 months. This indicates that several other nutrients need to interact with phosphorus. In the context of this study, it was found that only intake of phosphorus, vitamin A, and the proportion between calcium and phosphorus intake was adequate, while intake of other nutrients was considered insufficient (Wessells & Brown, 2012).

This study found no difference in iron consumption between children living in rural and urban areas. This contrasts previous studies that found iron intake was lower in rural children than urban children. The estimated FeBio intake in Mexican children aged 12 to 59 months was deficient (less than 1 mg per day) and negatively associated with low socioeconomic status and living in rural areas. We also found that iron absorption from food was less than 10%. This is because: 1) the majority of iron consumed by Suryani et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 68–75 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.68–75

our population was non-heme, which has lower absorption compared to heme iron; 2) there was high consumption of ingredients that inhibit iron absorption, such as phytate and calcium, and low consumption of meat, which can increase iron absorption (Venegas-Aviles et al., 2020).

This study found no difference in zinc consumption between rural and urban toddlers, which aligns with Zou's findings. Zou's study found that serum zinc levels in village children and adolescents tended to be higher than in cities. The specific cause of this difference requires further research. The primary source of zinc in our body comes from food. To avoid zinc deficiency, it is recommended to have a balanced diet and consume red meat, which is a good source of zinc, and some seafood, such as oysters, but in moderation. (Zou et al., 2023). Another study conducted in Bengkulu City found that fish biscuits are foods rich in zinc and can improve the nutritional status of toddlers. (Yunita et al., 2022).

This study found no association between macro and micronutrient intake and the incidence of stunting. In contrast to Siringoringo study, where carbohydrate and protein intake were associated with the incidence of stunting in under-fives, this did not apply to fat consumption. Likewise, Vitamin A, Calcium, Iron and Zinc were related to stunting in under-five children (Siringoringo et al., 2020). The study conducted by Suryani found the same thing: the intake of macronutrients and micronutrients is not associated with stunting in toddlers (Suryani et al., 2022). This could be because all children under five who were analyzed were stunted. In addition, most of the nutritional needs of stunted toddlers have not been met. This study is in line with previous research that found no difference in the diversity of food consumption of short and severe stunting children. Differences in the variety of food consumed affect the adequacy of nutrients.(Rahmawati et al., 2020) In addition, the ability of families to meet food needs also affects the consumption patterns of stunted and severely stunted toddlers (Nkurunziza et al., 2017)

The limitation of this study are the sample size and recall bias, where mothers may forget the food given to toddlers. However, to anticipate memory bias by giving mothers free time to remember the food given to toddlers. If gaps in consumption patterns are found, confirmation will be repeated with the mother.

CONCLUSION

Each toddler has different nutritional needs. Stunted toddlers in urban areas consume more macro and micronutrients than in rural areas. Education regarding the need for macro and micronutrients and sources of nutrients in food needs to be carried out, especially in rural areas.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We want to thank the Poltekes Kemenkes of Bengkulu province for providing research grant assistance so that this research can be completed properly. In addition, the authors would also like to thank all parties involved in collecting data for this study.

REFERENCES

- Badan Ketahanan Pangan Kementrian Pertanian. (2019). BKP - Kebijakan Strategis Ketahanan Pangan dan Gizi (KSKPG) 2020-2024. In *Badan Ketahanan Pangan Kementrian Pertanian*. https://cegahstunting.id/unduhan/pedoman/
- Chairunnisa, E., Kusumastuti, A. C., & Panunggal, B. (2018). Asupan Vitamin D, Kalsium dan Fosfor Pada Anak Stunting dan Tidak Stunting Usia 12-24 Bulan Di Kota Semarang. *Journal* of Nutrition College, 7(1), 39. https://doi. org/10.14710/jnc.v7i1.20780
- Dettori, J. (2011). Loss to follow-up. *Evidence-Based Spine-Care Journal*, 2(01), 7–10. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1267080
- Elisanti, A. D., Jayanti, R. D., Amareta, D. I., Ardianto, E. T., & Wikurendra, E. A. (2023). Macronutrient intake in stunted and nonstunted toddlers in Jember, Indonesia. *Journal* of Public Health Research, 12(3). https://doi. org/10.1177/22799036231197178
- Harinarayan, C., & Ramalakshmi, T. (2015). Patterns of dietary calcium intake in south Indian rural, urban and metropolitan city subjects. *Journal of Clinical and Scientific Research*, 4(2), 143. https://doi.org/10.15380/2277-5706. JCSR.15.003
- Ismawati, R., Soeyonoa, R. D., Romadhoni, I. F., & Dwijayanti, I. (2020). Nutrition intake and

Suryani et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 68–75

https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.68-75

causative factor of stunting among children aged under-5 years in Lamongan city. *Enfermería Clínica*, *30*, 71–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enfcli.2019.10.043

- Kalinda, C., Phiri, M., Simona, S. J., Banda, A., Wong, R., Qambayot, M. A., Ishimwe, S. M. C., Amberbir, A., Abebe, B., Gebremariam, A., & Nyerere, J. O. (2023). Understanding factors associated with rural-urban disparities of stunting among under-five children in Rwanda: A decomposition analysis approach. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/ mcn.13511
- Kemenkes RI. (2021). Studi Status Gizi Indonesia (SSGI).
- Kizilyildiz, B. S., Sönmez, B., Karaman, K., Beger, B., Mercen, A., Alioğlu, S., & Cesur, Y. (2016).
 Prevalence, Demographic Characteristics and Associated Risk Factors of Malnutrition among 0-5 Aged Children: A Cross-Sectional Study from Van, Eastern Turkey. *Pediatric Reports*, 8(4), 6112. https://doi.org/10.4081/pr.2016.6112
- Limardi, S., Hasanah, D. M., & Utami, N. M. D. (2022). Dietary intake and stunting in children aged 6-23 months in rural Sumba, Indonesia. *Paediatrica Indonesiana*, 62(5), 341–356. https://doi.org/10.14238/pi62.5.2022.341-56
- Mahfouz, E. M., Sameh Mohammed, E., Alkilany, S. F., & Abdel Rahman, T. A. (2022). The relationship between dietary intake and stunting among pre-school children in Upper Egypt. *Public Health Nutrition*, 25(8), 2179–2187. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898002100389X
- Nkurunziza, S., Meessen, B., Van geertruyden, J.-P., & Korachais, C. (2017). Determinants of stunting and severe stunting among Burundian children aged 6-23 months: evidence from a national cross-sectional household survey, 2014. *BMC Pediatrics*, *17*(1), 176. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12887-017-0929-2
- Ogston, S. A., Lemeshow, S., Hosmer, D. W., Klar, J., & Lwanga, S. K. (1991). Adequacy of Sample Size in Health Studies. *Biometrics*, 47(1), 347. https://doi.org/10.2307/2532527
- Rahmawati, L. A., Ranggauni Hardy, F., & Anggraeni, A. (2020). Faktor-Faktor yang Berhubungan dengan Stunting Sangat Pendek dan Pendek pada Anak Usia 24-59 Bulan di Kecamatan Sawah Besar. JURNAL ILMIAH KESEHATAN MASYARAKAT : Media Komunikasi Komunitas Kesehatan Masyarakat, 12(2), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.52022/jikm.

v12i2.36

- Sharif, Y., Sadeghi, O., Dorosty, A., Siassi, F., Jalali, M., Djazayery, A., Shokri, A., Mohammad, K., Parsaeian, M., Abdollahi, Z., Heshmat, R., Yarparvar, A., Pouraram, H., & Esmaillzadeh, A. (2020). Association of vitamin D, retinol and zinc deficiencies with stunting in toddlers: findings from a national study in Iran. *Public Health*, 181, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. puhe.2019.10.029
- Siringoringo, E. T., Syauqy, A., Panunggal, B., Purwanti, R., & Widyastuti, N. (2020). Karakteristik Keluarga dan Tingkat Kecukupan Asupan Zat Gizi sebagai Faktor Risiko Kejadian Stunting pada Baduta. *Journal of Nutrition College*, 9(1), 54–62. https://doi.org/10.14710/ jnc.v9i1.26693
- Ssentongo, P., Ba, D. M., Ssentongo, A. E., Fronterre, C., Whalen, A., Yang, Y., Ericson, J. E., & Chinchilli, V. M. (2020). Association of vitamin A deficiency with early childhood stunting in Uganda: A population-based crosssectional study. *PLOS ONE*, 15(5), e0233615. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0233615
- Sserwanja, Q., Kamara, K., Mutisya, L. M., Musaba, M. W., & Ziaei, S. (2021). Rural and Urban Correlates of Stunting Among Under-Five Children in Sierra Leone: A 2019 Nationwide Cross-Sectional Survey. *Nutrition* and Metabolic Insights, 14, 117863882110470. https://doi.org/10.1177/11786388211047056
- Stevens, G. A., Beal, T., Mbuya, M. N. N., Luo, H., Neufeld, L. M., Addo, O. Y., Adu-Afarwuah, S., Alayón, S., Bhutta, Z., Brown, K. H., Jefferds, M. E., Engle-Stone, R., Fawzi, W., Hess, S. Y., Johnston, R., Katz, J., Krasevec, J., McDonald, C. M., Mei, Z., ... Young, M. F. (2022). Micronutrient deficiencies among preschoolaged children and women of reproductive age worldwide: a pooled analysis of individuallevel data from population-representative surveys. *The Lancet Global Health*, *10*(11), e1590–e1599. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00367-9
- Suryani, D., Kusdalinah, K., Krisnasary, A., Simbolon, D., & Angraini, W. (2022). Determinants of Feeding Patterns with Stunting in Children in the Coastal Area of Bengkulu City. Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences, 10(E), 1520–1526. https:// doi.org/10.3889/oamjms.2022.9705
- Tadesse, S. E., Mekonnen, T. C., Dewau, R., Zerga, A. A., Kebede, N., Feleke, Y. W., & Muche, A.

Suryani et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 68–75 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.68–75

(2023). Urban-rural disparity in stunting among Ethiopian children aged 6–59 months old: A multivariate decomposition analysis of 2019 Mini-EDHS. *PLOS ONE*, *18*(4), e0284382. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0284382

- Valaei, S., Rashidi, A., Roudsari, A. H., Houshyarrad, A., Abadi, A., Abdollahi, M., & Bonab, A. M. (2017). Evaluation of Iranian Household's Diet in terms of Calcium and Iron Density in the Seven Provinces of Iran. 2(2), 157–163. https:// jnfs.ssu.ac.ir/article-1-65-en.pdf
- Venegas-Aviles, Y., Rodríguez-Ramírez, S., Monterrubio-Flores, E., & García-Guerra, A. (2020). Sociodemographic factors associated with low intake of bioavailable iron in preschoolers: National Health and Nutrition Survey 2012, Mexico. *Nutrition Journal*, 19(1), 57. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12937-020-00567-3
- Verma, P., & Prasad, J. B. (2021). Stunting, wasting and underweight as indicators of under-nutrition in under five children from developing Countries: A systematic review.

Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews, 15(5), 102243. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2021.102243

- Wessells, K. R., & Brown, K. H. (2012). Estimating the Global Prevalence of Zinc Deficiency: Results Based on Zinc Availability in National Food Supplies and the Prevalence of Stunting. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11), e50568. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0050568
- WHO. (2021). *Malnutrition*. WHO. https://www. who.int/health-topics/malnutrition#tab=tab_1
- Yunita, Y., Kusdalinah, K., & Natan, O. (2022). The Effect of Moringa Leaves and Snakehead Fish Biscuit Supplementation on The Nutritional Status of Malnourished and Underweight Toddlers. *Proceeding B-ICON*, 1(1), 363–370. https://doi.org/10.33088/bicon.v1i1.65
- Zou, Y., Huang, L., Zhao, D., He, M., Su, D., & Zhang, R. (2023). Assessment of serum Vit A, D and zinc nutritional status and related dietary and exercise behaviors of children and adolescents in rural and urban area. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2022.1088155

THE EFFECT OF STORYTELLING METHOD THROUGH FAIRY TALE BOOK MEDIA ON CHILDREN'S KNOWLEDGE AND ATTITUDES ABOUT FRUIT AND VEGETABLE CONSUMPTION

Tiara Yulie Alfina ^{1*}, Dino Sumaryono ¹, Ismiati ^{1*}

¹Health Promotion, Poltekkes Kemenkes Bengkulu, Indonesia *E-mail: ismiatidzaky@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

In Indonesia, fruit and vegetable consumption is still low, especially among school-age children. culture, environment, socioeconomic, and ethnic background are factors that influence vegetable consumption. Education can help improve children's knowledge and perceptions about fruit and vegetable consumption. This research aims to determine the effect of the storytelling method through fairy tale books on children's knowledge and attitudes regarding fruit and vegetable consumption in MIN 2 Bengkulu City. This research shows that fairy tale book media intervention students' knowledge and attitude showed significant effect with p-value < 0.001. So that it can be concluded that storytelling method through fairy tale book media can be an alternative learning method in the classroom to increase children awareness, knowledge, and attitudes about the importance of consuming and vegetables.

Keywords: consumption, fruits, vegetables, fairy tale, book media, storytelling

INTRODUCTION

Vegetables and fruits contain a lot of antioxidants acted as bioactive compounds that help prevent cell damage and improve metabolism. The antioxidant content in fruits and vegetables can fight oxidant compounds and free radicals that can weaken the body health (Ministry of Health, 2018). Balance nutrition guidelines in Indonesia includes 150 grams of fruit (equivalent to three Ambon bananas, one and a half papayas, or three medium oranges) and 250 grams of vegetables (equivalent to two cups or two servings of vegetables after cooking and draining). It is recommended to eat at least 300-400 grams in total of vegetables and fruits per person per day for Indonesians, especially infants and school-age children, and no less than 400 to 600 grams per day for adults and adolescents, with about two-thirds of the recommended amount coming from vegetables (World Health Organization, 2018).

In Indonesia, fruit and vegetable consumption is still low, especially among school-age children. According to the results of the Riskesdas 2018, average fruit and vegetable consumption is only 4.5% from overall calorie intake, with consumption levels of fruit and vegetable of children even lower, at only 4% from total calorie intake. Bengkulu Provincial Basic Health Survey (2018) showed that 12.20% of 5 to 9 year olds children and 9.35% of more than 10 years old children consuming less than recommended servings of fruits and vegetables. People are said to have adequate fruit and vegetable intake if they have consumed at least 5 servings of fruit and vegetables (a combination of vegetables and fruit) per day (Riskesdas Bengkulu, 2018).

Data from the Bengkulu City Health Office (2021) on child health screening from 12 primary school showed 19.54% children consumed low fruit and vegetable. Stated that culture, environment, socioeconomic, and ethnic background are factors that influence vegetable consumption (Bengkulu City Health Office, 2021). Without parental coercion, children are willing to eat vegetables and fruits if they understand the purpose of their intake.

To encourage improvement of fruit and vegetable consumption, the training process for children needs to used media as an effective and efficient material dissemination tool (Prastikaningrum et al., 2020). Media access in health education can help children become more active because it uses their five senses and involved their full psychomotor potential (Fitryadi, 2020).

Education can help improve children's knowledge and perceptions about fruit and vegetable consumption. Storytelling is one way Alfina et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 76–78 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.76–78

to provide information to children about the importance of consuming fruits and vegetables. to hone imagination and provide when a child listens to someone's speech, the person's brain reacts to do the same thing the person said, which called mirroring. A child's brain activity is similar to that of a fairy tale reader, as he or she imagining the story being told to them (Fitriyani et al., 2022).

Storytelling is suitable for children aged 3-12 years. Children at this age love fairy tales, fantasy, folklore, superhero stories, and stories about science. The time needed for storytelling is 5-25 minutes. Storytelling can be told or retold many times when eating vegetables and fruits. (Widyastuti, 2020). To determine the influence of the storytelling method through fairy tale books on children's knowledge and attitudes regarding fruit and vegetable consumption in MIN 2 Bengkulu City.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

This quantitative research uses pre-experimental method and the questionnaire by research Mitsla (2019). Independent variable in this research is the of telling stories using fairy tale book media and dependent variable is the knowledge and attitude of children. The data analysis process uses the Wilcoxon signed rank test.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Characteristics of Respondents

Variable	(n)	(%)	
Age			
8	3	9.4	
9	8	25.0	
10	10	31.3	
11	9	28.1	
12	2	6.3	
Gender			
Girls	16	50.0	
Boys	16	50.0	
Mother Education			
Elementary School	3	9.4	
Senior High School	21	65.5	
College	8	24.9	

 Table 1. Characteristics of students based on age, gender, and mother's education.

 Table 2.
 Mean Knowledge Before and After the Fairy

 Tale Book Intervention

Variable	(n)	Mean ± SD	Min–Max
Before	32	77.19 ± 12.504	50-100
After	32	94.06 ± 7.121	80-100

Mean Attitude Before and After Being Given Fairy Tale Book Media

 Table 3. Mean Attitudes Before and After the Fairy

 Tale Book Media Intervention

Variable	(n)	Mean ± SD	Min-Max
Before	32	34.94 ± 4.303	23-40
After	32	38.19 ± 1.925	34-40

The Effect of Fairy Tale Book Media on Children's Knowledge and Attitudes of MIN 2 Bengkulu City

 Table 4.
 Effect of Fairy Tale Book Media on Children's Knowledge and Attitudes of MIN 2 Bengkulu City

Variable	Before	After	- ∆ Mean	n voluo	
variable	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD		p value	
Knowledge	77.19 ± 12.504	94.06 ± 7.121	16.87	< 0.001	
Attitude	34.94 ± 4.303	38.19 ± 1.925	3.25	< 0.001	

This study shows that storybooks can improve the fruits and vegetables. Interventions with fairy tale book media can increase the average knowledge from 77.19 to 94.06 and attitudes from 34.94 to 38.19.

The results of this study are consistent with previous research by Tiara, Nur, et al. (Tiara et al., 2019) that showed 90.6% increment in good knowledge after intervention using storybooks. The results of this study are also in line with research conducted by Fitryadi (2020) at SD IT Thariq Bin Ziyad, namely, the attitude score before being given media intervention from 82.00 increased to 89.00 after being given storybook media intervention.

CONCLUSION

The mean value of knowledge about fruit and vegetable consumption through fairy tale book media increased, and attitudes about fruit and vegetable consumption through fairy tale book Alfina et al., Media Gizi Indonesia (National Nutrition Journal) Special Issue: The 3rd Bengkulu International Conference on Health (B-ICON 2023) 2024.19(1SP): 76–78 https://doi.org/10.20473/mgi.v19i1SP.76–78

media increased. There was an effect of fairy tale book media at MIN 2 Bengkulu City.

REFERENCES

- Adiputra, M.S. et al. 2021, Health Research Methodology, Yayasan Kita Tulis, Medan.
- Astuti, S. I., Arso, S. P., & Wigati, P. A. (2019). Storytelling Method. Analysis of Minimum Service Standards in Outpatient Installations at Semarang City Hospital, 3, 103-111.
- Aviana, P. P. (2021). Overview of Factors
- Affecting Fruit and Vegetable Consumption in Children at SD Negeri Bojong, Mungkid, Magelang Regency. 1-80.
- Azadirachta & Sumarni. (2018). The concept of school-age children. Azadirachta & Sumarni, 64(9), 20.
- Damson Maryos Srue, Yuli Ernawati, N. A. S. (2021). Overview of Vegetable Eating Patterns in Children of Al Islam Tambak Bayan Elementary School, Depok, Sleman, Yogyakarta. Indonesian Nursing and Health Science Magazine, 10(1), 88-98.
- Fitriyani, W., Sefrina, L. R., & Karawang, U. S. (2022). JGK-Vol.14, No.1 January 2022. 14(1), 43-52.
- Fitryadi, A. (2020). Viva medika. 13.
- Mitsla Chusnica Aulia, A. (2019). Knowledge, Attitude, Behaviour about Vegetable and Fruit Consumption and Associated Factors among Students of SD Inpres 26 in Sorong Regency.
- Muna, N. I. (2019). Factors Associated with Fruit and Vegetable Consumption among Adolescents (Case Study at SMPN 24 Semarang, Semarang

City). Thesis: Faculty of Sport Science, State University of Semarang, 80.

- Prastikaningrum, Y. P., Nuryati, E., (2020).
 Prayudhea, C. H. (2021). The Effect of Posters Through Social Media Instagram as Educational Media on Adolescents' Knowledge and Attitudes About Covid-19 Health Protocols at Man 1 Model Bengkulu City Compiled by : Chika Herfa Prayudhea Nim: P05170017007 Ministry of Health Repub. Pringsewu. Proceedings of UMY 2020, 26-34.
- Riskesdas Bengkulu. (2018). Bengkulu province RISKESDAS 2018 report. Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia, 123.
- Solehati, T., Mambang Sari, C. W., & Rohimah, I. (2019). Knowledge, Attitudes and Actions of Elementary School Students Regarding Genitalia Hygiene. Muhammadiyah Nursing Journal, 4(1).
- Tiara, dife nur, Syarief, O., Pramintarto, G., Mutiyani, M., & Selviyanti, sofi siti. (2019). Nutrition education using picture stories on knowledge and frequency of fruit vegetable consumption in students. Journal of Health Research Poltekkes Kemenkes Bandung, 165-172.
- Widyastuti, E. (2020). Publication manuscript
- Yurnasari, H., Education, P., Madrasah, G., Tarbiyah, F., & Tadris, D. A. N. (2021). Development of Indonesian Language Learning Media in the Form of Pop-Up Picture Books on Fairy Tale Material for Students.
- Zamrodah, Y. (2016). science and technology. 15(2), 1-23.

Media Gizi Indonesia

(National Nutrition Journal)

GUIDELINE FOR AUTHOR

I. GENERAL GUIDELINES

Papers submitted to the editorial are self-generated papers, scientific, contain contemporary issues and unpublished. To avoid duplication, the editor does not accept papers that are also sent to other journals at the same time for publication.

Each author should attach:

- A brief *Curriculum Vitae* (CV) of corresponding author on separate sheet, containing full name and title of author, address, home and institution phone number, formal education, publication and / or research of the last 5 years (optional)
- The original statement sheet (that the submitted article does not contain plagiarism)
- English proofread of the manuscript

II. FORMAT MANUSCRIPT WRITING

Manuscript should be typed using MS Word program, 1.5 space on A4 paper size with the left should be 4 cm length, while right, top, and bottom margin should be 3 cm length. The font used should be Times New Roman, sizing 16 pt for the title, 10 pt for author's name, 9 pt for author's identity, 11 pt for abstract and main content, and 9 pt for tables and figures. Specifically, for tables, single spaced should be used. The contents of the paper are made in two columns. The length of article should not below 10 pages and should not exceed 15 pages, send both in print-out and softcopy. Authors should also follow the manuscript preparation guidelines.

III. WRITING SYSTEM

Title in English

Author's Name (without degree) Affiliation, City E-mail:

Abstract in English (include keywords) Introduction Methods Results and Discussion Conclusion and Suggestion References

Annotation

a. Title and Author's Identity

Title is written as clear, concise, informative, and understandable as possible. The maximum length of the title consists of 20 words. The author's name and identity (affiliation, city), are included

below the title. The name of corresponding author(s) is annotated by marking with numbers and (*) superscript. For undergraduate thesis, the name of thesis advisor is written as second author. For undergraduate thesis, the name of thesis advisor is written as second author.

b. Abstract and Keywords

Abstracts are written in English in Bahasa Indonesia and in Times New Roman 11 pt, single-spaced. Abstracts consist of no more than 250 words length, written in 1 (one) paragraph. Keywords are written below the abstract, consist of 3-5 specific words that are consistently used in the manuscript. Avoid using quotations and the use of abbreviations in writing abstracts.

Abstracts contain brief information regarding the background of the study, objectives of the study, brief summary of the methods (research design, subject selection, methods of data analysis), results, and discussion (use the most specific data in answering the objectives of the study, along with the signification results of statistical test, if any), conclusion as well as the significance/urgency of obtained conclusion.

c. Manuscript

The core section of a manuscript consists of subtitles: introduction, methods, results and discussions, and conclusion and suggestions.

Introduction

The introduction part comprises the background of the study, research intention, research questions, previous studies and the objectives of the study.

Methods

The methods section consists of the steps completed by the author in doing the research, elaborated completely, yet concisely, begins from research design (including the sampling methods, if any), samples, materials, & tools used, working methods, techniques of data collection, and data analysis.

Methods also include agreement from ethical commission (research involving human subject and/or animal experience).

Results and Discussions

Results of the study provide clear and concise results that are in line with the objectives of the study. The results can be complemented with tables and figures to help explaining the results.

- Number and title of a table are placed above the table and are written in bold. Table numbering is done in sequence. The lines used in table are only in table head and bottom (without column lines) with single space. Further explanations regarding the data on the table, the explanation can be written below the table.
- Number and label of figures are placed below figures and are written in bold. Figures numbering is done in sequence.
- Sources of reference are placed below tables/figures for tables and figures cited from other references (other than research results).

Discussions explains research results, concisely, and clearly. Using relevant arguments to the research topic and answering the research questions. Employ references (other research results or theories) to support the explanation of research. If there is abbreviation, use the standardized

abbreviations. The use of abbreviations must be preceded by the extensions first. Foreign terms are written in *Italics*. Numbers written in the beginning of a sentence are written in a word.

Conclusion

Conclusion elucidates important matters discussed in the result and analysis briefly, concisely, clearly, and answers research questions. Conclusion can be completed with suggestions (if necessary).

Acknowledgement (if necessary)

Acknowledgement given to person/institution who have important roles in conducting a research (for example, funders) and/or writing scientific manuscripts and includes explanations whether the research is part of a series of research in thesis/dissertation.

References

Writing references refers to the APA Referencing Guide 6th edition. [*Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association*. (6th ed.). (2010). Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association]. References are arranged systematically and sorted alphabetically according to author's name. Generally, writing references is as follows:

Author, A.A., Author, B.B, & Author, C.C. (year of publication). *Title of publication: sub title*. (Edition [if not the first edition]). City of publication: Publisher.

A minimum of 80% of the literature used comes from 'up to date' sources (published no more than 10 years before scientific papers submitted to MGI). Unpublished sources, such as manuscripts or personal communication cannot be used as references for the writing.

EXAMPLES OF CITATION IN MANUSCRIPT

a. 1 author

Smith (2017) or (Smith, 2017)

b.2 author

Smith dan Jones (2017) or (Smith and Jones, 2017)

c. 3 or more authors

Smith, et al (2017) or (Smith et al., 2017)

EXAMPLES OF REFERENCES WRITING

a. References from books

- Contento, I. R. (2011). Nutrition education (2nd ed.). Sadburry, Massachusetts: Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Mahan, L. K., & Raymond, J. L. (2017). *Krause's food & the nutrition care process*. Canada: Elsevier Health Sciences.
- b. Books or reports composed by organizations, associations, or government agencies Kementerian Kesehatan. (2013). *Hasil Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2013*. Jakarta: Badan Penelitian dan Pengembangan Kesehatan, Kementerian Kesehatan RI.

c. Book chapters on a book that has editors

Brown, J.E. (2011). Nutrition through the life cycle (4th Ed.). Janet Sugarman Isaacs, *Infant Nutrition* (pp. 223–225). Belmont, CA, USA: Wadsworth.

d. Conference manuscript – online

Bochner, S. (1996). Mentoring in higher education: Issues to be addressed in developing a mentoring program. Paper presented at the Australian Association for Research in Education Conference, Singapore. Retrieved from http://www.aare.edu.au/96pap/bochs96018.txt

e. Manuscripts from a journal

El-Gilany, A. H., & Elkhawaga, G. (2012). Socioeconomic determinants of eating pattern of adolescent students in Mansoura, Egypt. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 13, 22. https://doi. org/10.4314/pamj.v13i1.

McDonald, C. M., McLean, J., Kroeun, H., Talukder, A., Lynd, L. D., & Green, T. J. (2015). Correlates of household food insecurity and low dietary diversity in rural Cambodia. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 24(4), 720–730. https://doi.org/10.6133/apjcn.2015.24.4.14

Diana, R., Sumarmi, S., Nindya, T. S., Rifqi, M. A., Widya, S., & Rhitmayanti, E. (2017). Household Income and Unbalanced Diet Among Urban Adolescent Girls. Proceedings of the 4th Annual Meeting of the Indonesian Health Economics Association (INAHEA 2017).

f. Thesis/Dissertation – printed version

Hilgendorf, M. (2018). Assessing malnutrition in liver disease patients being evaluated for transplant using the nutrition focused physical exam (Unpublished master's thesis). University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky.

Diana, R. (2014). Pengaruh pemanfaatan pekarangan dan penyuluhan terhadap konsumsi sayur dan asupan gizi rumah tangga dan balita. Institut Pertanian Bogor.

g. Thesis/Dissertation – web version

Hilgendorf, M. (2018). Assessing malnutrition in liver disease patients being evaluated for transplant using the nutrition focused physical exam (Master's thesis, University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky). Retrieved from https://uknowledge.uky.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?articl e=1065&context=foodsci_etds

h. Web page (if referenced are a few pages on the same web page, use the homepage page) SStatistic Bureau of East Java. (2018). Number and Percentage of Poor, P1, P2 and Poverty Line By Regency / Municipality, in 2017. Retrieved November 22, 2018, from https://jatim. bps.go.id/statictable/2018/01/15/733/jumlah-dan-persentase-penduduk-miskin-p1-p2-dangaris-kemiskinan-menurut-kabupaten-kota-tahun-2017.html

Example of tables:

Karakteristik		nutrition 1=70)		Inutrition =233)	Total	X ²	p value
	n	%	n	%	– (n=303)		
Sex							
Male	38	54,3	117	52,5	155	0,070	0,790
Female	32	45,7	106	47,5	138		
Age							
<55 years old	48	68,6	151	67,7	199	0,890	0,180
≥55 years old	22	31,4	72	32,3	94		
Education							
Low	24	34,3	51	22,9	75	10,153	0,063
Middle	33	47,1	151	67,7	184		
High	13	18,6	21	9,4	33		

 Table 1. Characteristics of Patients in Malnutrition and Non-Malnutrition Groups

Table 2. Average of Nutrition Intake in Malnutrition and Non-Malnutrition Groups

Nutrition Intake	Malnutrition (Mean <u>+</u> SD)	Non-Malnutrition (Mean <u>+</u> SD)	t	p value
Calories	1328,1±215,3	1482,9 <u>+</u> 327,4	2,04	0,032
Protein	43,2 <u>+</u> 13,1	48,7 <u>+</u> 17,3	2,47	0,010



Example of a figure:

Figure 1. Changes in Stunting Prevalence (%) in Toddlers in Kalimantan

FORMULIR BERLANGGANAN

Jurnal Media Gizi Indonesia

Mohon dicatat sebagai pelanggan Jurnal Media Gizi Indonesia

Nama

Alamat

:

:

:

Telepon :

Email

Bersama ini saya kirimkan uang langganan sebesar:

- belum termasuk ongkos kirim (± 2kg untuk 3 nomor)

Uang tersebut telah saya kirim melalui:

0	Bank Syariah Mandiri
	Cabang Kantor Kas Universitas Airlangga
	Rekening nomor 710-62-93297
	a.n. Jurnal Media Gizi Indonesia
0	pos wesel dengan resi nomor
0	lain-lain
(Fo	to copy bukti pembayaran terlampir)

(tanda tangan dan nama terang)